FING CHRON VF, S E) SE CDIPUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

T-TEST

ROPOSA

51

3

RRE

E D

ARD

D FI

PEER

ATIO

RE

D

OBSERVATION

1

CORREL

Þ

U.S. CENTERS FOR DISEASE

D

EST

BSERV

About the Journal

Preventing Chronic Disease (PCD) is a peer-reviewed public health journal sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and authored by experts worldwide. PCD was established in 2004 by the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion with a mission to promote dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and policy makers worldwide on the integration and application of research findings and practical experience to improve population health.

PCD's vision is to serve as an influential journal in the dissemination of proven and promising peer-reviewed public health findings, innovations, and practices with editorial content respected for its integrity and relevance to chronic disease prevention.

PCD Staff

Leonard Jack, Jr, PhD, MSc Editor in Chief

Lesli Mitchell, MA Managing Editor

Brandi Baker, MBA

Production Coordinator Contractor, Akima Data Management

Kim Bright, PMP

Information Technology Project Manager Contractor, Akima Data Management

Kate Harris, BA

Technical Editor Contractor, Akima Data Management

Chelsea Intharawan, BS

Marketing and Communications Support Services Specialist Contractor, Akima Data Management **Ivory M. Jones, MS** Editorial Assistant Contractor, Akima Data Management

Shawn Jones Software Engineer Contractor, Akima Data Management

Camille Martin, RD, LD Senior Technical Editor

Susan McKeen, BA Senior Software Engineer Contractor, Akima Data Management

Rosemarie Perrin

Technical Writer-Editor Contractor, Akima Data Management

Sasha Ruiz, BBA Health Communications Specialist

Robin Sloan, MA

Technical Editor Contractor, Akima Data Management

Martin Steib, BA

Multimedia Specialist Contractor, Akima Data Management

Ellen Taratus, MS

Senior Technical Editor Contractor, Akima Data Management

Caran Wilbanks, BA

Lead Technical Writer-Editor

Kimberly Williams, BA

Marketing and Communications Specialist Contractor, Akima Data Management

Associate Editors

Arsham Alamian, PhD, MSc, FACE

Semra Aytur, PhD, MPH

Ronny A. Bell, PhD, MS

Erin Bouldin, PhD, MPH

Tammy Calise, DrPH, MEd

Vinay Cheruvu, PhD

Pyone Cho, MD, MPH

Sarah Conderino, MPH

Patricia Da Rosa, DDS, MPH, MSc

Julia Dilley, PhD, MES

Z. Tuba Suzer Gurtekin, PhD, MS, MBA

Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH

Daikwon Han, PhD

Nikki A Hawkins, PhD

Linda D. Highfield, PhD, MS

Elizabeth Winter Holt, PhD, MPH

Brittney Keller-Hamilton, *PhD*, *MPH*

Robert Krikorian, PhD

Bian Liu, PhD, MS

Zhen-Qiang Ma, MD, MPH, MS

Sarah L. Martin, PhD, MS

Kevin Matthews, PhD, MS

Katerina Maximova, PhD

Jane A. McElroy, PhD

Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS

Michael J. Parks, PhD

Anna Porter, PhD, MPH

Austin Porter III, DrPH, MPH

Terrinieka Williams Powell, PhD

Irene Prabhu Das, PhD, MPH

Jessica M. Robbins, PhD

Daniel Sarpong, PhD
Deborah Salvo, PhD
Charlotte D. Smith, PhD
Sergey Sotnikov, PhD
Mikiko Terashima, PhD, MSc
Tung-Sung Tseng, PhD, MPH
Camille Vaughan, MD, MS
Trang VoPham, PhD, MS, MPH
Yan Wang, PhD

Korede Yusuf, MBBS, MPH, PhD

Janice C. Zgibor, RPh, PhD, CPH, FACE

Positioning Students for Success: 2024 Student Paper Contest Winners, Student Committee Research Skills-Building, and Release of 2025 Call for Papers

Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc1



Preventing Chronic Disease celebrated its 20th anniversary this year. In 2011, the journal initiated its first Student Paper Contest in which students from around the world submit research papers to the journal for consideration. In our ongoing commitment to mentoring future public health professionals, the journal has guided students in developing their scholarly writing skills, with the goal of helping them become established contributors to the public health literature. We are tremendously proud to have served over the past decade as a place for students to consistently develop their expertise in peer-reviewed publication. The journal offers rare opportunities for students to

learn from our leadership and its rich pool of scholarly volunteers — associate editors, peer reviewers, and others — as well as from mentors at their respective institutions. Since launching the Student Paper Contest 13 years ago, the journal has welcomed submissions at all levels, ranging from high school and undergraduate students to masters, doctoral, and postdoctoral candidates. Regardless of whether papers are accepted for publication, PCD provides students with extensive feedback helpful in identifying areas for improvement that can facilitate conversations between students and their mentors and assist them in future publishing efforts.

Goals and Submission Requirements

Eligibility requirements for the journal's Student Paper Contest are refined annually but in general remain consistent to their original charge (1). Students submitting papers for consideration are currently enrolled in or have in the last 12 months completed their degrees and programs, high school diplomas, undergraduate and graduate degrees, medical residencies, or postdoctoral fellowships. For the contest, PCD considers only one of two types of papers: original research and GIS (Geographic Information Systems) Snapshots. The primary goals of the Student Paper Contest are in the following 5 areas:

- Provide students with an opportunity to become familiar with a journal's manuscript submission requirements and peer-review process
- Assist students in connecting their knowledge and training on conducting quality research according to a journal's publication expectations
- Develop students' research and scientific writing skills to become producers of knowledge rather than just consumers of knowledge

- Provide students with an opportunity to become a first author on a peer-reviewed article
- Promote supportive, respectful, and mutually beneficial student-mentor relationships that strengthen students' ability to generate and submit scholarly manuscripts through their professional careers

2024 Winners and Submissions

PCD received 20 student research papers for our 2024 contest. After careful internal review, 15 of these underwent peer review. Nine of the 15 were accepted for publication and appear in the 2024 Student Research Paper Collection. Student authors continue to demonstrate their expanding interest in timely public health topics that include the cost barrier of medications in a student-run free clinic, WIC (Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children) benefits for purchase of fruits and vegetables and food security, colorectal cancer knowledge and screening among men, the use of geospatial hot spots and cold spots in cancer-related disparities in the US, factors associated with access to mental health services among children in the US, lifestyle intervention program for Spanish-speaking immigrants without health insurance, trends in gestational weight gain andprepregnancy obesity, and exploring the evidence of outpatient follow-up visits to reduce readmissions for cardiovascular health conditions.

After careful review, PCD did not select winners in the undergraduate, master's, and postdoctoral categories this year. We are, however, pleased to announce the winners of the 2024 Student Paper Contest in the high school and doctoral categories.

In the journal's high school category, Meng and Wiznitzer, authors of "Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services Among Children With a Mental Disorder in Early Childhood in the United States, 2021–2022," reported findings about a strong link between health care factors and not receiving mental health services among children with a mental disorder in early childhood (2). The authors concluded that without timely treatment in early childhood, mental health disorders can impair children's learning abilities and relationships with others and may contribute to lifelong complications.

Guo and colleagues produced the winning paper in the doctoral category: "Geospatial Hot Spots and Cold Spots in US Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, 2004–2008 and 2014–2018" (3). This paper identified factors with the strongest influence on creating hot spots and cold spots, including unemployment, preventable hospital stays, mammography screening, and high school education. Authors highlighted the need for targeted interventions and policies that address limited access to health care and its associated risk factors. We congratulate all student winners and students of papers that were not accepted for publication. Over the years, PCD has heard from mentors that their students have benefited from this realworld scholarly writing opportunity. Our commitment to increasing the capacity of students to generate quality peer-reviewed submissions will continue to expand over the coming years.

2025 Call for Student Papers

Moving forward, PCD will offer 2 student paper opportunities. First, we will continue to welcome students' interest in submitting research papers for the Student Paper Contest. We are interested in publishing research papers on the prevention, screening, and surveillance of chronic diseases and related population-based interventions, including but not limited to arthritis, asthma, cancer, depression, diabetes, obesity, cardiovascular disease, and COVID-19. Students are also invited to submit papers in response to our new essay submission call for papers, "Students Have Their Say: Novel Approaches and Solutions to Current and Emergina Public Health Problems." This essay submission opportunity allows students to identify and discuss new approaches to persistent or emerging public health challenges. We believe that students are in a unique position to offer novel ideas and share fresh perspectives, and we want them to have their say. To obtain detailed information about submission requirements for both opportunities, students, mentors, and readers are encouraged to visit our Calls for Papers page. Interested students are also encouraged to visit our Author's Corner for important information on how to develop a manuscript and associated tables or figures. Both of our Student Paper contest (original research or GIS Snapshots only) and student essay contest (essay only) are due by 5:00 PM EST on Monday, March 24, 2025.

Student Scientific Writing and Review Committee

Last year, PCD expanded its commitment to building the next generation of public health researchers by establishing its inaugural Student Scientific Writing and Review Training Committee. Last year's students completed an extensive training course and received our certificate of completion. Training is well under way for the second round of student appointees from across the country. Students appointed to the 2024 student committee, upon completion of their near year-long appointment, will get exposure to the following skills and abilities:

- Understanding the purpose and function of a respected peer-reviewed journal
- Understanding submission requirements for specific article types offered by a peer-reviewed journal (eg, format, word count, headings, manuscript style)
- Using the journal's electronic management tracking system to submit an article
- Becoming familiar with the peer-review process and how to appropriately respond to comments and suggestions from the journal
- Recognizing key components of a scientific research publication (qualitative, or mixed methods)

- Understanding how to appraise the quality of each component of a publication
- Assessing strengths and weaknesses of an article's methods, statistical analyses, data reporting, findings, and conclusions
- Applying skills developed from critiquing articles as a reviewer to generate quality papers as an author
- Writing strong introductions (ie, rationale), research questions, methods, findings, and conclusions
- Conducting literature reviews and creating bibliographies on topics of interests
- Working collaboratively with others within and outside one's area(s) of interest and expertise to address complex public health challenges and opportunities
- Learning to distinguish between the lay writing and scholarly writing necessary for consideration by a peer-reviewed journal

We look forward to hearing great things about students benefiting from the many learning opportunities the journal offers. Please join us in congratulating students who are seeking these opportunities and using lessons learned in their future academic preparation and real-world work experiences.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Leonard Jack, Jr, PhD, MSc, Editor in Chief, Preventing Chronic Disease, Office of the Director, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 4770 Buford Hwy, MS \$107-8, Atlanta, GA 30341 (Ijj0@cdc.gov).

Author Affiliations: 1 Preventing Chronic Disease, Office of the Director, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.

Table of Contents

- 01. Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services Among Children With A Mental Disorder in Early Childhood in the United States, 2021–2022 Meng JF, Wiznitzer E. Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services Among Children With A Mental Disorder in Early Childhood in the United States, 2021–2022. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240126.
- 02. Geospatial Hot Spots and Cold Spots in US Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, 2004–2008 to 2014–2018.

Guo LR, Hughes MC, Wright ME, Harris AH, Osias MC. Geospatial Hot Spots and Cold Spots in US Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, 2004–2008 to 2014–2018. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240046.

03. The Cost of Medications at a Student-Run Free Clinic in New Haven, Connecticut, 2021–2023

See C, Hegde K, Reid L, Shi R, Luthra R, Dong W, et al. The Cost of Medications at a Student-Run Free Clinic in New Haven, Connecticut, 2021–2023. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:230277.

04. Associations of Increased WIC Benefits for Fruits and Vegetables With Food Security and Satisfaction by Race and Ethnicity

Tsai MM, Anderson CE, Whaley SE, Yepez CE, Ritchie LD, Au LE. Associations of Increased WIC Benefits for Fruits and Vegetables With Food Security and Satisfaction by Race and Ethnicity. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:230288.

05. Effect of an Inflatable Colon on Colorectal Cancer Knowledge and Screening Intent Among Male Attendees at State Fairs in Two Midwestern States, 2023 Sedani AE, Rifelj KK, Bevel MS, McCall C, Rogalla M, Laliberte L, et al. Effect of an Inflatable Colon on Colorectal Cancer Knowledge and Screening Intent Among

Male Attendees at State Fairs in Two Midwestern States, 2023. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240020.

06. The Effect of Disability and Social Determinants of Health on Breast and Cervical Cancer Screenings During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Rolle LD, Chery MJ, Larson M, Lopez-Pentecost M, Calfa CJ, Schlumbrecht MP, et al. The Effect of Disability and Social Determinants of Health on Breast and Cervical Cancer Screenings During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:230234.

07. Trends in Gestational Weight Gain and Prepregnancy Obesity in South Carolina, 2015–2021

Simpson SE, Malek AM, Wen C, Neelon B, Wilson DA, Mateus J, et al. Trends in Gestational Weight Gain and Prepregnancy Obesity in South Carolina, 2015–2021. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240137.

- 08. Continuity of Care and Lifestyle Intervention Programs for Spanish-Speaking Immigrants Without Health Insurance at a Free Clinic in Rhode Island Wang C, Yang J, Testa J, Gill M, Leonard M, De Groot AS. Continuity of Care and Lifestyle Intervention Programs for Spanish-Speaking Immigrants Without Health Insurance at a Free Clinic in Rhode Island. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240136.
- 09. Outpatient Follow-Up Visits to Reduce 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions for Heart Failure, COPD, Myocardial Infarction, and Stroke: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Bilicki DJ, Reeves MJ. Outpatient Follow-Up Visits to Reduce 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions for Heart Failure, COPD, Myocardial Infarction, and Stroke: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240138.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E79

OCTO<u>BER 2024</u>

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services Among Children With A Mental Disorder in Early Childhood in the United States, 2021–2022

Julie Fang Meng¹; Eileen Wiznitzer, PsyD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0126.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Meng JF, Wiznitzer E. Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services Among Children With A Mental Disorder in Early Childhood in the United States, 2021–2022. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240126. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.240126.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Many mental disorders begin in early childhood. Without timely treatment, mental disorders experienced by young children can impair their learning ability and relationships with others, causing lifelong complications.

What is added by this report?

Using data collected in 2021 and 2022 from a large, nationally representative sample of US children, we estimated that 19.0% of children aged 2 to 8 years had 1 or more mental disorders. Poor experiences with health care providers were consistently associated with not receiving mental health services when needed among young children with mental disorders.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Future public health efforts should prioritize enhancing patients' experiences with mental health care providers.

Abstract

Introduction

Many mental disorders begin in early childhood. Without timely treatment, mental disorders experienced by young children can impair their learning ability and relationships with others, causing lifelong complications. However, not all children with a mental disorder in early childhood receive treatment.

Methods

Using data collected from 46,424 children aged 2 to 8 years in the 2 most recent cycles of the National Survey of Children's Health (2021 and 2022), we estimated the prevalence of having a mental disorder and investigated factors associated with young children not receiving mental health care when needed. All analyses were adjusted for survey weights to account for the complex sampling design and nonresponse biases in generating nationally representative estimates.

Results

In 2021 and 2022, 19.0% of US children aged 2 to 8 years had 1 or more mental disorders. Of these children, 9.1% reported not receiving any needed health care in the previous 12 months, and of these, 45.8% reported not receiving mental health services when needed. The primary reasons for not receiving needed health care were problems getting an appointment (72.1%), issues related to cost (39.3%), and services needed not being available in the area (38.5%). Poor experiences with health care providers were consistently associated with not receiving needed mental health services among children with mental disorders.

Conclusion

Our findings suggest a strong link between health care factors and not receiving needed mental health services among US children with a mental disorder in early childhood. In addition to increasing the availability of mental health services and expanding health insurance coverage, future public health efforts should prioritize enhancing patients' experiences with health care providers.

Introduction

One in 5 children aged 3 to 17 years in the US has a mental disorder (1). Mental disorders in children are characterized by a clinically significant disturbance in a child's cognition, emotion, or



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24 0126.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

behavior and often include mental, behavioral, and developmental disorders (2). According to national surveys, the most common mental disorders affecting children in the US are anxiety, depression, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and behavioral disorders (3). A previous study reported a substantial increase in the number of children diagnosed with mental disorders in the US before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic (4), and the pandemic exacerbated the mental health conditions experienced by children due to factors such as social isolation, disruptions of routines and support systems, and limited access to mental health services (5).

Early childhood is a pivotal stage of child development (6). During this period, a child's brain undergoes rapid growth and development (7). Positive experiences in early childhood contribute to emotional resilience, self-esteem, and development of crucial coping skills, whereas negative experiences can impair learning ability and relationships with others, causing lifelong complications (8). Because a child's brain is highly adaptable and responsive to environmental influences during early childhood, it is imperative for young children with mental disorders to receive timely treatment, which can prevent more severe mental health problems or other chronic diseases in later life (9).

Many children with a mental disorder are untreated. The unmet needs for treatment among children with mental disorders likely reflect the complex interplay of individual, family, community, and societal factors (10), but the multilevel factors associated with not receiving needed mental health services among young children have not been identified. Addressing this gap in knowledge is essential to guide priority areas for strategies designed to improve the mental well-being of children in the US. The objective of this study was to assess the prevalence of early childhood mental disorders among US children after the COVID-19 pandemic and the proportion of these children not receiving mental health services when needed. An additional objective was to identify factors at the child, parental, household, neighborhood, and health care levels associated with not receiving needed mental health services among children with mental disorders in early childhood.

Methods

We used nationally representative data for US children from the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH). The NSCH is a series of national surveys conducted by the US Census Bureau to assess the health and well-being of US children aged 0 to 17 years (11); the survey collects a wide range of data related to children's mental health through online or mailed surveys. A parent or caregiver (referred to as "parent" hereinafter) familiar with the child's health status and health care is the survey respondent. The 2 most

recent cycles of NSCH (2021 and 2022) consisted of 104,995 children representative of noninstitutionalized children aged 0 to 17 years. The weighted percentage of children in age groups 0 to less than 2 years (infant to toddler), 2 to 8 years (early childhood), more than 8 to less than 12 years (middle childhood), and 12 to less than 18 years (adolescence) was 9.9%, 37.8%, 17.1%, and 35.2%, respectively. For this study, we included 46,424 children who were in early childhood at the time of the survey.

Mental disorders

Parents were asked whether they had ever been told by a doctor or other health care provider that their child had any of 22 health conditions. A child was considered to ever have had a mental disorder if their parent responded yes to 1 or more of the following 10 conditions: depression, anxiety, behavioral and conduct problems, ADHD, autism spectrum disorder, Tourette syndrome, learning disability, intellectual disability, development delay, or language disorder. Parents who responded yes to any of these conditions were further asked whether this child currently had the condition.

Not receiving health care or mental health services when needed

All parents were asked whether at any time in the previous 12 months their child needed health care but did not receive it. The child whose parent responded yes to this question was categorized as not receiving any needed health care in the previous 12 months, and these parents were further asked which type of health care (medical, dental, vision, hearing, mental health services, or others) was not received. The child whose parent marked "mental health services" was categorized as not receiving needed mental health services in the previous 12 months. In addition, these parents were asked whether any of the following 6 reasons contributed to this child not receiving needed health services: child not eligible for the services, services needed not available in the area, problems getting appointments, problems getting transportation or childcare, doctor's office was not open, and issues related to cost.

Child, parental, household, neighborhood, and health care factors

The NSCH Screener Questionnaire and Topical Questionnaire asked parents about various demographic, parental, household, neighborhood, and health care factors. For the children, we included the following variables: the child's age, sex, race, ethnicity, nativity (born in US or outside US), and general health. For parental characteristics, we included parent's age, education, nativity (first-, second, third-generation household or more, and other), and place of birth (born in US or outside US). For household characteristics, we included family structure, primary household lan-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

guage, and whether the household received cash assistance from government, food stamps or Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) benefits, free or reduced-cost meals, or WIC (Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children) program benefits in the previous 12 months.

Neighborhood characteristics included the physical environment of the neighborhoods, such as whether there were sidewalks or walking paths, a park or playground, a recreation or community center, a library or book mobile, litter or garbage on street, poorly kept or rundown housing, and vandalism such as broken windows or graffiti in the neighborhood. Parents were also asked to what extent they agreed with the statement about the neighborhood offering a supportive or safe environment, such as people in the neighborhood helped each other out, watched out for each other's children in the neighborhood, felt this child is safe in the neighborhood, or knew where to go for help in the community when encountering difficulties.

For children who had a health care visit in the previous 12 months, parents were asked how often the child's doctors or other health care providers 1) spent enough time with this child, 2) listened carefully to parents, 3) showed sensitivity to the family's values and customs, 4) provided the specific information parents needed concerning this child, and 5) helped parents feel like a partner in this child's care. Response options were always, usually, sometimes, or never. For children who needed decisions to be made about their health care, such as whether to get prescriptions, referrals, or procedures, parents were asked how often the child's health care providers 1) discussed with them the range of options to consider for this child's health care or treatment, 2) made it easy for parents to raise concerns or disagree with recommendations for this child's health care, and 3) worked with parents to decide which healthcare and treatment choices would be best for this child. Response options were always, usually, sometimes, or never.

For health insurance coverage, parents were asked whether their child was currently (in the previous 12 months) covered by health insurance. Parents who indicated having current insurance coverage were further asked about the type of insurance, and how often the child's health insurance benefits met the child's overall health needs and mental or behavioral health needs. For the 2 latter questions response options were always, usually, sometimes, or never. In addition, parents were asked whether the family had problems paying the child's health care bills in the previous 12 months.

Statistical analysis

We first examined the characteristics of US children in early childhood. We then estimated the weighted prevalence and 95% CIs of having 1 or more mental disorders among these children. We further estimated the proportion and associated 95% CIs of not receiving health care when needed, the type of health care services not received, and reasons for not receiving any needed health services, among all US children aged 2 to 8 years and separately for those with a current mental disorder. Among children with a current mental disorder, we compared the child, parental, household, neighborhood, and health care factors between those who did not receive needed mental health services and those who did; we used analysis of variance or χ^2 tests for these comparisons. We used the Bonferroni correction to adjust for multiple comparisons (12).

We used survey weights to account for the complex sampling design of NSCH and nonresponse biases in generating nationally representative estimates. A 2-sided *P* value of \leq .05 denoted significance. We used SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc) to conduct all analyses.

Results

Among US children aged 2 to 8 years whose parents participated in the NSCH, the mean age was 5.0 years (Table 1). Of these children, 51.2% were boys, 12.7% were non-Hispanic Black, 25.5% were Hispanic, and 49.5% were non-Hispanic White; 96.5% were born in the US. Among those born outside the US, the mean length of time living in the US was 3.1 years. More than twothirds (69.7%) of parents reported excellent general health for their child. Almost three-quarters (73.8%) of children were from households with 2 parents, and 84.5% of households spoke English as the primary language. Approximately one-fifth (21.0%) of households had received SNAP benefits and 14.0% had received WIC benefits in the previous 12 months.

The prevalence of having ever received a diagnosis of an early childhood mental disorder was 19.0% (weighted n = 5,239,089), and the prevalence of currently having an early childhood mental disorder was 16.0% (weighted n = 4,405,414). The prevalence of having ever been diagnosed with a mental disorder was 11.2% for language disorder, 7.7% for development delay, 6.3% for behavioral and conduct disorder, 4.9% for learning disability, 4.6% for ADHD, 4.0% for anxiety, 3.3% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for depression, and 0.1% for Tourette syndrome (Table 2). The prevalence of currently having a mental disorder was 9.0% for language disorder, 6.2% for development delay, 5.4% for behavioral and conduct disorder, 4.4% for learning disability, 4.3% for ADHD, 3.4% for anxiety, 3.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for development delay, 5.4% for behavioral and conduct disorder, 4.4% for learning disability, 4.3% for ADHD, 3.4% for anxiety, 3.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for depression, and 0.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for anxiety, 3.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for depression, and 0.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for anxiety, 3.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for depression, and 0.1% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for autism spectrum disorder, 0.8% for intellectual disability, 0.5% for depression, and 0.1% for Tourette syndrome.

Among US children in early childhood, 3.0% (weighted n = 814,794) reported not receiving any needed health care in the pre-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

vious 12 months (Table 3); of these children, 29.0% (weighted n = 230,315) reported not receiving mental health services when needed. Among children with a current mental disorder, 9.1% (weighted n = 400,095) reported not receiving any needed health care in the previous 12 months; of these children 45.8% (weighted n = 178,119) reported not receiving mental health services when needed. Overall, the prevalence of not receiving mental health services when needed was 0.8% among all US children in early childhood, and 4.0% among US children with a current early childhood mental disorder. The top reasons for not receiving any needed health care among children with a current early childhood mental disorder were problems getting appointment (72.1%), issues related to cost (39.3%), and needed services not being available in the area (38.5%).

Among US children in early childhood with a current mental disorder, those who received and did not receive the mental health services when needed did not differ by any child, household, or neighborhood characteristic (Table 4). However, the parents of children who did not receive mental health services when needed, compared with the parents of children who received services, were significantly more likely to report worse experiences with health care providers in all 5 domains. For example, the percentage of parents who indicated that health care providers never spend enough time with their child was 11.5% among parents of children who did not receive needed mental health services and 2.1% among parents of children who received services (Table 4). In addition, parents of children who did not receive needed mental health services, compared with parents of children who received services, were significantly more likely to indicate that their child's doctor or other health care provider never discussed the range of options for treatment (6.1% vs 2.9%), never made it easy to raise concerns or disagreements (5.1% vs 3.1%), or never worked with caregivers to decide together best treatment choices (12.7% vs 1.6%).

Children with an early childhood mental disorder who received needed mental health services did not differ from children who did not receive services by current health insurance coverage or type of insurance coverage. However, parents of children who did not receive needed mental health services, compared with parents of children who received services, were significantly more likely to indicate that their health insurance never offered benefits or covered services that meet needs (5.9% vs 1.3%) and that their health insurance never offered benefits or covered services that meet their mental or behavioral health needs (19.8% vs 4.6%).

Discussion

In this nationally representative sample of US children, we found that 19.0% of US children in early childhood had ever received a diagnosis of a mental disorder and 16.0% had a current mental disorder. Among children with current early childhood mental disorders, 9.1% did not receive any needed health services and 4.0% did not receive needed mental health services in the previous 12 months. The lack of access to health care services, negative experiences with health care provides, and health insurance not covering the needed services were the factors most strongly associated with not receiving needed mental health services among these children.

The prevalence of ever having a mental health disorder among children aged 2 to 8 years in our study (19.0%) is a 9% relative increase and a 1.6 percentage-point absolute increase in the prevalence of mental disorders in children of this age since 2016, which was 17.4% (13). Mental disorders in early childhood can affect a child's development and well-being, potentially resulting in longterm cognitive, emotional, and social challenges (14-18). The high and increasing prevalence of mental disorders among young children underscores the urgency of providing timely treatment during the critical period of child development. Among children aged 2 to 8 years, the difference in the prevalence of receiving any health care services when needed between children with current mental disorders in early childhood and all children (9.1% vs 3.0%) was largely driven by a high proportion of children with mental disorders who reported that they did not receive the needed mental health services in the previous 12 months. Despite the rapid advancements in evidence-based treatment of children with mental disorders (19,20), children with early childhood mental disorders may encounter more barriers to receiving health care when needed, particularly mental health services, compared with children without mental disorders.

The top reasons for not receiving any needed health care services among children with early childhood mental disorders were similar to reasons among all children aged 2 to 8 years. However, the percentage of children with mental disorders in early childhood who had problems related to appointment availability and service accessibility was higher than the percentage of all children aged 2 to 8 years, suggesting that poor access to health care services may be a systemic barrier. Our findings indicated that 72.1% of children with mental disorders who did not receive any needed health care reported difficulties in getting appointments, and nearly 40% did not have needed services available in their areas. Future strategies need to focus on bridging the gap between the demand and availability in mental health services for young children with mental disorders.

In our effort to identify factors associated with unmet needs, we assessed a wide range of factors, following the social-ecological model for health (21). Despite previously reported disparities by child and family socioeconomic position and household (22) or neighborhood conditions (23), we did not find significant differences in receiving needed mental health services by child, household, or neighborhood factors. Instead, we found that poor experiences with health care providers were strongly associated with not receiving needed mental health services. In particular, parents of children who received needed mental health services, compared with parents of children who did not, were 5 times more likely to report that their health care providers never spent enough time, never listened carefully, or never helped them feel like a partner in their child's health care. Our findings align with previous research that assessed barriers to seeking and receiving mental health services, including the feeling of not being listened to or being dismissed by health care professionals (24). Together, these findings suggest that trust and confidence in health service providers could play a crucial role in parents seeking mental health services for children in need (25).

Lack of insurance coverage has been reported as a barrier to accessing mental health services in previous studies (26). However, we found that young children with mental disorders who received health care services and young children with mental disorders who did not receive health care services had similar rates of health insurance coverage, regardless of insurance type. However, children who did not receive needed mental health services were more likely than children who did to report that their insurance did not allow them to see the health care providers they needed or offer mental health benefits. Thus, despite the overall similar rates in insurance coverage, certain insurance plans may not provide adequate benefits to meet the child's mental health service needs. The cost of mental health services may also be a barrier to receiving them. Although we did not find significant differences between those who received or did not receive needed mental health services, 20% to 30% of parents of children with mental disorders in early childhood reported having difficulties paying the child's health care bills.

Strengths

Our study has several strengths. It provides updated evidence on the prevalence of mental disorders among US children after the COVID-19 pandemic. The analyses used data from a nationally representative sample of US children. Our findings, therefore, are generalizable to all noninstitutionalized children in the US. The focus on children in early childhood has important implications, because many mental disorders start in early childhood, and early interventions can substantially reduce the risk of future long-term complications. In addition, our study analyzed data from NSCH, one of the few national surveys that provide comprehensive surveillance data on a wide range of mental disorders among young children, such as those in early childhood.

Limitations

Our study has some limitations. First, the cross-sectional design of this study prevents us from establishing causal relationships. Second, the assessment of mental disorders was based on parental self-report, which is subject to recall bias or social desirability bias. In addition, the parent's self-reported need for mental health services may not reflect the need assessed by health care providers. Third, the NSCH lacks adequate representation of children from racial and ethnic groups other than non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, and Hispanic groups, and does not include a sufficient number of children who speak languages other than English or Spanish. These factors limit our ability to assess whether language or culture acts as a barrier to seeking and receiving mental health services among children with mental disorders.

Conclusion

Our study provides updated evidence on the prevalence of early childhood mental disorders among US children after the COVID-19 pandemic. With the high and increasing prevalence of mental disorders among young children, it is imperative to improve the provision of mental health services for those in need. In addition to increasing the availability of mental health services and expanding health insurance coverage, future public health efforts should prioritize enhancing patients' experiences with health care providers and establishing patient-centered communications on children's mental health needs and treatment options.

Acknowledgments

The authors received no external financial support for the research. The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research. No copyright materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Julie F. Meng, Belmont High School, 221 Concord Ave, Belmont, MA 02478 (juliemeng14@gmail.com).

Author Affiliations: ¹Belmont High School, Belmont, Massachusetts.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Data and statistics on children's mental health. Last reviewed March 8, 2023. Accessed November 5, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/ childrensmentalhealth/data.html
- 2. World Health Organization. Mental disorders. June 8, 2022. Accessed November 5, 2023. https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/mental-disorders
- 3. Bitsko RH, Claussen AH, Lichstein J, Black LI, Jones SE, Danielson ML, et al. Mental health surveillance among children — United States, 2013–2019. *MMWR Suppl.* 2022; 71(2):1–42. doi:10.15585/mmwr.su7102a1
- 4. Lebrun-Harris LA, Ghandour RM, Kogan MD, Warren MD. Five-year trends in US children's health and well-being, 2016–2020. JAMA Pediatr. 2022;176(7):e220056. doi:10. 1001/jamapediatrics.2022.0056
- 5. Theberath M, Bauer D, Chen W, Salinas M, Mohabbat AB, Yang J, et al. Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health of children and adolescents: a systematic review of survey studies. *SAGE Open Med.* 2022;10:20503121221086712. doi:10.1177/20503121221086712
- 6. National Research Council. *Transforming the Workforce for Children Birth Through Age 8: A Unifying Foundation.* The National Academies Press; 2015.
- 7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Early brain development and health. Last reviewed February 24, 2023. Accessed November 5, 2023. https://archive.cdc.gov/www_ cdc_gov/ncbddd/childdevelopment/early-brain-development. html
- 8. Dawson G, Ashman SB, Carver LJ. The role of early experience in shaping behavioral and brain development and its implications for social policy. *Dev Psychopathol.* 2000; 12(4):695–712. doi:10.1017/S0954579400004089
- 9. Fox SE, Levitt P, Nelson CA III. How the timing and quality of early experiences influence the development of brain architecture. *Child Dev.* 2010;81(1):28–40. doi:10.1111/j. 1467-8624.2009.01380.x
- 10. Stormshak EA, Dishion TJ. An ecological approach to child and family clinical and counseling psychology. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev.* 2002;5(3):197–215. doi:10.1023/A: 1019647131949
- The Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. The National Survey of Children's Health. Accessed November 5, 2023. https://www.childhealthdata.org/learn-about-the-nsch/ NSCH

- 12. Blakesley RE, Mazumdar S, Dew MA, Houck PR, Tang G, Reynolds CF III, et al. Comparisons of methods for multiple hypothesis testing in neuropsychological research. *Neuropsychology*. 2009;23(2):255–264. doi:10.1037/a0012850
- 13. Cree RA, Bitsko RH, Robinson LR, Holbrook JR, Danielson ML, Smith C, et al. Health care, family, and community factors associated with mental, behavioral, and developmental disorders and poverty among children aged 2–8 years United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018; 67(50):1377–1383. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6750a1
- 14. Erskine HE, Norman RE, Ferrari AJ, Chan GC, Copeland WE, Whiteford HA, et al. Long-Term outcomes of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder and conduct disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2016;55(10):841–850. doi:10.1016/j.jaac. 2016.06.016
- 15. Bitsko RH, Holbrook JR, Ghandour RM, Blumberg SJ, Visser SN, Perou R, et al. Epidemiology and impact of health care provider-diagnosed anxiety and depression among US children. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2018;39(5):395–403. doi:10. 1097/DBP.0000000000000571
- 16. Merikangas KR, He JP, Burstein M, Swanson SA, Avenevoli S, Cui L, et al. Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication–Adolescent Supplement (NCS–A). J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2010;49(10):980–989. doi:10.1016/ j.jaac.2010.05.017
- Ghandour RM, Sherman LJ, Vladutiu CJ, Ali MM, Lynch SE, Bitsko RH, et al. Prevalence and treatment of depression, anxiety, and conduct problems in US children. *J Pediatr.* 2019; 206:256–267.e3. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.09.021
- 18. Schieve LA, Gonzalez V, Boulet SL, Visser SN, Rice CE, Van Naarden Braun K, et al. Concurrent medical conditions and health care use and needs among children with learning and behavioral developmental disabilities, National Health Interview Survey, 2006–2010. *Res Dev Disabil.* 2012;33(2): 467–476. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2011.10.008
- 19. Muñoz RF, Cooper LA. The COVID-19 pandemic and mental health-implementing evidence-based interventions to advance equity and reverse a worsening crisis. *JAMA Health Forum*. 2022;3(4):e221282. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.1282
- 20. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Fostering Healthy Mental, Emotional, and Behavioral Development in Children and Youth: A National Agenda. The National Academies Press; 2019.
- 21. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. About violence prevention. Accessed July 19, 2024. https://www.cdc.gov/violence-prevention/about/index.html

- 22. US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2030: social determinants of health. Accessed November 5, 2023. https://health.gov/healthypeople/priority-areas/social-determinants-health
- 23. Dahal S, Swahn MH, Hayat MJ. Association between neighborhood conditions and mental disorders among children in the US: Evidence from the National Survey of Children's Health 2011/12. Psychiatry J. 2018;2018:5914315. doi:10. 1155/2018/5914315
- 24. Reardon T, Harvey K, Baranowska M, O'Brien D, Smith L, Creswell C. What do parents perceive are the barriers and facilitators to accessing psychological treatment for mental health problems in children and adolescents? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2017;26(6):623–647. doi:10.1007/s00787-016-0930-6
- 25. Radez J, Reardon T, Creswell C, Lawrence PJ, Evdoka-Burton G, Waite P. Why do children and adolescents (not) seek and access professional help for their mental health problems? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2021;30(2):183–211. doi:10.1007/ s00787-019-01469-4
- 26. Owens PL, Hoagwood K, Horwitz SM, Leaf PJ, Poduska JM, Kellam SG, et al. Barriers to children's mental health services. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2002;41(6):731–738. doi:10.1097/00004583-200206000-00013

Tables

Table 1. Child, Household, and Neighborhood Characteristics of Children Aged 2–8 Years in the United States (N = 46,424) Whose Parents Participated in the National Survey of Children's Health, 2021–2022

Characteristic	% (95% CI) ^a		
Child			
Age, mean (95% Cl), y	5.0 (4.97-5.06)		
Sex			
Male	51.2 (50.2-52.0)		
Female	48.8 (47.8-49.8)		
Race and ethnicity			
Hispanic	25.5 (24.5-26.6)		
Non-Hispanic Black	12.7 (12.0-13.5)		
Non-Hispanic White	49.5 (48.5-50.5)		
Other ^b	12.2 (11.7-12.8)		
Child place of birth			
In US	96.5 (95.9-97.0)		
Outside US	3.5 (3.0-4.1)		
Length of time in the US among children born outside US, mean (95% CI), y	3.1 (2.8-3.3)		
General health			
Excellent	69.7 (68.7-70.6)		
Very good	22.8 (22.0-23.7)		
Good	6.2 (5.7-6.8)		
Fair	1.2 (0.8-1.5)		
Poor	0.05 (0.03-0.12)		
Parent			
Age, mean (95% Cl), y	38.6 (38.4-38.8)		
Education			
Less than high school	10.3 (9.5-11.2)		
High school or GED	19.0 (18.1-20.0)		
Some college or technical school	25.8 (24.8-26.7)		
College degree or higher	44.8 (43.8-45.9)		
Place of birth			
In US	76.1 (75.0-77.2)		
Outside US	23.9 (22.8-25.0)		

Abbreviations: GED, General Educational Development; SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a All values are percentage (95% CI) unless otherwise indicated; percentages and 95% CIs were adjusted for survey weights.

^b Participants who were not Hispanic, non-Hispanic Black, or non-Hispanic White were grouped into the "Other" group.

^c First-generation households are households where ≥ 1 parent was born outside the US and child was born outside the US; second-generation households are households where ≥ 1 parent is born outside the US and the child is born in the US; third-generation households or more are households where both parents were born in US; other households are households where child is born in the US and parents are not listed.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Child, Household, and Neighborhood Characteristics of Children Aged 2–8 Years in the United States (N = 46,424) Whose Parents Participated in the National Survey of Children's Health, 2021–2022

Characteristic	% (95% CI) ^a		
Nativity ^c			
First-generation household	2.6 (2.1-3.1)		
Second-generation household	23.9 (22.9-24.8)		
Third-generation household or more	66.6 (65.6-67.6)		
Other	6.9 (6.3-7.5)		
Household			
Family structure			
Two parents	73.8 (72.8-74.8)		
Single parent	21.8 (20.9-22.8)		
Grandparent household	3.2 (2.9–3.6)		
Other	1.1 (0.9-1.3)		
Primary household language			
English	84.5 (83.5-85.4)		
Spanish	10.0 (9.1-10.9)		
Other	5.6 (5.1-6.1)		
In the past 12 months, family has ever received:			
Cash assistance from government	5.2 (4.7-5.7)		
Food stamps or SNAP benefits	21.0 (20.0-21.9)		
Free or reduced-cost meals	37.1 (36.0-38.1)		
WIC benefits	14.0 (13.2-14.9)		

Abbreviations: GED, General Educational Development; SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a All values are percentage (95% CI) unless otherwise indicated; percentages and 95% CIs were adjusted for survey weights.

^b Participants who were not Hispanic, non-Hispanic Black, or non-Hispanic White were grouped into the "Other" group.

^c First-generation households are households where ≥ 1 parent was born outside the US and child was born outside the US; second-generation households are households where ≥ 1 parent is born outside the US and the child is born in the US; third-generation households or more are households where both parents were born in US; other households are households where child is born in the US and parents are not listed.

Table 2. Prevalence of Mental Disorders Among Children in Early Childhood (Aged 2-8 Years) in the US, National Survey of Children's Health, 2021-2022

Disorder	N (weighted n) ^a	Weighted % (95% CI) ^b	
At least 1 mental disorder			
Ever	8,714 (5,239,089)	19.0 (18.2-19.8)	
Current	7,047 (4,405,414)	16.0 (15.2-16.7)	
Language disorder			
Ever	4,975 (3,074,499)	11.2 (10.5-11.8)	
Current	4,029 (2,486,755)	9.0 (8.4-9.6)	
Developmental delay			
Ever	3,686 (2,116,305)	7.7 (7.2-8.2)	
Current	2,912 (1,697,624)	6.2 (5.7–6.6)	
Behavioral or conduct problems			
Ever	2,927 (1,743,197)	6.3 (5.9–6.8)	
Current	2,582 (1,497,935)	5.4 (5.0-5.9)	
Learning disability			
Ever	1,859 (1,344,023)	4.9 (4.4-5.4)	
Current	1,776 (1,212,369)	4.4 (4.0-4.8)	
Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder			
Ever	1,942 (1,246,007)	4.6 (4.2-5.0)	
Current	1,846 (1,193,736)	4.3 (4.0-4.7)	
Anxiety			
Ever	1,933 (1,090,934)	4.0 (3.6-4.3)	
Current	1,733 (950,394)	3.4 (3.1–3.8)	
Autism spectrum disorder			
Ever	1,396 (899,389)	3.3 (2.9–3.6)	
Current	1,334 (849,498)	3.1 (2.7-3.4)	
Intellectual disability			
Ever	345 (218,759)	0.8 (0.6–1.0)	
Current	329 (213,157)	0.8 (0.6–0.9)	
Depression			
Ever	236 (169,285)	0.6 (0.5–0.8)	
Current	197 (127,181)	0.5 (0.4–0.6)	
Tourette syndrome			
Ever	58 (35,389)	0.13 (0.07-0.19)	
Current	50 (26,672)	0.10 (0.05-0.15)	

^a N is the number of children whose parents participated in the National Survey of Children's Health; weighted n is the number of US children represented by parents. ^b Percentages and 95% CIs were adjusted for survey weights.

Table 3. Prevalence of and Reasons for Children Aged 2–8 Years Not Receiving Health Services When Needed in the United States, National Survey of Children's Health, 2021–2022^a

	% (95% Cl)		
Category	All children aged 2-8 years (n = 46,424)	Children aged 2–8 years with current mental disorders (n = 7,407)	
Not receiving any health care services when needed	3.0 (2.6-3.3)	9.1 (7.8-10.5)	
Type of needed health services not received			
Medical care	33.9 (28.0-39.9)	27.1 (18.9-35.3)	
Dental care	45.7 (39.8-51.5)	33.7 (26.2-41.2)	
Vision care	10.2 (7.1-13.4)	9.1 (4.9-13.3)	
Hearing care	6.5 (3.7-9.3)	4.4 (2.0-6.8)	
Mental health services	29.0 (24.3-33.6)	45.8 (38.2-53.5)	
Other	13.5 (10.1-16.9)	18.5 (13.2-23.9)	
Not receiving mental health services when needed	0.8 (0.7-1.0)	4.0 (3.3-4.8)	
Reasons for not receiving any needed health services			
Problems getting appointment	60.1 (54.1-66.1)	72.1 (65.1-79.0)	
Issues related to cost	37.6 (31.7-43.4)	39.3 (31.4-47.2)	
Services needed not available in the area	29.4 (24.5-34.2)	38.5 (31.1-45.9)	
Doctor's office wasn't open	21.1 (16.2-26.0)	21.8 (13.8-29.8)	
Child not eligible for the services	18.8 (14.2-23.4)	18.5 (12.8-24.3)	
Problems getting transportation or childcare	13.5 (9.9-17.1)	16.9 (11.0-22.8)	
^a Percentages and 95% CIs were adjusted for survey weights.			

Table 4. Child, Household, Neighborhood, and Health Care Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services When Needed Among US. Children with Mental Disorders in Early Childhood, National Survey of Children's Health, 2021–2022

	Receipt of mental health services when needed, % (95% CI) ^a		
Characteristics	Yes (n = 7,077)	No (n = 330)	<i>P</i> value ^b
Child			
Age, mean (95% Cl), y	5.9 (5.6-6.2)	5.5 (5.4-5.6)	.39
Sex			
Male	64.5 (62.2-66.8)	68.7 (60.2-77.3)	>.99
Female	35.5 (33.2-37.8)	31.3 (22.7-39.8)	
Race and ethnicity			
Hispanic	24.5 (22.1-27.0)	22.5 (14.9-30.1)	
Non-Hispanic Black	15.1 (13.1-17.2)	14.0 (5.1-22.9)	
Non-Hispanic White	50.2 (47.8-52.6)	52.0 (42.7-61.4)	2.99
Other	10.1 (8.8-11.4)	11.5 (6.1-16.8)	
Place of birth			
In US	97.5 (96.6-98.4)	98.7 (97.2-100)	> 00
Outside US	2.5 (1.6-3.4)	1.3 (0-2.8)	2.99
Household			-
Hard to cover basic needs such as food or housing			
Never	47.3 (44.9-49.7)	43.5 (34.3-52.7)	>.99
Rarely	32.7 (30.4-45.0)	30.4 (21.5-39.3)	
Somewhat often	15.7 (13.8-17.5)	19.0 (11.0-27.0)	
Very often	4.3 (3.4-5.2)	7.0 (3.3-10.8)	
In the past 12 months, family has ever received			
Cash assistance from government	6.7 (5.3-8.0)	4.9 (1.9-7.9)	>.99
Food stamps or Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program benefits	29.5 (27.1-32.0)	28.0 (18.7-37.3)	>.99
Free or reduced-cost meals	48.4 (45.9-50.9)	48.9 (39.5-58.3)	>.99
Women, Infant, and Children (WIC) benefits	15.2 (13.3-17.1)	12.6 (6.5-18.8)	>.99
Neighborhood			
Physical environment			
Sidewalks/walking paths	73.7 (71.6-75.8)	71.1 (63.3-78.9)	>.99
Park/playground	73.9 (71.6-76.1)	74.6 (66.9-82.4)	>.99
Recreation center	45.8 (43.3-48.3)	43.1 (33.7-52.5)	>.99
Library/bookmobile	64.9 (62.5-67.3)	61.6 (52.4-70.7)	>.99
Litter/garbage	23.8 (21.6-26.0)	28.0 (19.3-36.7)	>.99
Rundown housing	16.7 (14.7-18.8)	18.1 (10.6-25.6)	>.99
Vandalism	9.3 (7.6-11.0)	9.2 (4.4-13.9)	>.99
Supportive/safe environment			
Help each other out	80.0 (77.5-81.9)	78.1 (69.6-86.6)	>.99

^a Percentages and 95% Cls were adjusted for survey weights.

^b *P* values were generated from analysis of variance for continuous variables (age) and χ^2 test for categorical variables (all others) and were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni correction.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 4. Child, Household, Neighborhood, and Health Care Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services When Needed Among US. Children with Mental Disorders in Early Childhood, National Survey of Children's Health, 2021–2022

	Receipt of mental healt	Receipt of mental health services when needed, % (95% CI) ^a	
Characteristics	Yes (n = 7,077)	No (n = 330)	P value ^b
Watch out for other's children	79.3 (77.2-81.3)	74.2 (65.3-83.1)	>.99
Know where to go for help	86.0 (84.2-87.8)	74.6 (65.6-83.5)	>.99
Child safe in neighborhood	91.5 (90.1-93.0)	87.0 (79.7-94.3)	>.99
Health care factors			
Experience with health care providers			
Spending enough time			
Always	55.0 (52.4-57.5)	38.2 (28.6-47.8)	
Usually	31.6 (29.1-34.0)	32.7 (24.3-41.1)	
Sometimes	11.3 (9.7-13.0)	17.6 (10.7-24.5)	004
Never	2.1 (1.5-2.7)	11.5 (5.2-17.9)	-
Listen carefully	L. L.		
Always	64.9 (62.4-67.4)	45.9 (36.3-55.4)	
Usually	27.3 (24.9-29.7)	29.6 (21.4-37.8)	-
Sometimes	6.8 (5.5-8.1)	19.6 (12.2-27.0)	004
Never	1.0 (0.6-1.6)	4.9 (0.6-9.2)	_
Show sensitivity to family values/customs	- I		
Always	68.0 (65.5-70.5)	56.5 (47.1-65.8)	
Usually	24.1 (21.8-26.4)	23.8 (16.1-31.4)	1
Sometimes	6.4 (5.2-7.6)	14.7 (8.2-21.1)	004
Never	1.5 (0.8-2.1)	5.1 (0.7-9.5)	-
Provide specific information needed		I	1
Always	65.0 (62.5-67.5)	38.7 (29.3-48.2)	
Usually	27.0 (24.6-29.4)	34.5 (25.7-43.3)	
Sometimes	6.9 (5.5-8.2)	21.8 (14.1-29.5)	008
Never	1.2 (0.7-1.6)	5.0 (0.9-9.1)	
Helped parents feel like partners in child's care		I	1
Always	66.2 (63.7-68.7)	45.4 (35.8-54.9)	
Usually	24.4 (22.1-26.8)	30.4 (21.8-39.0)	1
Sometimes	7.5 (6.1-9.0)	14.9 (8.7-21.1)	004
Never	1.8 (1.1-2.6)	9.3 (3.9-14.7)	
Discuss range of options	1	i.	1
Always	59.7 (55.8-63.7)	37.7 (27.3-48.1)	
Usually	26.8 (22.9-30.7)	25.0 (16.4-33.6)	
Sometimes	10.6 (8.3-12.9)	31.2 (20.6-41.8)	004
			-

^a Percentages and 95% CIs were adjusted for survey weights.

^b *P* values were generated from analysis of variance for continuous variables (age) and χ^2 test for categorical variables (all others) and were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni correction.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 4. Child, Household, Neighborhood, and Health Care Factors Associated With Not Receiving Mental Health Services When Needed Among US. Children with Mental Disorders in Early Childhood, National Survey of Children's Health, 2021–2022

	Receipt of mental health services when needed, % (95% CI) ^a		
Characteristics	Yes (n = 7,077)	No (n = 330)	<i>P</i> value ^b
Never	2.9 (1.7-4.0)	6.1 (1.1-11.1)	
Make easy to raise concerns	1	•	L
Always	62.3 (58.5-66.2)	42.0 (31.2-52.8)	.004
Usually	25.3 (21.7-29.0)	24.2 (15.8-32.6)	
Sometimes	9.3 (7.5-11.0)	28.7 (18.6-38.9)	
Never	3.1 (1.8-4.3)	5.1 (0.7-9.4)	
Work together to decide best treatment	·	·	
Always	64.1 (60.2-68.0)	42.1 (31.5-52.6)	
Usually	24.9 (21.2-28.6)	23.6 (14.9-32.4)	004
Sometimes	9.4 (7.3-11.5)	21.6 (12.8-30.3)	.004
Never	1.6 (1.0-2.2)	12.7 (4.7-20.8)	
Health insurance and payment			
Current covered by health insurance			
Yes	96.6 (95.6-97.7)	97.6 (95.1-100)	> 00
No	3.4 (2.3-4.4)	2.4 (0-4.9)	2.99
Current insurance type			
Through employer	53.0 (50.5-55.5)	57.6 (28.0-67.2)	>.99
Purchased directly from insurance company	4.2 (3.4-5.0)	4.0 (1.4-6.7)	>.99
Medicaid/Medicaid Assistance/government assistance plan	49.5 (47.1-52.0)	50.2 (40.7-59.7)	>.99
Indian Health Service	0.8 (0.4-1.2)	0.3 (0-0.5)	>.99
TRICARE/other military	2.8 (2.1-3.5)	3.9 (1.4-6.3)	>.99
Other	2.2 (1.4-2.9)	2.1 (0.4-3.7)	>.99
Health insurance offers benefits or cover services that meet needs			
Always	58.8 (56.4-61.2)	33.9 (24.5-43.2)	
Usually	31.2 (29.0-33.5)	38.7 (29.8-47.6)	< 001
Sometimes	8.6 (7.3-10.0)	21.5 (14.4-28.7)	<.004
Never	1.3 (0.9-1.8)	5.9 (0-11.8)	
Health insurance offers benefits or cover services that meet the mental or l	behavioral health needs		
Always	53.1 (50.2-56.0)	17.5 (9.5-25.4)	
Usually	28.2 (25.6-30.7)	24.7 (16.2-47.3)	<.004
Sometimes	14.2 (12.1-16.2)	38.0 (28.7-47.3)	
Never	4.6 (3.2-5.9)	19.8 (12.1-27.6)	
Problems paying health care bills in the past 12 months			
Yes	21.3 (18.7-23.8)	32.0 (22.8-41.3)	.55
No	78.7 (76.2-81.3)	68.0 (58.7-77.2)	

^a Percentages and 95% CIs were adjusted for survey weights.

^b *P* values were generated from analysis of variance for continuous variables (age) and χ^2 test for categorical variables (all others) and were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni correction.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E84

OCTOBER 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Geospatial Hot Spots and Cold Spots in US Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, 2004–2008 to 2014–2018

L. Raymond Guo, MA, MS¹; M. Courtney Hughes, PhD, MS¹; Margaret E. Wright, PhD²; Alyssa H. Harris, MPH¹; Meredith C. Osias, MPH¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0046.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Guo LR, Hughes MC, Wright ME, Harris AH, Osias MC. Geospatial Hot Spots and Cold Spots in US Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, 2004–2008 to 2014–2018. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240046. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.240046.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Disparities in cancer death rates exist across the social gradient, with lower socioeconomic groups and racial and ethnic minority populations experiencing higher death rates.

What is added by this report?

We used geospatial analysis to identify hot spots and cold spots of disparities in cancer death rates across US counties. We identified factors associated with these disparities, including access to care, health behaviors, and social determinants of health.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Policy and interventions should address geospatial disparities, focusing on social determinants of health, health care access, and healthy behaviors to achieve equitable cancer outcomes.

Abstract

Introduction

Despite declining cancer death rates in the US, cancer remains the second deadliest disease and disparities persist. Although research has focused on identifying risk factors for cancer deaths and associated disparities, few studies have examined how these relationships vary over time and space. The primary objective of this study was to identify cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots — areas where cancer death rates decreased less than or more than

neighboring areas over time. A secondary objective was to identify risk factors of cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots.

Methods

We analyzed county-level cancer death rates from 2004 through 2008 and 2014 through 2018, exploring disparities in changes over time for socioeconomic and demographic variables. We used hot spot analysis to identify areas with larger decreases (cold spots) and smaller decreases (hot spots) in cancer death rates and random forest machine learning analysis to assess the relative importance of risk factors associated with hot spots and cold spots. We mapped spatial clustering areas.

Results

Geospatial analysis showed hot spots predominantly in the Plains states and Midwest and cold spots in the Southeast, Northeast, 2 Mountain West states (Utah and Idaho), and a portion of Texas. Factors with the strongest influence on hot spots and cold spots were unemployment, preventable hospital stays, mammography screening, and high school education.

Conclusion

Geospatial disparities in changes in cancer death rates point out the critical role of access to care, socioeconomic position, and health behaviors in persistent cancer mortality disparities. Study results provide insights for interventions and policies that focus on addressing health care access and social determinants of health.

Introduction

Despite declines in cancer death rates during the past 3 decades, cancer remains the second leading cause of death in the US (1,2). Disparities in cancer death rates also persist across many groups in the US (1). For example, the decline in cancer death rates has been slower for groups with lower socioeconomic position and for racial and ethnic minority populations, particularly Black Americ-



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0046.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

ans. Cancer death rates also vary geographically: Southern states and rural areas of the country have the highest cancer death rates and slower rates of decline (3).

Social determinants of health (SDOH), defined as the conditions in which people live, work, and age (4,5), contribute to cancer death and persistent cancer-related disparities. SDOH domains include economic stability (eg, poverty, food insecurity), education access and quality, health care access and quality, neighborhood and built environment (eg, violence, air pollution), and social and community context (eg, social support) (4). SDOH can be beneficial or adverse, and they affect health outcomes through influence on health behaviors, environmental exposures, stress levels, and access to care.

Several studies have linked unfavorable SDOH, particularly lower education and income, to higher cancer death rates (3,6,7) and positive SDOH, such as access to cancer care (8), private health insurance (9), and access to healthy diets (10), to better cancer outcomes. Like cancer death rates, SDOH and downstream risk factors (eg, smoking, physical activity, and diet) vary by geography.

Few studies have examined how relationships among SDOH and cancer death rates vary over time and by geography (11). Understanding these dynamic relationships is crucial for adequately and accurately addressing persistent cancer disparities and identifying targets for intervention and resource allocation. The primary objective of this study was to identify cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots — areas where cancer death rates decreased less than or more than neighboring areas over time. A secondary objective was to identify risk factors of cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots.

Methods

We obtained age-adjusted total cancer death rates at the county level, available in 5-year aggregates from 2004 through 2018, from CDC WONDER (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-ranging ONline Data for Epidemiologic Research) (12). National mortality data available on CDC WONDER are publicly available; data are collected by state registries and provided to the National Vital Statistics System. Data are based on death certificates for US residents; each death certificate specifies a single underlying cause of death and includes demographic data. The number of deaths and death rates can be obtained at multiple geographic levels (national, state, and county, when available), and by age group, race, Hispanic ethnicity, sex, and cause of death (4-digit ICD-10 [International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision] codes [13]). We collected the data from the US 1999–2018: Underlying Cause of Death data file in CDC WONDER and used ICD-10 codes C00–C97 to identify death rates for malignant neoplasms.

Next, we identified risk factors for total cancer death rates by conducting a comprehensive review of the published literature in PubMed. We used the search terms "cancer mortality" AND ("risk factor" OR "determinants" OR "predictors") for the period 2000 to 2022. Two reviewers (L.R.G., M.C.O.) conducted the PubMed search, ensuring that the search and selection of studies were comprehensive and unbiased. Risk factors were identified through a qualitative meta-review or second-order review of the evidence associated with SDOH and cancer burden, focusing on systematic reviews and meta-analyses to synthesize and evaluate the literature comprehensively. This approach ensured that the collected data could be used for complex analysis methods, such as random forest or other machine learning models. We then obtained county-level data for identified risk factors from CDC (14), the US Census Bureau (15), and County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16). These data allowed us to explore how risk factors might influence cancer deaths at the same geographic level as the CDC WONDER mortality data. Final data included age-adjusted total cancer death rates and aggregated individual risk factors, such as demographic factors, health behaviors, and SDOH and were used for both geospatial analysis and machine learning analysis (Table).

Ethics approval and consent to participate were not applicable in this study as decided by Northern Illinois University Institutional Review Board. This secondary analysis used publicly available datasets.

Study variables

Our study was designed to identify hot spots and cold spots of county-level cancer mortality changes between 2004–2008 and 2014–2018 based on available data. We used these periods to focus on longer trends and examined negative SDOH and demographic risk factors linked to persistent disparities over time (Table). Total cancer mortality was the dependent variable, while demographic characteristics, health behaviors, access to care, health literacy, health conditions, and economic stability were categorized as independent variables.

Geospatial hot spot analysis

We calculated changes in total cancer death rates as the difference in the rate between 2004–2008 and 2014–2018 by subtracting the 2014–2018 rate from the 2004–2008 rate. We applied imputation to the counties that had missing data by taking the average of the surrounding counties. We then applied Getis-Ord Gi* analysis with the Euclidean distance as fixed distance in ArcGIS Pro 2.7 (Esri) (17). Euclidean distance measures the direct distance between 2 nearest counties to ensure each feature has at least 1

neighbor. We identified hot spots and cold spots on the changes in total cancer death rates. We linked CDC WONDER data with the data file "USA Counties, August 4, 2022 updated" in ArcGIS Pro 2.7 by the Federal Information Processing Standard (FIPS) code at the county-level GIS layer. The hot spot analysis examines each geographical feature in the context of neighboring features. It calculates z scores and P values to identify where features with either high or low values cluster spatially compared with neighboring areas. We set the significance level at .10 to capture more potential hot spots with a high prevalence of cancer. This significance level can help to find weak clustering patterns that may have some significance. For this study, we defined hot spots as counties with a significantly smaller decrease (P < .10) in cancer mortality rates between 2004-2008 and 2014-2018 compared with the averages of the cluster of surrounding counties. In contrast, cold spots refer to counties with a significantly larger decrease in total cancer mortality rates during the same period compared with the averages of the cluster of surrounding counties. Positive z scores indicate the clustering of high values, signifying a hot spot, while negative zscores indicate the clustering of low values, signifying a cold spot. A z score near zero suggests no apparent spatial clustering and can be considered an average area. We then mapped spatial clustering areas and identified hot spots and cold spots (18).

Analysis of associated SDOH and downstream risk factors

First, we applied random forest analysis to address our second study objective to identify SDOH and downstream risk factors associated with hot spots and cold spots. Data on SDOH, demographic characteristics, and health behavior were available for 1,614 of all 3,143 US counties from 2004 to 2018. We used the variables as presented in the datasets. Previous studies with a comparable scope also faced challenges related to missing data and analyzed only a subset of the 3,143 counties (19–21).

Next, as part of random forest analysis, we selected variables by using a bagging technique that generated multiple bootstrap samples from the original dataset. Bagging is an ensemble learning technique that combines multiple models trained on bootstrapped subsets of the original dataset to improve predictive performance and reduce variance (22). We then used these bootstrap samples to train a multitude of decision trees, where each tree randomly selects features at each split point, creating a "forest" that votes on the final prediction. Each decision tree acts like a flowchart, splitting the data based on features (risk factors). We then calculated the importance of each predictor in making those predictions. This approach helped identify which predictor had the strongest influence on the outcome. By averaging importance scores from multiple decision trees, random forest analysis captures individual variable influence and interactions while reducing overfitting, enabling a more robust understanding of variables that have the most effect on changes in total cancer death rates at the county level (22). This ensemble approach strengthens the analysis by addressing variance in single-tree predictions, leading to a more robust understanding of which variables are truly important.

We applied the random forest algorithm to all 1,614 counties and the hot spot and cold spot clusters between 2004–2008 and 2014–2018 using 22 SDOH and other factors (Table) to determine their effect on changes in cancer death rates. The random forest model ranked the most important variable at 100% and scaled all other variables in relation to it. In this analysis, the more important the factor, the greater the effect on the model's ability to predict cancer death rates. We used the "randomForest" package in R 4.2 (R Core Team, 2023) for these analyses.

Results

The hot spot analysis (Figure 1) showed a large cluster on the US mainland (primarily in the Plains states and the Midwest) and a few counties in Hawaii. Cold spots were located in the Southeast, a portion of the Northeast, 2 states in the Mountain West (Utah and Idaho), and portions of Texas, Louisiana, and Alaska. The mean (SD) change in total cancer death rates in the US was -21.23 (18.75) deaths per 100,000 people. The mean (SD) change in death rate per 100,000 people was -16.6 (18.8) deaths for hot spots and -25.5 (18.4) deaths for cold spots. The mean percentage change was -7.7% for hot spots and -12.8% for cold spots. Additionally, the CDC WONDER dataset has an average 18.7% missing death rate data for all counties and states each year. A few states have an average missing data rate higher than 35%: Texas (86.2%), Nebraska (56.2%), Kansas (51.1%), and South Dakota (39.7%). Other states that have missing data are Alaska (22.3%), Idaho (18.7%), Minnesota (11.8%), Missouri (13.9%), Oklahoma (12.9%), Utah (12.9%), and Virginia (13.3%).

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

VOLUME 21, E84 OCTOBER 2024



Figure 1. Changes in total cancer death rates at the county level between 2004–2008 and 2014–2018 in the US.

Risk factors for cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots

The random forest analysis included 765 hot spot counties and 619 cold spot counties. Less than a high school education, preventable hospital stay, Asian race, and low income were the top 4 risk factors for change in total cancer mortality from 2004 through 2018 (Figure 2). For hot spots, the top 5 risk factors for changes in cancer mortality were preventable hospital stays, being aged 65 years or older, poor mental health, transportation issues, and low income (Figure 3). For cold spots, the top 5 risk factors were no mammography screening, preventable hospital stays, no mental health provider, Hispanic ethnicity, and Black race. For average regions, the top 5 risk factors were drinking, being aged 65 years or older, obesity, preventable hospital stays, and no primary care provider.

2004-2008 to 2014-2018







Figure 3. Relative importance of predictors of changes in total cancer mortality rates in hot spots and cold spots from geospatial analysis of US counties, 2004–2008 to 2014–2018.

The patterns of risk factor importance in hot spots and cold spots (Figure 3) were similar to the patterns for all US counties. However, areas with the greatest increase in cancer death rates were associated with an older population and higher levels of alcohol consumption, and the greatest decreases in cancer death rates were associated with higher rates of mammography screening.

Discussion

Although overall cancer death rates in the US are decreasing, disparities exist in how quickly they are decreasing across time and geographic areas. Our findings highlight similarities and differences in the hierarchy of risk factors for cancer death rates according to geographic hot spots and cold spots. Preventable hospital stays and mental health-related factors were top risks for cancer mortality risks in both hot spots and cold spots. These findings align with prior research showing that limited access to health care worsens outcomes, including preventable hospital stays and higher cancer death rates (23). Our study used a novel approach — machine learning (random forest analysis) — to analyze geospatial and temporal patterns in cancer death rates.

Cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots

Using geospatial hot spot analysis, we found significant geospatial disparities in changes in total US cancer death rates between 2004–2008 and 2014–2018. The hot spots identified in our study have higher persistent cancer death rates compared with the national trend (rates decreased less than expected), while cold spots reflect areas with alleviated cancer death rates (rates decreased more than expected). Hot spots were predominantly concentrated in the Midwest, while cold spots were prevalent in the Southeast, Northeast, and 2 Mountain West states.

Risk factors for cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots

We found various associations between negative socioeconomic position, access to health care services, and health behaviors. SDOH can positively or negatively influence health. We focused on negative SDOH and their influence on cancer mortality and how top risk factors of cancer mortality disparities differed in hot spots and cold spots. Some risk factors identified in our study were related to lower socioeconomic position, which can substantially affect access to cancer care. In general, people with low socioeconomic position have a heightened risk of various adverse health conditions, including cancer, due to factors such as unemployment, lower education levels, and poverty (23).

Risk factors in hot spots

Preventable hospital stays are admissions that could have been avoided with adequate ambulatory care or health care coordination. Often caused by delayed or inadequate access, they can worsen health outcomes and increase mortality rates (24). Preventable hospitalization is common among cancer patients (25). Preventable hospitalizations are more prevalent in advanced-stage cancer than earlier-stage cancer, highlighting how inadequate health care access can worsen overall health outcomes, including death rates (26).

Our finding that being aged 65 years or older is a risk factor for cancer aligns with prior research linking age to preventable chronic conditions and cancer risk factors (27). The third top risk factor, poor mental health, mirrored research showing that mental health investment improves health outcomes, including lowering cancer death rates (28). In contrast, patients who develop mood, anxiety, or substance use disorders for the first time after a cancer diagnosis may be at an increased risk of cancer-related death (29).

Transportation availability, the fourth top risk factor in hot spots, is another factor that influences access to health care. Transportation problems can hinder health care in the US, especially for cancer patients, who have frequent health care visits, long treatment periods, and financial obligations (30). Transportation barriers can cause delays in follow-up care after abnormal screening test results and limit access to specialized oncology care (31). Overcoming transportation barriers is crucial for improving cancer care access and outcomes, particularly in areas with persistently high cancer death rates.

Risk factors in cold spots

Preventable hospital stays and having no mental health provider were among the top 5 risk factors for changes in cancer mortality in cold spots. Having no mammography screening, being unemployed, and having less than a high school education were also in the top 5 risk factors. Our findings are consistent with a study across 79 countries that linked unemployment to higher mortality rates for cancers with available screening tests, suggesting the effect of economic instability on cancer outcomes (32).

Two other top risk factors for changes in cancer mortality in cold spots were Hispanic ethnicity and Black race. This finding demonstrates the effect of racial and ethnic health disparities on cancer mortality rates. Disparities in 5-year cancer survival persist between Black patients (67%) and White patients (72%), even among patients with similar income (27). Moreover, a study found that later-stage lung cancer was diagnosed more often in Black patients than in White patients even though Black patients had higher socioeconomic position (27). Lower overall cancer death rates

among the Hispanic population might explain why Hispanic populations align with cold spots, but not hot spots. However, in a study that used data from 1950–2014, stomach and liver cancer death rates were higher in the Hispanic population than in the US general population; additionally, after adjustment for deprivation and other covariates, cancer death rates were significantly higher in the Hispanic and Black populations than in the non-Hispanic White population (33).

Risk factors in average regions

Hot spots and cold spots depict extreme cancer disparities, while average regions reflect typical mortality trends. The study of average regions offers valuable insight into cancer disparities. Two of the top 3 risk factors associated with average regions were related to health behaviors (alcohol consumption and obesity), and the third was being aged 65 years or older, also a top risk factor in hot spots. Alcohol consumption, the top risk factor in average regions, increases cancer mortality risk in a dose-dependent manner (34). Older adults who are heavy drinkers have higher cancer death and incidence rates than nonheavy drinkers (35). Poor diet and low levels of physical activity are often associated with obesity. Excessive weight is linked to increased risk of various cancers (36). While the exact mechanisms for this connection are not known, it highlights the importance of healthy lifestyle habits in cancer prevention. Our findings underscore the need for interventions that promote healthy behaviors, particularly among older adults, to make strides in reducing cancer mortality (37).

The availability of cancer health care resources, which we did not examine due to data limitations, can also play a role in reducing cancer disparities. Cancer death rates in early Medicaid expansion states significantly decreased between 2007–2009 and 2012–2016 (25), highlighting the effect of policy on health care access. However, simply increasing access to health care is insufficient to eliminate disparities. Despite advancements in cancer treatment, cancer control at the population level requires resources to address SDOH and other risk factors. Our study used a machine learning algorithm, random forest analysis, to identify a set of SDOH and other factors that reflect the intricate interplay of individual, community, and societal influences on cancer disparities (7) and underscores the need for multilevel interventions, including comprehensive health policies, to address disparities effectively.

Limitations and strengths

Our study has several limitations. First, our analysis focused on changes in total cancer death rates, which may not account for the various contributions of cancer types, such as lung cancer, a more prevalent cancer type with a strong modifiable risk factor of smoking. Second, our hot spot analysis identified areas with relatively high or low values, but it may not have fully considered the complex contextual factors influencing these patterns. Third, the missing county-level cancer death data and imputation to account for missing values may have affected the accuracy of our spatial analysis and are subject to interpretation. Fourth, aggregated cancer registry data protect patient privacy and can suppress differences and details in analysis, which may have affected our results. Nevertheless, hot spot analysis on imputed data provides a nuanced view of spatial patterns by incorporating estimated values for missing data. This approach can reveal potential clusters of extreme mortality rates that might be hidden by relying solely on cut points. Fifth, the study period predates the COVID-19 pandemic. Although future studies will include pandemic-era data, this study provides a valid framework for the utility of geospatial methods to study changes in cancer death rates. Lastly, while valuable, the application of random forest modeling is subject to its inherent limitations in providing insights into causality or the precise magnitude of variable effects on disparities in changes in total cancer death rates.

Despite these limitations, our study has several strengths. First, our geospatial analysis of total cancer death rates revealed areas with substantial disparities, highlighting the utility of geospatial methods in studying changes in cancer death rates. Geospatial analysis enabled a localized understanding of cancer mortality trends by visualizing and analyzing data across geographic space, revealing patterns and disparities that may not be evident from traditional statistical methods. Second, we used a machine learning algorithm to examine associated risk factors. This method excels in handling high-dimensional datasets and allowed us to capture intricate interactions among variables and mitigate overfitting, thus enhancing the robustness and generalization of our analysis.

Conclusions

This study identified cancer mortality hot spots and cold spots and associated risk factors of cancer mortality between 2004–2008 and 2014–2018 at the US county level. Our findings emphasize the critical role of access to care, socioeconomic position, and health behaviors in reducing disparities in cancer death rates. Acknow-ledging these complexities and the various negative SDOH and demographic risk factors of cancer mortality by region, a comprehensive but localized approach that addresses both access to health care and the underlying SDOH is essential for achieving meaning-ful reductions in cancer disparities. This evidence informs public health practitioners and policymakers as they develop targeted interventions and policies. By understanding geospatial disparities in cancer and their underlying risk factors, public health can focus much-needed cancer treatment and prevention on the counties and populations most vulnerable to cancer-related death.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Acknowledgments

The authors express their gratitude to Dr Mahdi Vaezi from the Northern Illinois University Department of Engineering Technology for his thoughtful consultation on the study design and implementation of geospatial analysis.

The study is supported by Northern Illinois University's Health Sciences Doctoral–Faculty Dyad Grant and Northern Illinois University's Research & Artistry Opportunity Grant. The authors declare that they have no competing interests. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in the research described in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: L. Raymond Guo, MA, MS, Northern Illinois University, 323 Wirtz Hall, DeKalb, IL 60115 (rguo@niu.edu).

Author Affiliations: ¹College of Health and Human Sciences, Northern Illinois University, DeKalb. ²University of Illinois Cancer Center, Chicago.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Wagle NS, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2023. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2023;73(1):17–48. doi:10.3322/caac. 21763
- 2. American Cancer Society. Risk of dying from cancer continues to drop at an accelerated pace. January 12, 2022. Accessed October 4, 2023. https://www.cancer.org/research/acsresearch-news/facts-and-figures-2022.html
- 3. Sokale IO, Raza SA, Thrift AP. Disparities in cancer mortality patterns: A comprehensive examination of U.S. rural and urban adults, 1999-2020. *Cancer Med.* 2023;12(18):18988–18998. doi:10.1002/cam4.6451
- 4. US Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Healthy People 2030. Social determinants of health. Accessed June 30, 2024. https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/socialdeterminants-health
- 5. Alcaraz KI, Wiedt TL, Daniels EC, Yabroff KR, Guerra CE, Wender RC. Understanding and addressing social determinants to advance cancer health equity in the United States: A blueprint for practice, research, and policy. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2020;70(1):31–46. doi:10.3322/caac.21586

- 6. Moss JL, Pinto CN, Srinivasan S, Cronin KA, Croyle RT. Persistent poverty and cancer mortality rates: an analysis of county-level poverty designations. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2020;29(10):1949–1954. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-0007
- 7. Krieger N, Wright E, Chen JT, Waterman PD, Huntley ER, Arcaya M. Cancer stage at diagnosis, historical redlining, and current neighborhood characteristics: breast, cervical, lung, and colorectal cancers, Massachusetts, 2001–2015. Am J Epidemiol. 2020;189(10):1065–1075. doi:10.1093/aje/ kwaa045
- 8. Wang F, Shu X, Pal T, Berlin J, Nguyen SM, Zheng W, et al. Racial/ethnic disparities in mortality related to access to care for major cancers in the United States. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2022; 14(14):3390. doi:10.3390/cancers14143390
- 9. Shi R, Taylor H, McLarty J, Liu L, Mills G, Burton G. Effects of payer status on breast cancer survival: a retrospective study. *BMC Cancer*. 2015;15(1):211. doi:10.1186/s12885-015-1228-7
- 10. Chan JE, Caesar MA, Mann AK, Koh-Bell A, Richardson MT, Johnson CR, et al. The role of diet compared to physical activity on women's cancer mortality: results from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Front Public Health. 2022;10:853636. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2022. 853636
- Dong W, Bensken WP, Kim U, Rose J, Fan Q, Schiltz NK, et al. Variation in and Factors Associated With US County-Level Cancer Mortality, 2008-2019. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2022;5(9): e2230925. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.30925
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. CDC WONDER. Accessed October 25, 2022. https://wonder.cdc.gov
- 13. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. ICD-10. Page last modified September 6, 2023. Accessed June 15, 2022. https:// www.cms.gov/medicare/coding-billing/icd-10-codes
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey: annual survey data. Last reviewed August 29, 2023. Accessed June 15, 2022. https:// www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/annual_data.htm
- 15. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey 1-year data (2005–2022). September 14, 2023. Accessed June 15, 2022. https://www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/acs-1year. html
- 16. County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. Health data. Accessed June 15, 2022. https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/health-data
- 17. Anselin L. Local indicators of spatial association LISA. Geogr Anal. 1995;27(2):93–115. doi:10.1111/j.1538-4632. 1995.tb00338.x

- 18. Mitchell A. The ESRI Guide to GIS Analysis, Volume 1: Geographic Patterns and Relationships. 2020. Accessed December 6, 2023. https://bookshop.org/p/books/the-esriguide-to-gis-analysis-volume-1-geographic-patterns-andrelationships-andy-mitchell/17794397
- Hamad R, Brown DM, Basu S. The association of county-level socioeconomic factors with individual tobacco and alcohol use: a longitudinal study of U.S. adults. *BMC Public Health*. 2019; 19(1):390. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-6700-x
- 20. Zhu Y, Fei Z, Mooney LJ, Huang K, Hser YI. Social determinants of mortality of COVID-19 and opioid overdose in American rural and urban counties. *J Addict Med.* 2022;16(1): e52–e55. doi:10.1097/ADM.00000000000834
- 21. Madlock-Brown C, Wilkens K, Weiskopf N, Cesare N, Bhattacharyya S, Riches NO, et al. Clinical, social, and policy factors in COVID-19 cases and deaths: methodological considerations for feature selection and modeling in countylevel analyses. *BMC Public Health*. 2022;22(1):747. doi:10. 1186/s12889-022-13168-y
- 22. James G, Witten D, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. An Introduction to Statistical Learning: With Applications in R.Springer US; 2021.
- 23. Coughlin SS, Chen J, Cortes JE. Health care access and utilization among adult cancer survivors: results from the National Institutes of Health "All of Us" Research Program. *Cancer Med.* 2021;10(11):3646–3654. doi:10.1002/cam4.3924
- 24. Johnston KJ, Wen H, Joynt Maddox KE. Lack of access to specialists associated with mortality and preventable hospitalizations of rural Medicare beneficiaries. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2019;38(12):1993–2002. doi:10.1377/hlthaff. 2019.00838
- 25. Handley NR, Schuchter LM, Bekelman JE. Best practices for reducing unplanned acute care for patients with cancer. J Oncol Pract. 2018;14(5):306–313. doi:10.1200/JOP.17.00081
- 26. Whitney RL, Bell JF, Tancredi DJ, Romano PS, Bold RJ, Wun T, et al. Unplanned hospitalization among individuals with cancer in the year after diagnosis. *J Oncol Pract.* 2019;15(1): e20–e29. doi:10.1200/JOP.18.00254
- 27. Islami F, Guerra CE, Minihan A, Yabroff KR, Fedewa SA, Sloan K, et al. American Cancer Society's report on the status of cancer disparities in the United States, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin. 2022;72(2):112–143. doi:10.3322/caac.21703
- 28. Khushalani JS, Qin J, Cyrus J, Buchanan Lunsford N, Rim SH, Han X, et al. Systematic review of healthcare costs related to mental health conditions among cancer survivors. *Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res.* 2018;18(5):505–517. doi:10. 1080/14737167.2018.1485097

- 29. Zhu J, Fang F, Sjölander A, Fall K, Adami HO, Valdimarsdóttir U. First-onset mental disorders after cancer diagnosis and cancer-specific mortality: a nationwide cohort study. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(8):1964–1969. doi:10.1093/ annonc/mdx265
- 30. Graboyes EM, Chaiyachati KH, Sisto Gall J, Johnson W, Krishnan JA, McManus SS, et al. Addressing transportation insecurity among patients with cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2022;114(12):1593–1600. doi:10.1093/jnci/djac134
- 31. Wercholuk AN, Parikh AA, Snyder RA. The road less traveled: transportation barriers to cancer care delivery in the rural patient population. *JCO Oncol Pract.* 2022;18(9): 652–662. doi:10.1200/OP.22.00122
- 32. Maruthappu M, Watkins J, Noor AM, Williams C, Ali R, Sullivan R, et al. Economic downturns, universal health coverage, and cancer mortality in high-income and middleincome countries, 1990–2010: a longitudinal analysis. *Lancet.* 2016;388(10045):684–695. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00577-8
- 33. Singh GK, Jemal A. Socioeconomic and racial/ethnic disparities in cancer mortality, incidence, and survival in the United States, 1950–2014: over six decades of changing patterns and widening inequalities. J Environ Public Health. 2017;2017:2819372. doi:10.1155/2017/2819372
- 34. Ko H, Chang Y, Kim HN, Kang J-H, Shin H, Sung E, et al. Low-level alcohol consumption and cancer mortality. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):4585. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-84181-1
- 35. Kunzmann AT, Coleman HG, Huang WY, Berndt SI. The association of lifetime alcohol use with mortality and cancer risk in older adults: a cohort study. *PLoS Med.* 2018;15(6): e1002585. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002585
- 36. De Pergola G, Silvestris F. Obesity as a major risk factor for cancer. *J Obes.* 2013;2013:291546. doi:10.1155/2013/291546
- 37. Pati S, Irfan W, Jameel A, Ahmed S, Shahid RK. Obesity and cancer: a current overview of epidemiology, pathogenesis, outcomes, and management. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2023;15(2):485. doi:10.3390/cancers15020485

Table

Table. Variables and definitions for Study of Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, United States, 2004–2018

Variable ^a	Definition ^b	Sources	
Total cancer mortality rate	The number of deaths, with all types of cancer as the underlying cause of death, occurring in a specified population during a time frame.	CDC Wide-ranging ONline Data for Epidemiologic Research (WONDER) (12)	
Demographic characteristics			
Age	Age of respondent, grouped as \geq 65 or <65 years.	American Community Survey (15)	
Race and ethnicity			
Non-Hispanic American Indian or Alaska Native	A person having origins in any of the original peoples of North and South America (including Central America) and who maintains tribal affiliation or community attachment.	American Community Survey (15)	
Non-Hispanic Asian	A person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, or the Indian subcontinent including, for example, Cambodia, China, India, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Pakistan, the Philippine Islands, Thailand, and Vietnam.	American Community Survey (15)	
Non-Hispanic Black or African American	A person having origins in any of the Black racial groups of Africa.	American Community Survey (15)	
Hispanic	A person of Cuban, Mexican, Puerto Rican, South or Central American, or other Spanish culture or origin regardless of race.	American Community Survey (15)	
Non-Hispanic Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander	A person having origins in any of the original peoples of Hawaii, Guam, Samoa, or other Pacific Islands. This includes people who reported detailed Pacific Islander responses such as Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander; Fijian; Chamorro; Marshallese; Native Hawaiian; Other Micronesian; Other Pacific Islander; not Specified; Other Polynesian; Samoan; and Tonga.	American Community Survey (15)	
Non-Hispanic White	A person having origins in any of the original peoples of Europe, the Middle East, or North Africa.	American Community Survey (15)	
Sex	Respondents mark either male or female to indicate their biological sex.	American Community Survey (15)	
Health behaviors			
Smoking	Percentage of adults that reported currently smoking.	Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (14)	
Obesity	Percentage of adults that report having a body mass index \geq 30.	Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (14)	
Physical inactivity	Percentage of adults that report no leisure-time physical activity.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Drinking	Percentage of adults that report excessive drinking.	Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (14)	
Access to care, health literacy, health conditions			
Lacks health insurance	Respondents who do not have health insurance coverage as from private health insurance or public coverage	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
High school education	Respondents who received at least a regular high school diploma and did not attend college were instructed to report "regular high school diploma."	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Unemployment	Respondents aged \geq 16 years who were neither "at work" nor "with a job but not at work" during the reference week and were actively looking for work during the last 4 weeks, and were available to start a job.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Mammography screening	Percentage of female Medicare enrollees having ≥1 mammogram in 2 years.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Preventable hospital stay	Discharges for ambulatory care sensitive conditions per 1,000 Medicare enrollees.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Primary care physicians	Primary care physicians per 100,000 population.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Poor health	Percentage of adults that report fair or poor health.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	
Poor health days	Average number of reported physically unhealthy days per month.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)	

^a Total cancer death rate is the dependent variable; all others are independent variables.

^b Definitions are from original data sources.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table. Variables and definitions for Study of Cancer Disparities and Associated Risk Factors, United States, 2004–2018

Variable ^a	Definition ^b	Sources
Poor mental health days	Average number of reported mentally unhealthy days per month.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)
Mental health providers	Mental health providers per 100,000 population.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)
Economic stability		
Housing problem	Percentage of households with at least 1 of 4 housing problems: overcrowding, high housing costs, lack of kitchen, lack of plumbing facilities.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)
Household without vehicle	Percentage of households that do not own ≥ 1 vehicle.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)
Median household income	A measure that divides the selected monthly owner costs as a percentage of household income distribution into 2 equal parts: one-half of the cases falling below the median selected monthly owner costs as a percentage of household income and one-half above the median	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)
Transportation	Percentage of housing units with no vehicle available.	County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (16)

^a Total cancer death rate is the dependent variable; all others are independent variables.

^b Definitions are from original data sources.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E34

MAY 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

The Cost of Medications at a Student-Run Free Clinic in New Haven, Connecticut, 2021–2023

Claudia See, BS¹; Krupa Hegde²; Lucy Reid²; Ryan Shi, BS³; Ragini Luthra, BA¹; Weilai Dong, PhD¹; Viola Lee, MPH³; Angela Kang-Giaimo, MD, MPH⁴

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/23_0277.htm

Suggested citation for this article: See C, Hegde K, Reid L, Shi R, Luthra R, Dong W, et al. The Cost of Medications at a Student-Run Free Clinic in New Haven, Connecticut, 2021–2023. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:230277. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.230277.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

People who lack health insurance also often lack access to medical services and cannot afford prescription medications. Inability to pay for prescription medications can lead to medication nonadherence.

What is added by this report?

Among patients at a free clinic, 64% required financial assistance to obtain prescribed medications, and 22% were prescribed an expensive medication, defined as medication costing more than \$20.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Prescription assistance programs, discount coupons, transportation to pharmacies, and home delivery are ways to make medications more affordable. Student volunteer patient navigators demonstrate the positive effect of student-run clinics on improving access to medications among low-income groups.

Abstract

Introduction

Haven is a student-run free clinic in New Haven, Connecticut, that serves more than 500 patients annually. Haven's pharmacy department helps patients obtain medications by providing discount coupons or medications from the clinic's in-house pharmacy, directly paying for medications at local pharmacies, and delivering medications to patients' homes. This study aimed to identify prescriptions that have the highest cost among Haven patients.

Methods

Our sample consisted of all Haven patients who attended the clinic from March 2021 through March 2023. Patients were eligible to be seen at Haven if they were aged 18 to 65 years, lacked health insurance, and lived in New Haven. We determined the lowest cost of each medication prescribed to Haven patients by comparing prices among local pharmacies after applying a GoodRx discount. We defined expensive medication as more than \$20 per prescription. We excluded medical supplies.

Results

Of the 594 Haven patients in our sample, 64% (n = 378) required financial assistance and 22% (n = 129) were prescribed at least 1 expensive medication. Among 129 patients prescribed an expensive medication, the mean (SD) age was 45.0 (12.3) years; 65% were women, and 87% were Hispanic or Latino. Median (IQR) household annual income was \$14,400 [\$0-\$24,000]. We identified 246 expensive medications; the median (IQR) price per prescribed expensive medications were fluticasone propionate/salmeterol (accounting for 6% of all expensive medications), medroxyprogesterone acetate (6%), albuterol sulfate (5%), and rosuvastatin (5%).

Conclusion

The average Haven patient has an income well below the federal poverty level, and many have chronic cardiovascular and respiratory conditions that require expensive medications. Future research should work toward making medications universally affordable.

Introduction

Solutions are needed to address the financial cost of medications among people without health insurance. Lack of health insurance is a cause of medication nonadherence and a barrier to improved health. Haven Free Clinic is a student-run primary care clinic that serves more than 500 unique patients annually in 20 departments



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/23_0277.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

ranging from pharmacy to social services. Haven's catchment area is the greater New Haven area in Connecticut. The Haven pharmacy department assists patients in obtaining affordable medication by providing discount coupons, distributing over-the-counter medications from Haven's basic in-house pharmacy, paying for medication at local pharmacies, and delivering medications to patients' homes.

Medication nonadherence is common among patients with low socioeconomic status (1). In 2022, adults without health insurance were more than 2 times as likely as adults with private health insurance to report delaying or not getting a medication due to cost (12.3% vs 5.4%) (2). In 2019, 12.5% of adults aged 19 to 64 years in New Haven had no health insurance (Mark Abraham, executive director, DataHaven, email communication, January 2024), slightly lower than the national rate of 12.9% (2). This comparatively lower rate was in part due to the Affordable Care Act (ACA) (3), which expanded Medicaid insurance for people with low incomes (<138% of the federal poverty level [FPL]) in 31 states, including Connecticut. Among New Haven residents covered by health insurance as a result of the ACA, 77% are members of racial and ethnic minority populations, 73% have no education beyond high school, and 64% live in working families (4). In New Haven in 2019, 26% of the Latino population, 8% of the Black population, and 6% of the non-Hispanic White population had no health insurance (5). New Haven is a town of 134,023 residents (5) and approximately 21 neighborhoods (6); the median income ranges from \$31,250 to \$87,384 (7). To date, no studies have described the medications and their associated medical conditions that impose the greatest financial burden on people without health insurance. This study investigates this question by using data from the single-center Haven database.

Methods

This study is a retrospective review of the Haven pharmacy departments' internal medication database and patient electronic medical records. We included data on all patients seeking care at Haven's weekly Saturday clinic during a 2-year period, from March 6, 2021, to March 4, 2023. People are eligible to receive care at Haven if they are aged 18 to 65 years, have no health insurance, and live in New Haven County. Patients who have diabetes and require insulin, have HIV/AIDs, need prenatal care, or are receiving active chemotherapy are referred to other health centers and thus were not included in our analyses. Patients who opted out of research were also excluded from our analyses.

The Haven clinic

A student-run clinic is a health care delivery program in which students take primary responsibility for the logistics and operational management of services under the supervision of faculty advisors. Frequently, a student-run clinic serves low-income patients who may not have health insurance, are experiencing homelessness, or are at high risk of inadequate management of serious medical problems ranging from hypertension to substance use disorder and violence. Often, student-run clinics provide free access to various services — including blood pressure screening, vaccinations, medications, and laboratory work — and provide low-cost acute care and chronic case management (8).

The Haven Free Clinic (www.havenfreeclinic.com) is a studentrun clinic founded in 2005 that partners with Yale University to provide the New Haven community access to comprehensive, high-quality health care free of charge. Haven is run by a group of students from the Yale School of Medicine, Yale School of Nursing, Yale School of Public Health, Yale Physician Associate Program, and Yale University. All health care services are provided by Yale students, under the supervision of licensed physicians, nurse practitioners, and physician associates from the Yale community.

Haven's existing patient population is predominantly Latino (90%) and Spanish-speaking (85%). The average age of Haven patients is 35 years. However, the clinic serves a diverse population of patients who cannot afford medical care. Many Haven patients have not received medical care for at least 2 to 3 years before coming to Haven (9).

The Haven pharmacy department is made up of graduate and undergraduate students and is typically run by 4 student codirectors assisted by 20 volunteers. The codirectors maintain the in-house inventory of medications, distribute in-house medications at clinic, coordinate pharmacy donation deliveries from nonprofit organizations, assist in the purchase of over-the-counter and prescribed medications (often via telephone), help patients enroll in prescription assistance programs, and coordinate delivery of medications to patient homes. At the clinic, volunteers assist codirectors to perform these tasks. Their main responsibilities are to help distribute medications and identify the most affordable medication options for patients by using GoodRx coupons.

Study population

The largest proportion (45%) of Haven's patient population resides in Fair Haven (one of the poorest neighborhoods in New Haven), where the median annual household income was \$45,966 in 2021 (10). The Hill, where 17% of the Haven patient population resides, had a median annual household income of \$45,416 in 2021 (11). For comparison, in 2021, the median annual US household income was \$70,784 (12), \$83,572 in Connecticut (13), and \$48,973 in New Haven (14). The unemployment rates in Con-

necticut and in New Haven in 2021 were both 6% (13, 14). The only retail pharmacy that accepts payment over the telephone in New Haven is located in Amity, which poses transportation problems for patients who live 3 to 6 miles away in Fair Haven and the Hill and lack a mode of transportation (Figure 1). Amity is more affluent than the neighborhoods in which our patients live, with a median income of \$81,809 in 2021 (16). Neighborhoods in New Haven such as Fair Haven and the Hill may be "pharmacy deserts" — areas with inadequate access to retail pharmacies that disproportionately affect low-income people (17–19).



Figure 1. Location of neighborhoods in New Haven, Connecticut. A large proportion (62%) of Haven's patients live in either the Hill or Fair Haven, 3 to 6 miles from Amity, which has the only retail pharmacy in New Haven that accepts payment over the telephone. Map tiles by Stamen Design, under CC BY 4.0 (15). Data by OpenStreetMap, under ODbL, adapted by the Yale MacMillan Center, which added static neighborhood labels to the image, and used with permission. In addition, 2 red circles were added to highlight low-income neighborhoods (Fair Haven and Hill), and a purple circle was added to highlight a high-income neighborhood (Amity).

Data collection

We extracted the following demographic and health data for each patient from Haven's electronic medical records: age (in years), sex (male or female), ethnicity (Hispanic or Latino or not), employment (employed or not employed), annual individual income (calculated as weekly income multiplied by 48 weeks or biweekly income multiplied by 24 weeks), annual household income (annual individual income combined for each patient and their legally married spouse if applicable), neighborhood residence within New Haven (21 choices), *International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision, Clinical Modification* (20) diagnosis or diagnoses for which each expensive medication was prescribed, and comorbidities (all other medical conditions each patient has, excluding diagnoses). The electronic medical records do not include information on race.

Haven's pharmacy department maintains a database of all medications prescribed by Haven physicians, regardless of where they are dispensed or distributed. The database includes information on medications for which the pharmacy department made external payments to retail pharmacies or for which patients were given the lowest-priced GoodRx coupon to purchase the medication on their own. GoodRx is a free mobile app and website that finds the lowest prescription prices in a person's neighborhood (21). We excluded medications if 1) data components (eg, price or pharmacy) were not recorded in the database, 2) they were distributed at the clinic rather than paid for at another pharmacy, 3) they were obtained via pharmaceutical company prescription assistance programs, or 4) they were blood pressure cuffs, orthotic braces, or diabetic test supplies. We excluded these medical supplies so that we could focus on medications that directly treat medical conditions. We also excluded insulin because Haven refers patients requiring insulin to other clinics for specialized care.

The medication prices listed in our study are the prices listed on the GoodRx website (www.goodrx.com), which ranges by pharmacy and its location. Haven pharmacy codirectors chose the dispensing pharmacy on the basis of patient preference and the lowest possible price indicated by a GoodRx coupon. We defined expensive medication as medication that cost more than \$20 per prescription, regardless of filled amount. We used this \$20 cutoff because it is the amount that Haven asks patients to contribute toward prescriptions if they are able. Generally, patients are prescribed enough medication to last them 2 or 3 months, usually until their next visit. Thus, although doses and routes of administration (eg, oral vs topical) may differ, the period of use for each prescription should be similar. We extracted data on the following characteristics of the expensive medications: route of administration (oral, topical, intramuscular, inhalation, otic, suppository, ophthalmic, or vaginal), price per prescription, and type of pharmacy where prescription was filled. We grouped pharmacies into the following categories: retail pharmacy (CVS, Rite Aid, Stop & Shop, Walgreens, and Walmart), mail order pharmacy (Blink Health and Amazon), and hospital pharmacy (Yale New Haven Health Apothecary). We determined the top 10 most commonly prescribed medications and summarized their characteristics (gen-
eric name, brand name, number of patients prescribed the medication, the medication count per patient, the range of prices paid, the mean price, the dose, the route of delivery, the type of pharmacy that filled the prescription, and the quantity prescribed).

We determined that 594 unique patients attended medical visits at Haven during our study period. We used Epic's Department Appointment Report data from electronic medical records and an internal Haven database stored on Microsoft Teams (Microsoft Corp) to count the total number of unique patients. Medical visits were defined as medical, reproductive health, or tuberculosis therapy appointments.

For data analysis, we calculated percentages for categorical variables and mean (SD) or median (IQR) for continuous variables. We used R version 4.2.3 (R Project for Statistical Computing) to conduct analyses. This study received approval from the Yale Institutional Review Board (no. 2000033657). Data generated during or analyzed for this study are not publicly available because of privacy and ethical restrictions.

Results

Of 594 unique patients attending Haven for medical visits, 64% (n = 378) required financial assistance from Haven's pharmacy department and 22% (n = 129) were prescribed an expensive medication. The mean (SD) age of patients receiving an expensive medication was 45.0 (12.3) years; 65% were female and 87% were Hispanic or Latino (Table 1). Forty-five percent lived in Fair Haven, followed by 17% in the Hill and 10% in the Annex. Sixty percent of these patients were employed. Median (IQR) individual and household annual incomes were \$11,350 (0-\$19,200) and \$14,400 (0-\$24,000), respectively. Of the 263 unique diagnoses associated with the expensive medications, the most common were contraceptive management (9%; n = 24), hyperlipidemia (8%; n = 21), and asthma (8%; n = 21).

The 129 patients were prescribed 113 unique expensive medications encompassing 246 total prescriptions for 263 unique medical diagnoses, totaling \$10,967.78 in costs and averaging \$42.51 per patient per year. The median (IQR) price per prescription (n = 246 prescriptions), regardless of amount filled was \$31.43 (\$24.00–\$52.02) (Table 2). Of the 113 unique expensive medications, most (82%; n = 93) were purchased from retail pharmacies, followed by mail order pharmacy (8%; n = 9) and a combination of retail pharmacy and mail order pharmacy (4%; n = 5).

Among the 246 prescribed medications, the most frequently prescribed were fluticasone propionate/salmeterol (6%; n = 14), medroxyprogesterone acetate (6%; n = 14), albuterol sulfate (5%; n = 12), and rosuvastatin (5%; n = 12) (Table 2 and Table 3). The most expensive medications were budesonide (\$170.00 for 60 doses of a 90 µg/actuation inhaler), ciprofloxacin-dexamethasone (\$146.10 for 7.5 mL of a 0.3%-0.1% otic solution), budesonide-formoterol (\$139.43 for 120 doses of an 80/4.5µg actuation inhaler), and fluticasone propionate/salmeterol (\$135.00 for 60 doses of a 113–114 µg/actuation inhaler). Three of these 4 most expensive medications were inhalers prescribed for asthma, while the fourth medication — ciprofloxacin-dexamethasone was prescribed for tympanic rupture. Of the total cost for the 246 prescriptions, 19% of the cost was for a pulmonary condition (n = 31 prescriptions), 11% was for a neurologic condition (n = 27 prescriptions), and another 11% was for a cardiovascular condition (n = 41 prescriptions) (Figure 2). Several patients accounted for substantial medication costs: 1 patient received 3 prescriptions of acetazolamide for idiopathic intracranial hypertension (\$239.95 total), another received 3 testosterone gels for hypogonadism (\$184.98 total), and 2 patients received 2 prescriptions each of tretinoin for acne vulgaris (\$171.94 and \$101.03 total).



Figure 2. The costs of the 246 expensive prescriptions by type of medical condition treated, Haven Free Clinic, New Haven, Connecticut, March 2021–March 2023. At the top of each bar, the percentage indicates the percentage of the total costs of the expensive medications (\$10,967.78) during the study period, and the n's indicate the number of prescriptions. An expensive medication was defined as one that cost more than \$20.

Discussion

Our study is among the first to describe the financial burden of prescription medications among people without health insurance at a student-run free clinic. Our patient population lives well below the federal poverty level: the median individual annual income was \$11,350 and the median annual household income was \$14,400, whereas the Connecticut federal poverty level thresholds in 2023 were \$14,580, \$19,720, and \$24,860 for a 1-, 2-, and 3-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

member household, respectively (22). Some common conditions, such as type 2 diabetes and hypertension, can usually be treated with low-cost first-line agents. However, our study showed that other conditions require costly treatments, namely hyperlipidemia, treated with a daily statin for the patient's lifetime; chronic asthma, treated indefinitely with inhalers; and contraceptive management, requiring oral or injected contraceptive medication for years. The pattern in the most common comorbidities of our patient population is similar to the pattern found in a 2019 cross-sectional study of patients (n = 150) at 2 community health centers in Georgia: endocrine and metabolic disorders (86.0% vs 64.3% in our study), circulatory system diseases (79.3% vs 48.8% in our study), and mental disorders (25.3% vs 20.9% in our study) (1).

Our patients' location of residence also validates existing literature on neighborhood-based disparities in medical access. One 2012 study described a lack of community pharmacies in lowincome communities, segregated Black communities, and federally designated Medically Underserved Areas in Chicago (23). Another 2012 study found that pharmacies in low-income neighborhoods in New York City had significantly higher odds of having out-of-stock medications than pharmacies in higher-income neighborhoods (odds ratio = 1.24; 95% CI, 1.02-1.52) (24). A third study, in 2015, found increased medication prices and decreased access to home delivery services in socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods in Tennessee (25). In our contemporary study, we observed a similar lack of accessible pharmacies in the low-income neighborhoods where our patients reside. As hundreds of retail pharmacies nationwide closed in 2023 due to increasing competition, opioid lawsuits, and other forces, pharmacy deserts are likely to increase in number (26).

Health insurance would help our patients receive partial or full coverage for prescription medications. However, in our patient population, many cannot afford private health insurance, many are not provided health insurance by their employers, and many do not qualify for low-income health insurance through Husky Health (Connecticut's Medicaid). These factors account for the health insurance coverage gap described in the literature (27). We speculate that some patients at Haven — with no insurance, low health literacy, and language barriers (87% of our patients speak primarily Spanish) — may never obtain their medications or resort to paying retail price.

Haven's policy is to provide every patient with the medication they need while doing its best to keep within an annual pharmacy budget of \$10,000. To accomplish this goal, Haven seeks financial support from external programs to cover medication costs for patients at retail pharmacies. In particular, during the study period, the clinic received a 1-time \$2,500 donation and up to \$2,100 in monthly cash aid debit cards from the GoodRx Helps Medication Assistance Program (28). These funds were distributed directly to patients for medication purchases.

The clinic also applied to patient assistance programs on behalf of patients, such as the program administered by the Boehringer Ingelheim Cares Foundation (29) that provides free sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors to patients with type 2 diabetes, and the program administered by the US Department of Health and Human Services that provides free access to daily oral HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis medication for people at risk of acquiring HIV. Although three 120-day rifampin medications (4-month rifampin monotherapy) were prescribed and paid for at \$128.94 each during our study period, the Connecticut Department of Public Health now provides rifampin at no cost through a tuberculosis control program it implemented (30). In 2022 and 2023, Haven treated at least 12 patients annually with rifampin for latent tuberculosis through this program.

Because of the positive effect of patient assistance programs on medication access and affordability, Haven identified a list of patient assistance programs in which patients can be enrolled. The most frequently prescribed expensive medication in our study fluticasone propionate/salmeterol (an inhaler prescribed to treat asthma) - was offered by GSK's prescription assistance program as Advair Diskus/HFA. However, this program was not widely used by Haven's patients because they often needed medication urgently and could not wait for program approval, which often took longer than anticipated and sometimes ended with a rejection or request for further documentation. Another common reason for not using GSK's program was that patients preferred a newer inhaler with the same ingredients - AirDuo RespiClick. An additional hurdle associated with prescription assistance programs is that they often discontinue medications without much advance notice. For example, in summer 2023, GSK removed Advair Diskus/ HFA from the list of medications available in its program (31), and AstraZeneca announced that Pulmicort Flexhaler (budesonide) and Symbicort (budesonide/formoterol) - also inhalers to treat asthma — would be phased out by the end of 2023 (32).

Currently, only 1 retail pharmacy in the New Haven area accepts payment over the telephone from the Haven pharmacy, which is likely the reason it is the most common pharmacy used by Haven's patients. Paying for medications over the telephone on behalf of patients increases the speed, convenience, and likelihood of patients obtaining their prescription medication. Retail pharmacies offer some of the most affordable medication prices; however, some patients lack transportation to go to one of these pharmacies. Many pharmacies have declined accepting telephone

payments because of company policy and to prevent fraud, but expanding the number of pharmacies where third parties can pay for patient medications via telephone would increase the options Haven can provide to patients to alleviate their financial burden. Additionally, expanding Haven's options to deliver medications directly to patient homes would benefit patients. So far, these home delivery services have not been widely used at Haven because these medications tend to be more expensive and delivery can take 7 to 10 business days. Furthermore, not all of Haven's patients have an address where they can receive mailed medications securely.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First, our study is a single-center retrospective review and should be followed by a multicenter study that spans multiple states to capture data on differences in financial burden related to Medicaid expansion. Second, our study did not account for internal decisions made by health care providers to choose less expensive, alternative medications due to price, such as prescribing an AirDuo RespiClick (fluticasone propionate/salmeterol) asthma inhaler over the more expensive Pulmicort Flexhaler (budesonide) inhaler. Thus, the financial and medical effect of these decisions on patients may be greater than captured in our study. Lastly, our database did not include information on the use of prescription assistance programs and the associated cost savings. The Haven pharmacy department hopes to incorporate this into its future workflow.

Conclusion

This study from the Haven free clinic demonstrates that patients without health insurance have a financial burden resulting from having to buy prescription medications for common chronic medical conditions, including hyperlipidemia and asthma. Although Haven is often able to provide patients with affordable treatment through the efforts of 24 student volunteers and codirectors who research and apply for medication assistance programs, seek the lowest-priced options, and many times even deliver medications to patients' homes, student-run clinics cannot be easily scaled to all 7.7 million uninsured people in the US (33). Future research should seek ways to make medications, especially medications considered expensive (>\$20), affordable. Removing financial barriers would improve medication adherence among patients that lack health insurance and may contribute to improved overall health.

Acknowledgments

Krupa Hegde, Lucy Reid, and Ryan Shi contributed equally to this study. The authors received no external financial support for the

research, authorship, or publication of this article. The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, or publication of this article. No copyrighted materials, surveys, instruments, or tools were used.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Claudia See, BS, 65 Dwight Street, Apt 10, New Haven, CT 06511 (claudia.see@yale.edu).

Author Affiliations: ¹Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut. ²Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut. ³Yale School of Public Health, New Haven, Connecticut. ⁴Department of Internal Medicine, Yale New Haven Hospital, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut.

References

- Fernandez-Lazaro CI, Adams DP, Fernandez-Lazaro D, Garcia-González JM, Caballero-Garcia A, Miron-Canelo JA. Medication adherence and barriers among low-income, uninsured patients with multiple chronic conditions. *Res Social Adm Pharm.* 2019;15(6):744–753. doi:10.1016/j.sapharm. 2018.09.006
- Tolbert J, Drake P, Damico A. Key facts about the uninsured population. KFF. Published December 18, 2023. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.kff.org/uninsured/issue-brief/ key-facts-about-the-uninsured-population
- 3. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub L No. 111-148, 124 State 119 (2010). Accessed February 5, 2024. https:// www.congress.gov/111/plaws/pub1148/PLAW-111pub1148. pdf
- 4. Connecticut Health Foundation. *Covering Connecticut: the Effects of the Affordable Care Act on State Residents*. July 18, 2017. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.cthealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/7.18.17-New-Haven.pdf
- 5. DataHaven. New Haven 2021Equity profile. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.ctdatahaven.org/sites/ ctdatahaven/files/new_haven_profile_v1.pdf
- 6. Yale MacMillan Center. New Haven neighborhoods. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://ovef.macmillan.yale.edu/ resources/housing-new-haven/new-haven-neighborhoods
- Best Neighborhood. The highest and lowest income areas in downtown New Haven, New Haven, CT. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://bestneighborhood.org/household-incomedowntown-new-haven-new-haven-ct
- 8. Simpson SA, Long JA. Medical student-run health clinics: important contributors to patient care and medical education. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2007;22(3):352–356. doi:10.1007/s11606-006-0073-4

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 9. Haven Free Clinic. Who we serve. 2021. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.havenfreeclinic.com/about
- 10. City-data.com. Fair Haven neighborhood in New Haven, Connecticut (CT), 06513, 06511 detailed profile. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.city-data.com/neighborhood/ Fair-Haven-New-Haven-CT.html
- City-data.com. Hill neighborhood in New Haven, Connecticut (CT), 06511, 06519 detailed profile. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.city-data.com/neighborhood/Hill-New-Haven-CT.html
- 12. US Census Bureau. Median household income and percent change by selected characteristics. 2021. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/ visualizations/2022/demo/p60-276/figure1.pdf
- US Census Bureau. QuickFacts: Connecticut, United States.
 2022. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.census.gov/ quickfacts/fact/table/CT,US#
- 14. US Census Bureau. QuickFacts: New Haven city, Connecticut. July 1, 2023. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www. census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/newhavencityconnecticut/ PST045222
- 15. Creative Commons. CC by 4.0 deed. Accessed May 28, 2024. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0
- 16. City-data.com. Amity neighborhood in New Haven, Connecticut (CT), 06515 detailed profile. November 28, 2023. http://www.city-data.com/neighborhood/Amity-New-Haven-CT.html
- 17. Guadamuz JS, Alexander GC, Zenk SN, Kanter GP, Wilder JR, Qato DM. Access to pharmacies and pharmacy services in New York City, Los Angeles, Chicago, and Houston, 2015-2020. J Am Pharm Assoc (Wash DC). 2021;61(6):e32–e41. doi:10.1016/j.japh.2021.07.009
- 18. Brînzac MG, Kuhlmann E, Dussault G, Ungureanu MI, Cherecheş RM, Baba CO. Defining medical deserts — an international consensus-building exercise. *Eur J Public Health*. 2023;33(5):785–788. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckad107
- 19. Sahota H, Guzman S, Tordera L, Chan M, Cocohoba J, Saberi P. Pharmacy deserts and pharmacies' roles post-extreme weather and climate events in the United States: a scoping review. J Prim Care Community Health. 2023;14: 21501319231186497. doi:10.1177/21501319231186497
- 20. ICD10Data.com. 2024 ICD-10-CM codes. 2024. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.icd10data.com/ICD10CM/ Codes
- 21. GoodRx. What is GoodRx? How does it work? 2023. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://support.goodrx.com/hc/en-us/ articles/115004944026-What-is-GoodRx-How-does-it-work
- 22. US Department of Health and Human Services. Annual update of the HHS poverty guidelines. *Fed Regist.* 2023;88(12): 3424–3425.

- 23. Qato DM, Daviglus ML, Wilder J, Lee T, Qato D, Lambert B. 'Pharmacy deserts' are prevalent in Chicago's predominantly minority communities, raising medication access concerns. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2014;33(11):1958–1965. doi:10.1377/ hlthaff.2013.1397
- 24. Amstislavski P, Matthews A, Sheffield S, Maroko AR, Weedon J. Medication deserts: survey of neighborhood disparities in availability of prescription medications. Int J Health Geogr. 2012;11(1):48. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-11-48
- 25. Chisholm-Burns MA, Spivey CA, Gatwood J, Wiss A, Hohmeier K, Erickson SR. Evaluation of racial and socioeconomic disparities in medication pricing and pharmacy access and services. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2017;74(10): 653–668. doi:10.2146/ajhp150872
- 26. Gregg A, Peiser J. Drugstore closures are leaving millions without easy access to a pharmacy. The Washington Post. October 22, 2023. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www. washingtonpost.com/business/2023/10/22/drugstore-closepharmacy-deserts
- 27. Garfield R, Orgera K, Damico A. The coverage gap: uninsured poor adults in states that do not expand Medicaid. KFF. January 2020. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://files.kff. org/attachment/Issue-Brief-The-Coverage-Gap-Uninsured-Poor-Adults-in-States-that-Do-Not-Expand-Medicaid
- 28. GoodRx. GoodRx helps medication assistance program to provide free prescriptions to underserved communities. March 4, 2021. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.goodrx. com/corporate/social-impact/introducing-goodrx-helpsphilanthropy-medication-assistance-program
- 29. Boehringer Ingelheim. BI Cares Patient Assistance Program. 2021. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www.boehringeringelheim.com/us/our-responsibility/patient-assistanceprogram
- Connecticut State Department of Public Health. Tuberculosis control program. March 10, 2022. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://portal.ct.gov/DPH/Tuberculosis/Tuberculosis-Control-Program
- 31. GSK. GSK patient assistance program for prescription medicines. 2021. Accessed November 28, 2023. https://www. gskforyou.com/programs/prescription-medicine-patientassistance
- 32. AstraZeneca Prescription Savings Program. AZ&Me Prescription Savings Program. 2024 Income eligibility requirements and Medicare re-enrollment process. Updated December 15, 2023. Accessed November 28, 2023. https:// www.azandmeapp.com/prescriptionsavings/?screenName= showImpProgramUpdatesPage&showNotifications=false

33. US Department of Health and Human Services. New HHS report shows national uninsured rate reached all-time low in 2023 after record-breaking ACA enrollment period. News release. August 3, 2023. Accessed February 5, 2024. https:// www.hhs.gov/about/news/2023/08/03/new-hhs-report-showsnational-uninsured-rate-reached-all-time-low-2023-afterrecord-breaking-aca-enrollment-period.html

Tables

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of 129 Patients and Their 263 Medical Diagnoses for Which Expensive Medications^a Were Prescribed at Haven Free Clinic, New Haven, Connecticut, March 2021–March 2023^b

Characteristic	Value
Age, mean (SD), y	45.0 (12.3)
Female, no./total (%) ^c	82/127 (65)
Hispanic or Latino, no./total (%)	112/129 (87)
Employed, no./total (%) ^d	65/108 (60)
Annual income, median (IQR), \$ ^d	
Individual	11,350 (0-19,200)
Household	14,400 (0-24,000)
Neighborhood residence in New Haven (n = 77), no. (%) ^e	
Fair Haven	35 (45)
Hill	13 (17)
Annex	8 (10)
Fair Haven Heights	5 (6)
Newhallville	4 (5)
East Rock	3 (4)
Edgewood	3 (4)
Quinnipiac Meadows	2 (3)
Prospect Hill	1(1)
Downtown	1(1)
Wooster Square/Mill River	1(1)
Top 10 ICD-10-CM diagnoses, no. (%) ^f	- -
Encounter for contraceptive management, unspecified (Z30.9)	24 (9)
Hyperlipidemia, unspecified (E78.5)	21 (8)
Unspecified asthma, uncomplicated (J45.909)	21 (8)
Primary hypertension (I10)	13 (5)
Gastresophageal reflux disease without esophagitis (K21.9)	7 (3)
Migraine with aura and without status migrainosus, not intractable (G43.109)	6 (2)

Abbreviation: ICD-10-CM, International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision, Clinical Modification.

^a Expensive medication was defined as >\$20 per prescription.

^b Data source: patient electronic medical records.

^c Denominator excludes 2 patients who identified as transgender female.

^d Data on employment and income were available for only 108 patients.

^e Excludes 52 patients whose residence could not be confirmed during the study period.

^f Denominator is the number of unique diagnoses (n = 263) for which 246 expensive medications were prescribed. A patient's electronic medical record sometimes listed 2 related ICD-10-CM code diagnoses (20) for which the same medication was prescribed. One example is seasonal allergies (J30.2) and mild intermittent asthma with acute exacerbation (J45.21) for a \$29.82 montelukast prescription.

^g Denominator is the number of patients (n = 129). Comorbidities are all medical conditions other than the diagnosis for the condition that called for a prescription for an expensive medication.

^h Patients who had diabetes and required insulin were excluded from analysis.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of 129 Patients and Their 263 Medical Diagnoses for Which Expensive Medications^a Were Prescribed at Haven Free Clinic, New Haven, Connecticut, March 2021–March 2023^b

Characteristic	Value
H. pylori infection (B96.81)	5 (2)
Migraine without aura, not intractable, without status migrainosus (G43.009)	5 (2)
Other chronic pain (G89.29)	5 (2)
Acne vulgaris (L70.0)	5 (2)
Top 10 comorbidities, no. (%) ^g	
Hyperlipidemia	46 (36)
Hypertension	42 (33)
Obesity	25 (19)
Type 2 diabetes ^h	22 (17)
Migraine or headache	20 (16)
Gastresophageal reflux disease	18 (14)
Depression	17 (13)
Hypothyroidism	14 (11)
Latent tuberculosis	14 (11)
Anemia	10 (8)

Abbreviation: ICD-10-CM, International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision, Clinical Modification.

^a Expensive medication was defined as >\$20 per prescription.

^b Data source: patient electronic medical records.

^c Denominator excludes 2 patients who identified as transgender female.

^d Data on employment and income were available for only 108 patients.

^e Excludes 52 patients whose residence could not be confirmed during the study period.

^f Denominator is the number of unique diagnoses (n = 263) for which 246 expensive medications were prescribed. A patient's electronic medical record sometimes listed 2 related ICD-10-CM code diagnoses (20) for which the same medication was prescribed. One example is seasonal allergies (J30.2) and mild intermittent asthma with acute exacerbation (J45.21) for a \$29.82 montelukast prescription.

^g Denominator is the number of patients (n = 129). Comorbidities are all medical conditions other than the diagnosis for the condition that called for a prescription for an expensive medication.

^h Patients who had diabetes and required insulin were excluded from analysis.

Table 2. Characteristics of 113 Expensive Medications^a Prescribed at Haven Free Clinic, New Haven, Connecticut, March 2021–March 2023^b

Characteristic	Value
Route of administration, no./113 (%)	·
Oral	80 (71)
Topical	15 (13)
Intramuscular	7 (6)
Inhalation	6 (5)
Otic	2 (2)
Suppository	1(1)
Ophthalmic	1(1)
Vaginal	1(1)
Price per prescription, regardless of filled amount (n = 246), median (IQR), \$ ^a	31.43 (24.00-52.02)
Type of pharmacy, no./113 (%)	
Retail	93 (82)
Mail order	9 (8)
Retail and mail order	5 (4)
Retail and hospital	4 (4)
Hospital	1(1)
Retail, mail order, and hospital	1(1)
Top 10 most commonly prescribed medications, no./246 (%) ^c	
Fluticasone propionate/salmeterol (AirDuo RespiClick)	14 (6)
Medroxyprogesterone acetate (Depo-Provera)	14 (6)
Albuterol sulfate (Proventil HFA)	12 (5)
Rosuvastatin (Crestor)	12 (5)
Sumatriptan (Imigran, Migraitan)	10 (4)
Estradiol (Estrace)	7 (3)
Atorvastatin (Lipitor)	5 (2)
Tamsulosin (Flomax)	5 (2)
Tretinoin (Altreno, Atralin, Avita, Retin-A)	4 (2)
Duloxetine (Cymbalta, Yentreve)	4 (2)

^a Expensive medication was defined as >\$20 per prescription.

^b Data sources: patient electronic medical records and GoodRx (price per prescription).

^c Includes multiple prescriptions of the same 113 unique expensive medications.

Table 3. The Top 10 Most Common Expensive^a Medications Prescribed to Haven Free Clinic Patients, New Haven, Connecticut, March 2021–March 2023^b

Generic name	Brand name	No. of patients	Medication count per patient	Price paid, range, \$ ^c	Mean price, \$	Dose	Route	Pharmacy type	Quantity
Fluticasone propionate and salmeterol	AirDuo RespiClick	7	2.0	31.38-13 5.00	80.80	55–14, 113–14, and 232–14 μg per actuation	Inhaler	Retail	0.45 g
Medroxyprogesterone acetate	Depo-Provera	11	1.3	23.70-36 .24	30.38	150 mg/mL	Intramuscul ar	Retail	1 mL
Albuterol sulfate	Proventil HFA	8	1.5	20.01-64 .80	29.08	90 µg per actuation	Inhaler	Retail	6.7-8.5 g
Rosuvastatin	Crestor	6	2.0	21.00-33 .14	27.97	5-40 mg	Oral	Retail and hospital	60-180 pills
Sumatriptan	Imigran, Migraitan	7	1.4	21.74-77 .36	40.75	50-100 mg	Oral	Retail and mail order	30-90 pills
Estradiol	Estrace	6	1.2	22.00-48 .42	30.58	0.01%	Topical	Retail	42.5 g
Atorvastatin	Lipitor	5	1.0	21.26-38 .00	31.79	10-40 mg	Oral	Retail and mail order	90-180 pills
Tamsulosin	Flomax	3	1.7	22.84-40 .31	31.56	0.4-0.8 mg	Oral	Retail and mail order	90-180 pills
Tretinoin	Altreno, Atralin, Avita, Retin-A	2	2.5	44.22-85 .97	71.79	0.010%-0.0 25%	Topical	Retail	45 g
Duloxetine	Cymbalta, Yentreve	4	1.0	20.98-13 4.40	49.65	20-60 mg	Oral	Retail, mail order, and hospital	60-90 pills

^a Expensive medication defined as >\$20 per prescription.

^b Data sources: patient electronic medical records and GoodRx (price per prescription).

^c After applying GoodRx coupon discount at local pharmacies.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E19

MARCH 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Associations of Increased WIC Benefits for Fruits and Vegetables With Food Security and Satisfaction by Race and Ethnicity

Marisa M. Tsai, MS, MPH¹; Christopher E. Anderson, PhD²; Shannon E. Whaley, PhD²; Catherine E. Yepez, MPH²; Lorrene D. Ritchie, PhD, RD¹; Lauren E. Au, PhD, RD³

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/23 0288.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Tsai MM, Anderson CE, Whaley SE, Yepez CE, Ritchie LD, Au LE. Associations of Increased WIC Benefits for Fruits and Vegetables With Food Security and Satisfaction by Race and Ethnicity. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:230288. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.230288.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Racial and ethnic disparities in food access and dietary intake persist. The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) serves a racially and ethnically diverse population with low income. Trends related to the augmented cash value benefit (CVB) have not been assessed among racial and ethnic groups.

What is added by this report?

Racial and ethnic groups experienced improvements in food security, satisfaction with CVB amounts, and likelihood to continue receiving WIC but differed in baseline levels and magnitude of increases. Results highlight the importance of studying WIC participants by racial and ethnic groups to optimize program quality.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Benefits reported among diverse WIC participants support policies to make the augmented CVB permanent.

Abstract

Introduction

The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) provides nutrition support for racially and ethnically diverse populations. In 2021, the monthly cash value benefit (CVB) for the purchase of fruits and vegetables increased from \$9 to \$35 and was later adjusted to \$24. This study investigated, by racial and ethnic groups, whether CVB increases were associated with increases in CVB redemption, household food secur-

ity, child fruit and vegetable intake, satisfaction with CVB amount, and likelihood of continued participation in WIC if the CVB returned to \$9 per month.

Methods

We conducted a longitudinal study of WIC participants (N = 1,770) in southern California at 3 time points, from April 2021 through May 2022; the CVB amount was \$9 at baseline, \$35 at Survey 2, and \$24 at Survey 3. Racial and ethnic groups were Hispanic English-speakers, Hispanic Spanish-speakers, non-Hispanic Asian, non-Hispanic Black, non-Hispanic Other, and non-Hispanic White. We used mixed-effect and modified Poisson regressions to evaluate outcomes by group.

Results

At baseline, groups differed significantly in dollars of CVB redeemed, percentage of CVB redeemed, household food security, and satisfaction with CVB amount. After the increase in CVB, we found increases in all groups in CVB redemption, household food security, and satisfaction. Non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic English-speaking groups, who had low levels of satisfaction at baseline, had larger increases in satisfaction than other groups. Reported likelihood of continued WIC participation if the monthly CVB returned to \$9 also differed significantly by group, ranging from 62.5% to 90.0%.

Conclusion

The increase in CVB for children receiving WIC benefited all racial and ethnic groups. Continued investment in an augmented CVB could improve health outcomes for a racially and ethnically diverse WIC population.

Introduction

The federally funded Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) provides nutritious food, nu-



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/23 0288.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

trition education, breastfeeding support, and referrals to health and social services for infants, children, and pregnant and postpartum women from households with low income (1). The program serves a racially and ethnically diverse population: in 2018, 59% selfreported race as White, 22% as Black or African American, 9% as American Indian or Alaska Native, 6% as 2 or more races, 4% as Asian, and 1% as Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander; 41% selfreported ethnicity as Hispanic (2).

The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated racial and ethnic disparities in health and decreased household food security among households with children (3-5). In response, through the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, the US Department of Agriculture temporarily increased the cash value benefit (CVB) for fruits and vegetables in the WIC food package for children aged 1 to 4 years from \$9 per month per child to \$35 per month per child from June through September 2021 (6,7). In October 2021, the CVB augmentation was extended and adjusted to \$24 per month; in October 2022, it was further revised to \$25 per month (8,9). Studies reported increases in fruit and vegetable intake, household food security, and satisfaction with the CVB amount after the CVB augmentation (10-14); however, no studies have assessed trends by race and ethnicity. Given the diverse racial and ethnic make-up of WIC participants and previously reported differences in the association between WIC program elements and outcomes among racial and ethnic groups, examining potential differences in outcomes across groups is an important consideration for program effectiveness (15-18).

The CVB for fruits and vegetables is a unique component of WIC food packages in that it maximizes flexibility in choices and allows for the food preferences of the many cultural, racial, and ethnic groups served (19). Fruit and vegetable consumption among US children falls below the recommendations of the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2020-2025, particularly among children from low-income households (20-22). Adherence to the dietary guidelines can reduce the risk of heart disease, diabetes, and obesity; these diet-related health conditions disproportionately affect racial and ethnic minority populations (21,23). An augmented CVB can reduce racial and ethnic disparities in health by increasing access to fruits and vegetables and program participation, through increased program appeal and cultural accessibility (19). Furthermore, differences in intake of fruits and vegetables, preferences for components of the WIC food package, and satisfaction with WIC services among racial and ethnic groups receiving WIC (15–18) support the need for evaluating the CVB augmentation by group. For example, a 2019 survey in California found that while the most common motivation across racial and ethnic groups for WIC participation was the fruit and vegetable component, Hispanic Spanish-speakers were more likely than other racial and ethnic groups to be satisfied with the CVB amount (16,17). The objective of this study was to investigate, by racial and ethnic group, whether the CVB augmentation was associated with increases in CVB redemption, household food security, fruit and vegetable intake, and satisfaction in CVB amounts in a racially and ethnically diverse sample of children in California receiving WIC.

Methods

The study team conducted a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1 [baseline], April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022). The survey population was selected to ensure that the sample included broad representation of the racially and ethnically diverse WIC population. Further detail on the 3 surveys is available elsewhere (10).

Participants and recruitment

We selected all caregivers with age-eligible children from WIC administrative records and notified them about the survey by SMS message. Up to 6 follow-up texts were sent. Survey 2 and Survey 3 were limited to participants of the baseline survey to facilitate assessment of changes in outcomes. We entered Survey 2 and Survey 3 participants into a raffle for \$50 gift cards; 20 winners were chosen at random for each survey. At the end of each survey, participants were asked for their consent to use their responses for research. The California Department of Health and Human Services Institutional Review Board approved the study.

Instruments

Surveys were administered online in English or Spanish. To capture data on household composition and size, the survey assessed the number of children in the household receiving WIC and whether the household had children aged <18 years. The survey examined household food security, fruit and vegetable intake, satisfaction with the CVB amount, likelihood of continuing to participate in WIC, and change in amount and variety of fruits and vegetables consumed. Questions were written in English, translated into Spanish by native Spanish speakers, piloted, and revised accordingly. For each child receiving WIC, respondents reported the first 2 letters of the child's name and their sex, year of birth, and fruit and vegetable intake. We determined CVB redemption amounts and percentage by examining data from electronic benefit transfer card transactions.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

We collected self-reported data on respondent race, ethnicity, and maternal language preference from WIC administrative data. Race categories were Asian (including Indian, Cambodian, Chinese, Filipino, Hmong, Japanese, Korean, Laotian, Vietnamese, Thai), Black (including Black or African American), White, and Other (including multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native). Ethnicity included Hispanic and non-Hispanic. We combined race, ethnicity, and language into the following categories: Hispanic English-speaking, Hispanic Spanish-speaking, non-Hispanic Asian, non-Hispanic Black, non-Hispanic Other, and non-Hispanic White. We conducted separate analyses of Hispanic groups by language because English-speaking and Spanish-speaking Hispanic participants have different levels of fruit and vegetable intake and satisfaction with WIC (18,24).

Outcome variables

Redemption of CVB. We assessed monthly CVB redemption by household in 2 ways: as a dollar amount of allotment redeemed and as percentage of total allotment redeemed. Data on redemption are captured at the household level, so households with multiple WIC participants receive higher CVB amounts than households with a single WIC participant. Redemption from May 2021, Sept 2021, and May 2022 align with Survey 1, Survey 2, and Survey 3, respectively.

Household food security. Household food security at each time point was assessed by using the US Department of Agriculture's 6-item Food Security Survey Module (25). The tool is designed to capture household food security status during the previous 30 days at the household level; we dichotomized responses as food secure or food insecure according to protocol.

Fruit and vegetable intake of child. Fruit and vegetable intake during the previous 30 days was assessed for each child receiving WIC, at each time point, by using the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Dietary Screener Questionnaire (26), a validated tool to measure dietary intake among US populations. Scoring algorithms converted responses to estimated quantities of fruit and vegetable intake (in cups per day), based on age- and sexspecific 24-hour dietary recall (27). We calculated total fruit and vegetable, including legumes, fried potatoes, and 100% juice.

Satisfaction with CVB amount. Respondents were asked, "What do you think about the [\$9, \$35, or \$24] amount for fruits and vegetables for children ages 1 through 4 on WIC? Would you say it is [too much, not enough, just right, don't know]?" This question was adapted from a previous survey (24). We dichotomized these

answers into satisfied (too much, just right) and not satisfied (not enough). We excluded from analyses responses of "don't know" (<5% of responses).

Changes in amount and variety of fruit and vegetable intake. Only Survey 3 assessed these outcomes. Respondents were asked, "Has the increase in the fruit and vegetable benefit changed the VARI-ETY or NUMBER of DIFFERENT TYPES of fruits your child eats?" and "Has the increase in fruit and vegetable benefit changed the AMOUNT of fruits your child eats?" Questions for vegetables followed the same format. Because some respondents had multiple children receiving WIC, questions were asked in reference to their eldest child receiving WIC. Respondents reported whether their child ate more, the same, or less variety and a greater, the same, or a lesser amount. Another response option was "don't know/not sure." We dichotomized responses into increased variety or amount and did not increase variety or amount. We excluded from analysis responses of "don't know/not sure" (<3% of responses). Questions were adapted from a previous WIC survey (28).

Likelihood of continuing WIC. Survey 3 respondents were asked, "If the amount you receive for fruits and vegetables went back to \$9 instead of \$24 per month, how likely are you to keep coming to WIC for your children between age 1-4?" Answer options were "very likely," "somewhat likely," "somewhat unlikely," and "not very likely." We dichotomized responses into likely (very likely, somewhat likely) and unlikely (somewhat unlikely, not very likely).

Data analysis

We identified and matched individual children across surveys at each time point by using the first 2 letters of their name, their sex, and birth year. We limited the analytic sample to children with at least 1 follow-up survey completed and analyzed these data at the child level. We calculated descriptive statistics for baseline demographic characteristics for the full sample and for each racial and ethnic group. We used analysis-of-variance *F* tests and χ^2 tests of independence to test for demographic differences between groups.

We assessed the dichotomous variables of household food security and satisfaction with CVB amount by using generalized estimating equation (GEE) modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families (29). We adjusted models for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of 3 or more children (aged <18 y) in the household. We evaluated continuous outcomes (CVB redemption dollar amount, CVB redemption percentage, and child fruit and vegetable intake) in mixed-effects regression models accommodating

repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, and adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and presence of 3 or more children (aged <18 y) in the household. The model with child fruit and vegetable intake as the outcome also adjusted for baseline fruit and vegetable intake and child sex and included random intercepts and random slope for child age.

We assessed results by racial and ethnic group in 3 ways. First, we stratified data by group and calculated descriptive statistics on the outcomes of interest at each time point. We tested differences between average values of each outcome between time points separately by group to evaluate within-group trends. If the overall P value for differences over time was significant at a .05 level, we assessed pairwise comparisons. Second, we tested whether a racial or ethnic group modified the effect of time on average values of outcomes by including an interaction between group and time point in regression models. Baseline data served as the reference point. We expressed estimates for dichotomous outcomes as prevalence rate ratios (PRRs) and 95% CIs and estimates for continuous outcomes as mean differences and 95% CIs. Finally, we assessed between-group differences in outcomes at each time point, using Hispanic English-speakers as the reference; we expressed dichotomous outcomes as PRRs and 95% CIs and continuous outcomes as mean differences and 95% CIs. If the overall P value for differences by racial and ethnic group was significant at a .05 level, we assessed pairwise comparisons.

For the questions in Survey 3 about changes in amount and variety of fruit and vegetable intake and likelihood of continuing with WIC if the CVB amount returned to \$9 per month, we assessed differences by racial and ethnic group by using GEE-modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and presence of 3 or more children (aged <18 y) in the household. If the overall *P* value for differences by racial and ethnic group was significant at a .05 level, we assessed pairwise comparisons. We conducted all analyses in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc). All statistical tests were 2-sided, and P < .05 was considered significant.

Results

Surveys were completed for a total of 3,000 children from 2,784 families at baseline (30% response rate). The analytic sample consisted of 1,770 children (1,578 households) with at least 1 follow-up survey completed (59% of baseline sample). Nearly half of the analytic sample were girls; mean age at Survey 1 was 2.8 years (Table 1). The largest group was Hispanic English-speakers, followed by Hispanic Spanish-speakers. The average number of chil-

dren in the household aged 1 to 4 years receiving WIC was 1.3 and approximately one-third of households (35%) had 3 or more children (aged <18 y). The number of children in the household receiving WIC and number of households with 3 or more children differed across racial and ethnic groups.

CVB redemption dollar amount and percentage

The mean dollar amount of CVB redeemed at baseline ranged from \$11.05 among non-Hispanic Asians to \$14.61 among non-Hispanic Others (Table 2). The dollar amount of CVB redeemed changed among all racial and ethnic groups between time points, with the lowest redemption amount at Survey 1 and highest redemption amount at Survey 2. We found no effect modification by group on the change in the dollar amounts redeemed over time (Table 3). At Survey 1 and Survey 2, Hispanic English- and Spanish-speakers redeemed higher dollar amounts than other groups; we found no significant differences between groups at Survey 3 (Table 4).

Percentage of CVB redeemed at baseline ranged from 77.0% among non-Hispanic Black respondents to 92.0% among non-Hispanic Asian respondents. We found no significant change in redemption rates for any group throughout the study period (Table 2). However, percentage of CVB redeemed consistently differed between groups (Table 4). Hispanic Spanish-speakers had higher redemption rates than several other groups at all time points.

Household food security

The prevalence of household food security ranged from 33.3% among White respondents to 48.9% among Hispanic Englishspeakers (Table 2). Household food security improved from baseline for several groups at Survey 2 and Survey 3, including Hispanic English-speaking, Hispanic Spanish-speaking, and non-Hispanic Black groups. Race and ethnicity was not an effect modifier for change in household food security over time (Table 3). The prevalence of household food security differed significantly between groups at all 3 time points (Table 4). Non-Hispanic Black households had a lower prevalence than Hispanic English-speaking households at all 3 time points, and Hispanic Spanish-speakers and non-Hispanic Other households had a lower prevalence than Hispanic English-speaking households at Survey 2.

Child fruit and vegetable intake

Mean fruit and vegetable intake at baseline ranged from 2.6 cups per day among Hispanic English-speakers to 2.3 cups per day among non-Hispanic White respondents (Table 2). From baseline to Survey 3, Hispanic English-speaking and Hispanic Spanish-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

speaking groups reported a decrease in fruit and vegetable intake. For all other groups, we observed no significant associations across time points. Group was not an effect modifier (Table 3). For all time points, fruit and vegetable intake was not significantly different between racial and ethnic groups (Table 4).

Satisfaction with CVB amount

Baseline satisfaction with the \$9 CVB ranged from 2.6% among non-Hispanic White respondents to 11.0% among Hispanic Spanish-speakers (Table 2). Satisfaction increased among all groups at both follow-up time points compared with baseline; satisfaction rates were highest in Survey 2. Changes in satisfaction differed significantly by racial and ethnic group (Table 3). At both follow-up time points, increases in satisfaction were larger among Hispanic English-speakers and non-Hispanic Black respondents than among Hispanic Spanish-speakers and the non-Hispanic Other group, who started with higher baseline values. At baseline, satisfaction was higher among Hispanic Spanish-speakers (PRR = 1.92, 95% CI, 1.32-2.79) and the non-Hispanic Other group (PRR = 1.87; 95% CI, 1.03-3.40) than among Hispanic Englishspeakers (Table 4). At Survey 2, satisfaction rates among Hispanic English-speaking and non-Hispanic Black groups (PRR = 1.01; 95% CI, 0.92-1.10) surpassed the rate among Hispanic Spanishspeakers (PRR = 0.91; 95% CI, 0.85-0.98). At Survey 3, satisfaction rates were similar across groups. Although the non-Hispanic Asian and non-Hispanic White groups were excluded from this analysis because of small sample sizes, from a descriptive standpoint, the 2 groups started with low rates of satisfaction and saw large increases, with 3.1% and 2.6% at baseline, then increasing to 66.7% and 69.2% at Survey 2, and 38.6% and 33.3% at Survey 3, respectively.

Survey 3 descriptive analyses

At Survey 3, a majority in each group reported that the variety and amount of fruits and vegetables consumed by their eldest child receiving WIC had increased from when the CVB was \$9 per month (Table 5). The changes in variety of fruits and vegetables and amount of fruits consumed did not differ across groups. The change in the amount of vegetables consumed differed significantly among racial and ethnic groups; the percentage reporting an increase was significantly smaller among Hispanic Englishspeakers (60.1%) than among Hispanic Spanish-speakers (74.5%) and non-Hispanic Other respondents (78.7%). The likelihood of continuing with WIC if the CVB returned to \$9 per month differed significantly across groups. Hispanic Spanish-speakers reported a higher likelihood of staying on the program (90.0%) than Hispanic English-speakers (75.2%), non-Hispanic Asian (62.5%), non-Hispanic Black (73.3%), and non-Hispanic Other (74.2%) respondents.

Discussion

Our study on the CVB augmentation in WIC in 2021 and 2022 identified its benefits among racial and ethnic groups. We observed the largest changes in the amount of CVB redeemed, food security, and satisfaction with the CVB amount for most groups at the \$35-per-month level compared with the \$9-per-month level; however, the \$24-per-month benefit was associated with substantially better outcomes than the original \$9 per month. Both CVB amount redeemed and household food security increased from baseline to follow-up, although disparities in household food security among non-Hispanic Black respondents persisted, indicating the need for interventions beyond CVB augmentation. Nonetheless, families faced hardships during the COVID-19 pandemic, and our study, along with other qualitative studies, demonstrated a need for increases in the CVB (14,30). Additionally, although the dollar amounts of CVB redeemed increased among all groups, we found that racial and ethnic groups varied in their percentage of CVB redeemed at each time point. Our findings were consistent with previous reports on racial and ethnic differences in WIC food package redemption, which found higher redemption percentages among Hispanic Spanish-speakers (31). While further research is needed on factors driving these differences, insufficient supply of WIC-eligible items in stores and access to WICapproved vendors can be barriers to redemption (14). Future studies should explore how barriers and retail environments are experienced differently by racial and ethnic groups and examine their effects on CVB redemption. WIC clinics are also well positioned to provide culturally tailored nutrition counseling that features CVBeligible items, which may influence use of CVB.

Our study also found substantial increases in satisfaction with the CVB, which differed across groups. Satisfaction is a critical indicator of retention in WIC - low satisfaction with the WIC food package is commonly cited as a reason for leaving the program (32). The substantial increases in satisfaction suggest that the augmented CVB was particularly well-received among non-Hispanic Asian, non-Hispanic Black, and non-Hispanic White respondents. These groups also reported that they would be less likely to continue with WIC if the CVB returned to \$9. Taken together, our results suggest that CVB value may strongly influence the decision among people in these groups to participate in WIC. Nationally, these groups generally have lower WIC participation rates (33). Their lower participation rates may be due to perceived inadequacy of culturally appropriate foods in the WIC food package (16). Our results highlight the importance of examining the influence of the CVB on WIC participation among racial and ethnic groups and on reducing health disparities (33).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

An unexpected result of our study was that fruit and vegetable intake did not increase across any racial and ethnic group. Notably, the lowest average intake among children in our sample (2.33 cups per day in the non-Hispanic White group) before CVB augmentation was higher than the average intake among all children (2.31 cups per day) in another, multistate study after CVB augmentation; participants in that study increased their intake by ¹/₃ cup (11). Because the recommended daily fruit and vegetable intake for WIC-aged children is approximately 21/2 cups, it may be difficult to document increases in fruit and vegetable intake in a population that is already consuming relatively high levels (21). Results of a previous analysis found that children with the lowest baseline fruit and vegetable intake experienced significant increases in fruit and vegetable intake, indicating that benefits are likely reaching those with the greatest need (10). Results from Survey 3 indicated that, for most respondents, the CVB augmentation increased the variety and amount of fruits and vegetables consumed. The CVB augmentation may have allowed parents to offer a larger quantity or a wider variety of produce that included more expensive items (eg, berries in addition to apples), as supported by a study that used purchasing data from WIC participants (12,34).

Limitations

This study has several limitations. Participants were limited to English- and Spanish-speakers, and many non-Hispanic Asian and non-Hispanic White WIC participants in our study area prefer a language other than English or Spanish, limiting representativeness of the results. Among Los Angeles County WIC families in May 2021, 60% of Asian families and 20% of non-Hispanic White families preferred a language other than English or Spanish (35). The demographic characteristics of WIC participants in southern California may limit generalizability to other populations, reflected in the relatively small sample of non-Hispanic White participants. Furthermore, a small sample size in some racial and ethnic groups may have reduced our ability to detect statistical differences. Because the study sample consisted of participants who were willing to respond to texts and complete online surveys, there may be nonresponse bias, overrepresenting those with technology access. Finally, because we did not prespecify hypotheses on differences between racial and ethnic groups, our study was exploratory.

Conclusion

Augmentation of the CVB in the WIC program in 2021 and 2022 was associated with numerous benefits, including increases in redemption, food security, and satisfaction. It presents a promising strategy to increase the well-being of WIC participants in all racial and ethnic groups. In allowing participants the flexibility to select fruits and vegetables that meet their household and cultural preferences, continued investment in an augmented CVB will allow WIC to serve its diverse population and can improve health outcomes. Future research that examines differences among racial and ethnic groups in factors influencing CVB redemption, whether the augmented CVB increased the uptake and retention of WIC across groups, and how the CVB affects fruit and vegetable purchasing is needed.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge Martha Meza, CLE, and Elizabeth Rodriguez, BA, CLE, from Public Health Foundation Enterprises WIC Program, Division of Research and Evaluation, City of Industry, California, for their important contributions to this work. This research was supported by Healthy Eating Research, a national program of The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Marisa M. Tsai, MS, MPH, University of California, Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources, 1111 Franklin St, 11th Floor, Oakland, CA 94607 (mmtsai@ucanr.edu).

Author Affiliations: ¹Nutrition Policy Institute, University of California, Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Oakland, California. ²Public Health Foundation Enterprises WIC Program, Division of Research and Evaluation, City of Industry, California. ³Department of Nutrition, University of California, Davis.

References

- Oliveira V, Frazão E. The WIC Program: Background, Trends, and Economic Issues, 2009 Edition. US Department of Agriculture. Economic Research Report Number 73; April 2009. Accessed January 30, 2024. https://www.ers.usda.gov/ webdocs/publications/46165/9502_err73.pdf?v=6909.3
- 2. Kline N, Thorn B, Bellows D, Wroblewska K, Wilcox-Cook E. WIC Participant and Program Characteristics 2018. Final Report. US Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service; 2020. Accessed January 30, 2024. https://fns-prod. azureedge.us/sites/default/files/resource-files/WICPC2018.pdf
- 3. Shiels MS, Haque AT, Haozous EA, Albert PS, Almeida JS, García-Closas M, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in excess deaths during the COVID-19 pandemic, March to December 2020. *Ann Intern Med.* 2021;174(12):1693–1699. doi:10.7326/ M21-2134

- 4. Coleman-Jensen A, Rabbitt M, Gregory C, Singh A. Household Food Security in the United States in 2020. US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service; 2021. Accessed September 20, 2022. https://www.ers.usda.gov/ publications/pub-details/?pubid=102075
- 5. Antoon JW, Grijalva CG, Thurm C, Richardson T, Spaulding AB, Teufel RJ II, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19 disease severity in US children and adolescents. *J Hosp Med.* 2021;16(10):603–610. doi:10.12788/jhm.3689
- 6. The White House. President Biden announces American Rescue Plan. January 20, 2021. Accessed July 31, 2023. https:/ /www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/legislation/2021/01/20/ president-biden-announces-american-rescue-plan
- 7. American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, HR 1319, 117th Cong (2021). Accessed January 30, 2024. https://www.congress.gov/ bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1319
- 8. Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2022, HR 2471, 117th Cong (2022). Accessed January 30, 2024. https://www.congress.gov/ bill/117th-congress/house-bill/2471
- 9. Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023, HR 2617, 117th Cong (2022). Accessed January 30, 2024. https://www.congress.gov/ bill/117th-congress/house-bill/2617
- 10. Whaley SE, Anderson CE, Tsai MM, Yepez CE, Ritchie LD, Au LE. Increased WIC benefits for fruits and vegetables increases food security and satisfaction among California households with young children. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2023; 123(10):1440–1448.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2023.05.018
- 11. Ritchie L, Lee D, Felix C, Sallack L, Chauvenet C, Machel G, et al. Multi-State WIC Participant Satisfaction Survey: Cash Value Benefit Increase During COVID. National WIC Association. March 2022. Accessed January 20, 2024. https:// media.nwica.org/nwa-multi-state-cvb-report-march-2022.pdf
- 12. Anderson CE, Au LE, Yepez CE, Ritchie LD, Tsai MM, Whaley SE. Increased WIC cash value benefit is associated with greater amount and diversity of redeemed fruits and vegetables among participating households. *Curr Dev Nutr.* 2023;7(9):101986. doi:10.1016/j.cdnut.2023.101986
- 13. Martinez CE, Ritchie LD, Lee DL, Tsai MM, Anderson CE, Whaley SE. California WIC participants report favorable impacts of the COVID-related increase to the WIC cash value benefit. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2022;19(17):10604. doi:10.3390/ijerph191710604
- 14. Duffy EW, Vest DA, Davis CR, Hall MG, De Marco M, Ng SW, et al. "I think that's the most beneficial change that WIC has made in a really long time": perceptions and awareness of an increase in the WIC cash value benefit. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 2022;19(14):8671. doi:10.3390/ijerph19148671

- 15. Hill AM, Nunnery DL, Ammerman A, Dharod JM. Racial/ethnic differences in diet quality and eating habits among WIC pregnant women: implications for policy and practice. Am J Health Promot. 2020;34(2):169–176. doi:10. 1177/0890117119883584
- 16. Au LE, Ritchie LD, Tsai M, Randel-Schreiber HR, Martinez C, Gradziel PH, et al. Alignment of California WIC participant preferences with proposed WIC food package recommendations. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2021;53(1):60–66. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2020.09.014
- 17. Chaney AM, Ritchie LD, Whaley SE, Tsai MM, Randel-Schreiber HR, Yepez CE, et al. Racial and ethnic comparisons in satisfaction with services provided by the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children in California. *Nutrients*. 2023;15(2):447. doi:10.3390/ nu15020447
- 18. Zimmer MC, Rubio V, Kintziger KW, Barroso C. Racial/ethnic disparities in dietary intake of US children participating in WIC. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(11):2607. doi:10. 3390/nu11112607
- 19. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Review of WIC Food Packages. Improving Balance and Choice: Final Report. 2017. Accessed January 30, 2024. https:/ /nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/23655/review-of-wic-foodpackages-improving-balance-and-choice-final
- 20. Di Noia J, Byrd-Bredbenner C. Determinants of fruit and vegetable intake in low-income children and adolescents. *Nutr Rev.* 2014;72(9):575–590. doi:10.1111/nure.12126
- 21. US Department of Agriculture, US Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*, 2020–2025.9th edition. December 2020. Accessed January 30, 2024. https://www.dietaryguidelines.gov/sites/default/files/ 2020-12/Dietary_Guidelines_for_Americans_2020-2025.pdf
- 22. Kim SA, Moore LV, Galuska D, Wright AP, Harris D, Grummer-Strawn LM, et al; Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, CDC. Vital signs: fruit and vegetable intake among children United States, 2003-2010. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2014;63(31):671–676.
- 23. Arispe IE, Gindi RM, Madans JH. *Health, United States, 2019.* National Center for Health Statistics. 2021. doi:10.15620/cdc: 100685
- 24. Au LE, Whaley S, Gurzo K, Meza M, Ritchie LD. If you build it they will come: satisfaction of WIC participants with online and traditional in-person nutrition education. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2016;48(5):336–342.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2016.02. 011

- 25. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. U. S. Household Food Security Survey Module: Six-Item Short Form. September 2012. Accessed September 20, 2022. https:// www.ers.usda.gov/media/8282/short2012.pdf
- 26. National Cancer Institute, Division of Cancer Control & Population Sciences. Dietary Screener Questionnaire (DSQ) in the NHANES 2009–10: background .Last updated December 14, 2021. Accessed September 20, 2022. https://epi.grants. cancer.gov/nhanes/dietscreen
- Thompson FE, Midthune D, Kahle L, Dodd KW. Development and Evaluation of the National Cancer Institute's Dietary Screener Questionnaire Scoring Algorithms. J Nutr. 2017; 147(6):1226–1233. doi:10.3945/jn.116.246058
- Whaley SE, Ritchie LD, Spector P, Gomez J. Revised WIC food package improves diets of WIC families. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2012;44(3):204–209. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2011.09.011
- 29. Zou G. A modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159(7): 702–706. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh090
- 30. Yepez CE, Ritchie LD, Anderson CE, Tsai MM, Au LE, Meza M, et al. WIC Participants Support the Extension and Permanency of the Cash Value Benefit (CVB) for Fruits and Vegetables. Public Health Foundation Enterprises (PHFE) WIC program, a Program of Heluna Health and Nutrition Policy Institute (NPI); 2022. Accessed January 30, 2024. https://lawicdata.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/cvb-cab-brief-2022-5.pdf
- 31. Anderson CE, Yepez CE, Whaley SE. Lower redemption of monthly Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children benefits associated with higher risk of program discontinuation. *Public Health Nutr.* 2023;26(12): 3041–3050. doi:10.1017/S136898002300201X
- 32. Food Research & Action Center. Making WIC Work Better: Strategies to Reach More Women and Children and Strengthen Benefits Use. May 2019. Accessed January 30, 2024. https:// frac.org/wp-content/uploads/Making-WIC-Work-Better-Full-Report.pdf
- 33. Gray K, Balch-Crystal E, Giannarelli L, Johnson P. National and State Level Estimates of WIC Eligibility and Program Reach in 2019. US Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service, Office of Policy Support. 2022. Accessed January 30, 2024. https://www.fns.usda.gov/wic/national-statelevel-estimates-eligibility-program-reach-2019
- 34. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Fruit and vegetable prices. Last updated May 24, 2023. Accessed July 31, 2023. https://www.ers.usda.gov/dataproducts/fruit-and-vegetable-prices
- 35. Los Angeles County WIC Data. Demographics. Accessed February 8, 2024. https://lawicdata.org/data-research/topics/ demographics/

Tables

Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of a Sample of Children Receiving WIC, Southern California, 2021-2022^a

		Hispanic		Non-Hispanic			
Characteristic	Total (N = 1,770)	English-speaking (n = 798)	Spanish-speaking (n = 532)	Asian (n = 65)	Black (n = 222)	White (n = 39)	Other ^b (n = 114)
Age of child, mean (SD), y	2.8 (1.1)	2.7 (1.1)	2.9 (1.1)	2.8 (1.2)	2.8 (1.0)	2.6 (1.2)	2.7 (1.1)
Female child, no. (%)	832 (47.0)	363 (45.5)	253 (47.6)	33 (50.8)	108 (48.7)	18 (46.2)	57 (50.0)
No. of children aged 1–4 y in household currently receiving WIC, mean (SD)	1.3 (0.5)	1.3 (0.5)	1.2 (0.5)	1.2 (0.4)	1.3 (0.6)	1.5 (0.6)	1.4 (0.7)
≥3 Children in household (aged <18 y), no. (%)	618 (35.0)	268 (33.7)	226 (42.6)	14 (21.5)	56 (25.2)	9 (23.1)	45 (39.8)

Abbreviation: WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022) (10). Values may not add to total because of survey nonresponse.

^b Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

Table 2. Outcomes at Each Time Point Among a Sample of Children Participating in WIC, by Race and Ethnicity, Southern California, 2021–2022^a

Item	Survey 1 (n = 1,770)	Survey 2 (n = 1,458)	Survey 3 (n = 927)	P value
CVB redemption amount, mean (SD), US dollars ^b	,			
Hispanic English-speaking	12.52 (5.59) ^c	44.84 (19.69) ^d	33.98 (19.49) ^d	<.001
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	12.18 (5.57) ^c	43.74 (18.41) ^d	33.42 (17.73) ^d	<.001
Non-Hispanic Asian	11.05 (4.71) ^c	42.74 (18.51) ^d	29.24 (12.39) ^d	<.001
Non-Hispanic Black	11.36 (5.43) ^c	40.13 (20.02) ^d	29.77 (16.03) ^d	<.001
Non-Hispanic White	14.46 (5.58)	48.76 (20.62) ^d	33.37 (18.79) ^d	<.001
Non-Hispanic Other ^e	14.61 (7.62) ^c	48.36 (26.16) ^d	40.72 (24.10) ^d	<.001
Percentage of total CVB allotment that was redeemed	l, mean (SD) ^{b,f}		·	
Hispanic English-speaking	86.5 (31.6)	83.6 (28.6)	87.0 (29.2)	.09
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	90.7 (26.6)	90.7 (22.0)	94.1 (18.9)	.07
Non-Hispanic Asian	92.0 (21.4)	85.9 (28.3)	88.5 (28.2)	.17
Non-Hispanic Black	77.0 (39.2)	72.6 (37.2)	84.2 (30.3)	.09
Non-Hispanic White	87.6 (28.0)	85.0 (28.2)	82.2 (36.7)	.23
Non-Hispanic Other ^e	81.8 (35.1)	83.5 (25.5)	78.9 (33.8)	.91
Household reported being food secure, no. (%) ^{g,h}				
Hispanic English-speaking	390 (48.9) ^c	409 (62.8) ^d	235 (57.6) ^d	<.001
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	234 (44.0) ^c	229 (51.1) ^d	153 (50.8) ^c	.002
Non-Hispanic Asian	31 (47.7)	30 (54.6)	19 (59.4)	.24
Non-Hispanic Black	86 (38.7) ^c	93 (51.4) ^d	43 (41.0) ^c	.001
Non-Hispanic White	13 (33.3)	18 (56.3)	8 (42.1)	.07
Non-Hispanic Other ^e	48 (42.1)	46 (50.6)	28 (45.2)	.26
Fruit and vegetable intake, mean (SD), cups per day ^{b,}	Í		·	
Hispanic English-speaking	2.6 (1.0) ^c	2.5 (0.9) ^d	2.5 (0.8) ^d	<.001
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	2.4 (0.8) ^c	2.4 (0.8) ^c	2.2 (0.8) ^d	.01

Abbreviations: CVB, cash value benefit; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022) (10). Values may not add to total because of survey nonresponse.

^b Differences in continuous outcomes (CVB redemption amount, CVB redemption percentage, and fruit and vegetable intake) were evaluated in mixed effects regression models accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families and adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

^{c,d} Values sharing a common superscripted letter are not significantly different from each other in pairwise comparisons that use a .05 level of significance. ^e Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

^f Redemption data were assessed at the household level. Households with multiple WIC participants receive higher CVB amounts than households with a single WIC child, so means at each time point exceed \$9 (Survey 1), \$35 (Survey 2), \$24 (Survey 3).

^g Responses to question on food security were dichotomized as food secure or food insecure.

^h Differences in dichotomous outcomes (household food security and satisfaction with CVB amount) were evaluated in generalized estimating equation modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

ⁱ The model with fruit and vegetable intake was additionally adjusted for baseline fruit and vegetable intake and child sex and included random intercepts and random slope for child age.

¹ Responses were dichotomized into satisfied (too much, just right) and not satisfied (not enough).

^k Statistical testing for differences in satisfaction with CVB amount among Asian and White groups did not meet required regression assumptions and were not conducted.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 2. Outcomes at Each Time Point Among a Sample of Children Participating in WIC, by Race and Ethnicity, Southern California, 2021–2022^a

Item	Survey 1 (n = 1,770)	Survey 2 (n = 1,458)	Survey 3 (n = 927)	P value
Non-Hispanic Asian	2.4 (0.6)	2.3 (0.7)	2.5 (0.7)	.34
Non-Hispanic Black	2.5 (1.0)	2.5 (1.0)	2.4 (1.0)	.39
Non-Hispanic White	2.3 (0.9)	2.4 (0.8)	2.5 (0.7)	.67
Non-Hispanic Other ^e	2.4 (0.9)	2.6 (0.9)	2.4 (0.9)	.23
Reported satisfaction with CVB amount, no. (%) ^{h,j}	·	•	·	
Hispanic English-speaking	45 (5.8) ^c	476 (79.9) ^d	153 (42.4) ^d	<.001
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	54 (11.0) ^c	288 (72.4) ^d	111 (41.9) ^d	<.001
Non-Hispanic Asian	2 (3.1)	34 (66.7)	10 (38.5)	_ ^k
Non-Hispanic Black	17 (7.8) ^c	131 (80.9) ^d	53 (56.4) ^d	<.001
Non-Hispanic White	1 (2.6)	18 (69.2)	6 (33.3)	_ ^k
Non-Hispanic Other ^e	12 (10.8) ^c	55 (74.3) ^d	24 (47.1) ^d	<.001

Abbreviations: CVB, cash value benefit; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022) (10). Values may not add to total because of survey nonresponse.

^b Differences in continuous outcomes (CVB redemption amount, CVB redemption percentage, and fruit and vegetable intake) were evaluated in mixed effects regression models accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families and adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

^{c.d} Values sharing a common superscripted letter are not significantly different from each other in pairwise comparisons that use a .05 level of significance. ^e Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

^f Redemption data were assessed at the household level. Households with multiple WIC participants receive higher CVB amounts than households with a single WIC child, so means at each time point exceed \$9 (Survey 1), \$35 (Survey 2), \$24 (Survey 3).

^g Responses to question on food security were dichotomized as food secure or food insecure.

^h Differences in dichotomous outcomes (household food security and satisfaction with CVB amount) were evaluated in generalized estimating equation modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

ⁱ The model with fruit and vegetable intake was additionally adjusted for baseline fruit and vegetable intake and child sex and included random intercepts and random slope for child age.

¹ Responses were dichotomized into satisfied (too much, just right) and not satisfied (not enough).

^k Statistical testing for differences in satisfaction with CVB amount among Asian and White groups did not meet required regression assumptions and were not conducted.

Table 3. Changes in Outcomes Among a Sample of Children Participating in WIC, by Race and Ethnicity, Southern California, 2021–2022^a

Item	Survey 1 (n = 1,770)	Survey 2 (n = 1,458)	Survey 3 (n = 927)	P value ^b				
CVB redemption amount, difference (95% CI), US dollars ^c								
Hispanic English-speaking	0 [Reference]	32.42 (31.14 to 33.71)	21.8 (20.27 to 23.33)					
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	0 [Reference]	31.88 (30.35 to 33.41)	22.35 (20.59 to 24.12)					
Non-Hispanic Asian	0 [Reference]	31.37 (27.03 to 35.71)	19.10 (13.73 to 24.46)	17				
Non-Hispanic Black	0 [Reference]	28.41 (25.82 to 30.99)	20.38 (17.26 to 23.50)					
Non-Hispanic White	0 [Reference]	34.29 (28.55 to 40.03)	20.53 (13.43 to 27.62)					
Non-Hispanic Other ^d	0 [Reference]	34.46 (31.06 to 37.87)	25.29 (21.31 to 29.27)					
Percentage of total CVB allotment that was reden	nption, difference (95% CI) ^c							
Hispanic English-speaking	0 [Reference]	-2.83 (-5.38 to -0.29)	-0.46 (-3.52 to 2.60)					
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	0 [Reference]	-0.31 (-3.39 to 2.78)	3.05 (-0.56 to 6.65)					
Non-Hispanic Asian	0 [Reference]	-5.96 (-14.71 to 2.78)	-4.78 (-15.69 to 6.13)	.33				
Non-Hispanic Black	0 [Reference]	-4.23 (-9.10 to 0.65)	5.19 (-0.94 to 11.32)					
Non-Hispanic White	0 [Reference]	-1.68 (-13.21 to 9.85)	-7.90 (-21.69 to 5.90)					
Non-Hispanic Other ^d	0 [Reference]	1.57 (-5.20 to 8.33)	-0.06 (-7.85 to 7.73)					
Household reported being food secure, PRR (95%	6 CI) ^{e,f}							
Hispanic English-speaking	1 [Reference]	1.28 (1.20 to 1.36)	1.17 (1.08 to 1.27)					
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	1 [Reference]	1.16 (1.07 to 1.26)	1.12 (1.00 to 1.25)					
Non-Hispanic Asian	1 [Reference]	1.13 (0.92 to 1.39)	1.36 (0.97 to 1.90)	15				
Non-Hispanic Black	1 [Reference]	1.32 (1.14 to 1.53)	1.07 (0.88 to 1.30)	.15				
Non-Hispanic White	1 [Reference]	1.69 (1.09 to 2.63)	1.42 (0.82 to 2.46)					
Non-Hispanic Other ^d	1 [Reference]	1.20 (0.96 to 1.50)	1.06 (0.83 to 1.35)					
Child fruit and vegetable intake, difference (95% CI), cups per day ^{c,g}								
Hispanic English-speaking	0 [Reference]	-0.08 (-0.15 to -0.02)	-0.17 (-0.25 to -0.09)					
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	0 [Reference]	-0.02 (-0.11 to 0.06)	-0.14 (-0.23 to -0.04)	.30				
Non-Hispanic Asian	0 [Reference]	-0.06 (-0.29 to 0.18)	0.14 (-0.14 to 0.43)					

Abbreviations: CVB, cash value benefit; PRR, prevalence rate ratio; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children. ^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022) (10). Associations represent the estimated difference from the reference time point (Survey 1) for all outcomes.

^b *P* values are for the interaction between race and ethnicity and time point.

^c Associations for continuous outcomes (CVB redemption amount, CVB redemption percentage, and fruit and vegetable intake) were evaluated with interaction terms between race and ethnicity and time point in mixed effects regression models accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household. ^d Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

^e Associations for dichotomous outcomes (household food security and satisfaction with CVB amount) were evaluated with interaction terms between race and ethnicity and time point in generalized estimating equation modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating repeated observations of

individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

^f Responses to question on food security were dichotomized as food secure or food insecure.

^g The model with fruit and vegetable intake was additionally adjusted for baseline fruit and vegetable intake and child sex and included random intercepts and random slope for child age.

^h Responses were dichotomized into satisfied (too much, just right) and not satisfied (not enough). Non-Hispanic Asian and non-Hispanic White groups were excluded from this analysis due to small cell sizes.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 3. Changes in Outcomes Among a Sample of Children Participating in WIC, by Race and Ethnicity, Southern California, 2021–2022^a

Item	Survey 1 (n = 1,770)	Survey 2 (n = 1,458)	Survey 3 (n = 927)	<i>P</i> value ^b			
Non-Hispanic Black	0 [Reference]	-0.05 (-0.18 to 0.08)	-0.12 (-0.28 to 0.04)				
Non-Hispanic White	0 [Reference]	0.10 (-0.21 to 0.41)	0.16 (-0.22 to 0.54)				
Non-Hispanic Other ^d	0 [Reference]	0.12 (-0.06 to 0.30)	-0.04 (-0.26 to 0.17)				
Reported satisfaction with CVB amount, PRR (95% CI) ^{e,h}							
Hispanic English-speaking	1 [Reference]	13.66 (10.31 to 18.11)	7.33 (5.50 to 9.78)				
Hispanic Spanish-speaking	1 [Reference]	6.48 (5.06 to 8.30)	3.76 (2.89 to 4.88)	000			
Non-Hispanic Black	1 [Reference]	10.28 (6.50 to 16.27)	7.45 (4.70 to 11.80)	.002			
Non-Hispanic Other ^d	1 [Reference]	nce] 6.96 (4.16 to 11.66) 4.12 (2.29 to 7.44)		1			

Abbreviations: CVB, cash value benefit; PRR, prevalence rate ratio; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children. ^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022) (10). Associations represent the estimated difference from the reference time point (Survey 1) for all outcomes.

^b *P* values are for the interaction between race and ethnicity and time point.

^c Associations for continuous outcomes (CVB redemption amount, CVB redemption percentage, and fruit and vegetable intake) were evaluated with interaction terms between race and ethnicity and time point in mixed effects regression models accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

^d Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

^e Associations for dichotomous outcomes (household food security and satisfaction with CVB amount) were evaluated with interaction terms between race and ethnicity and time point in generalized estimating equation modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

[†] Responses to question on food security were dichotomized as food secure or food insecure.

^g The model with fruit and vegetable intake was additionally adjusted for baseline fruit and vegetable intake and child sex and included random intercepts and random slope for child age.

^h Responses were dichotomized into satisfied (too much, just right) and not satisfied (not enough). Non-Hispanic Asian and non-Hispanic White groups were excluded from this analysis due to small cell sizes.

Table 4. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Outcomes, Stratified by Time Point, Among a Sample of Children Participating in WIC, Southern California, 2021–2022^a

	Hispanic		Non-Hispanic						
Item	English- speaking (n = 798)	Spanish-speaking (n = 532)	Asian (n = 65)	Black (n = 222)	White (n = 39)	Other ^b (n = 114)	P value		
CVB reder	nption amount, d	ifference (95% CI), in US	dollars ^c						
Survey 1	0 [Reference] ^d	0.30 (-1.19 to 1.78) ^d	-0.25 (-3.58 to 3.08) ^{e,f}	-0.50 (-2.62 to 1.62) ^g	-1.53 (-5.85 to 2.80) ^f	0.11 (-2.61 to 2.84) ^e	.002		
Survey 2	0 [Reference] ^f	-0.25 (-1.85 to 1.35) ^f	-1.30 (-4.94 to 2.34) ^{e,g}	-4.51 (-6.80 to -2.23) ^e	0.34 (-4.38 to 5.06) ^{d,e}	2.15 (-0.72 to 5.03) ^{d,g}	.02		
Survey 3	0 [Reference]	0.85 (-1.15 to 2.85)	-2.95 (-7.85 to 1.95)	-1.92 (-4.90 to 1.07)	-2.80 (-9.17 to 3.58)	3.61 (-0.02 to 7.23)	.44		
Percentag	e of total CVB all	otment that was redeeme	ed, difference (95% Cl) ^c						
Survey 1	0 [Reference] ^f	4.47 (1.25 to 7.70) ^e	5.24 (-2.15 to 12.62) ^d	-9.81 (-14.20 to -5.42) ^g	0.66 (-8.73 to 10.06) ^d	-4.89 (-10.67 to 0.89) ^{d,g}	<.001		
Survey 2	0 [Reference] ^{e,d}	7.00 (3.50 to 10.50) ^d	2.11 (-5.84 to 10.05) ^{e,f}	-11.21 (-16.00 to -6.42) ^{g,h}	1.82 (-8.57 to 12.20) ^{f,g}	-0.49 (-6.81 to 5.83) ^f	<.001		
Survey 3	0 [Reference] ^{d,f}	7.98 (3.67 to 12.30) ^d	0.92 (-9.50 to 11.34) ^{e,f}	-4.16 (-10.48 to 2.16) ^{e,t}	-6.77 (-19.71 to 6.18) ^{e,g}	-4.49 (-12.11 to 3.13) ^{e,g}	.001		
Househol	d reported being f	food secure, PRR (95% Cl) ^{i,j}			•			
Survey 1	1 [Reference] ^d	0.91 (0.81 to 1.03) ^{d,e}	0.96 (0.74 to 1.25) ^{d,e}	0.78 (0.65 to 0.94) ^e	0.66 (0.42 to 1.03) ^{d,e}	0.86 (0.69 to 1.08) ^{d,e}	.03		
Survey 2	1 [Reference] ^d	0.83 (0.75 to 0.92) ^e	0.85 (0.67 to 1.08) ^{d,e}	0.81 (0.70 to 0.94) ^e	0.87 (0.64 to 1.19) ^{d,e}	0.81 (0.66 to 1.00) ^e	.002		
Survey 3	1 [Reference] ^d	0.87 (0.77 to 0.99) ^{d,e}	1.11 (0.84 to 1.47) ^{d,e}	0.71 (0.58 to 0.88) ^e	0.80 (0.49,1.29) ^{d,e}	0.78 (0.60 to 1.01) ^{d,e}	.02		
Child fruit	and vegetable in	take, difference (95% Cl),	, cups per day ^{c,k}						
Survey 1	0 [Reference]	-0.11 (-0.19 to -0.03)	-0.12 (-0.30 to 0.06)	0.01 (-0.10 to 0.11)	-0.13 (-0.36 to 0.10)	-0.08 (-0.22 to 0.06)	.14		
Survey 2	0 [Reference]	-0.05 (-0.14 to 0.04)	-0.09 (-0.29 to 0.11)	0.04 (-0.08 to 0.16)	0.05 (-0.21 to 0.31)	0.12 (-0.03 to 0.28)	.22		
Survey 3	0 [Reference]	-0.07 (-0.18 to 0.03)	0.19 (-0.07 to 0.45)	0.05 (-0.10 to 0.21)	0.20 (-0.14 to 0.53)	0.04 (-0.16 to 0.24)	.05		
Reported	Reported satisfaction with CVB amount, PRR (95% CI) ^{I,I}								
Survey 1	1 [Reference] ^d	1.92 (1.32 to 2.79) ^e	_ ^m	1.34 (0.78 to 2.29) ^{d,e}	_ ^m	1.87 (1.03 to 3.40) ^e	.01		
Survey 2	1 [Reference] ^e	0.91 (0.85 to 0.98) ^d	_ ^m	1.01 (0.92 to 1.10) ^e	_m	0.95 (0.83 to 1.09) ^{d,e}	.03		
Survey 3	1 [Reference]	0.98 (0.82 to 1.18)	_ ^m	1.36 (1.11 to 1.67)	_ ^m	1.05 (0.76 to 1.45)	.11		

Abbreviations: CVB, cash value benefit; PRR, prevalence rate ratio; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April–May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August–September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April–May 2022) (10). Associations represent the estimated difference from the reference group, Hispanic English-speakers, for all outcomes.

^b Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

^c Associations for continuous outcomes (CVB redemption amount, CVB redemption percentage, and fruit and vegetable intake) were evaluated in mixed effects regression models accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

d.e.f.g.h Values sharing a common superscripted letter are not significantly different from each other in pairwise comparisons that used a .05 level of significance. Associations for dichotomous outcomes (household food security and satisfaction with CVB amount) were evaluated in generalized estimating equation modified Poisson regression models with robust standard error estimation, accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families, adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of ≥3 children (aged <18 y) in the household.

^j Responses to question on food security were dichotomized as food secure or food insecure.

^k The model with fruit and vegetable intake was additionally adjusted for baseline fruit and vegetable intake and child sex and included random intercepts and random slope for child age.

Responses were dichotomized into satisfied (too much, just right) and not satisfied (not enough).

^m Non-Hispanic Asian and non-Hispanic White groups were excluded from this analysis due to small cell sizes.

Table 5. Perception of Changes in Variety and Amount of Fruits and Vegetables Consumed by Child After Cash Value Benefit Was Augmented to \$24 per Month, and Likelihood of Continued WIC Participation Among a Sample of Children Participating in WIC, Southern California, 2022^a

Hispanic			Non-Hispanic				
Item	English-speaking (n = 408)	Spanish-speaking (n = 301)	Asian (n = 32)	Black (n = 105)	White (n = 19)	Other ^b (n = 62)	<i>P</i> value ^c
Increased variety of fruits	337 (83.4)	256 (87.4)	29 (90.6)	86 (84.3)	18 (94.7)	53 (88.3)	.28
Increased amount of fruits	311 (77.9)	240 (83.0)	25 (80.7)	84 (82.4)	14 (73.7)	49 (81.7)	.62
Increased variety of vegetables	270 (68.5)	223 (76.4)	23 (74.2)	74 (72.6)	16 (84.2)	44 (73.3)	.21
Increased amount of vegetables	241 (60.1) ^d	216 (74.5) ^e	22 (71.0) ^{d,e}	71 (69.6) ^{d,e}	12 (63.2) ^{d,e}	48 (78.7) ^d	.001
Likely to come back to WIC if cash value benefit went back to \$9	306 (75.2) ^e	271 (90.0) ^e	20 (62.5) ^e	77 (73.3) ^e	13 (68.4) ^e	46 (74.2) ^e	<.001

Abbreviation: WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a Data source: a prospective cohort study comprising 3 survey waves of caregivers with children aged 1 to 4½ years at baseline who were receiving WIC in 7 WIC clinics in southern California at the following 3 time points: pre-augmentation at \$9 per month (Survey 1, baseline, April-May 2021), during the 4-month increase to \$35 per month (Survey 2, August-September 2021), and after the CVB was adjusted to \$24 per month (Survey 3, April-May 2022) (10). All responses are from Survey 3. All values are number (percentage) unless indicated otherwise; total sample size may vary because of nonresponse.

^b Includes multiple races, Fijian, Samoan, Tongan, Guamanian or Chamorro, Native Hawaiian, American Indian or Alaska Native.

^c Differences in frequency by race and ethnicity were tested by using generalized estimating equation modified Poisson regression models with robust SE estimation, accommodating repeated observations of individual children and clustering within families adjusted for number of children receiving WIC in the household and the presence of \geq 3 children (aged <18 y) in the household. ^{d,e} Values sharing a common superscripted letter are not significantly different from each other in pairwise comparisons that used a .05 level of significance.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E68

SEPTEMBER 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Effect of an Inflatable Colon on Colorectal Cancer Knowledge and Screening Intent Among Male Attendees at State Fairs in Two Midwestern States, 2023

Ami E. Sedani, PhD, MPH¹; Kelly K. Rifelj, MPA¹; Malcolm S. Bevel, PhD, MSPH²; Cordero McCall, MPH, MBA^{1,3}; Mckenzi Rogalla, BS¹; Lisa Laliberte, BA⁴; Kiara Ellis, MSW⁵; Rebekah J. Pratt, PhD⁶; Charles R. Rogers, PhD, MPH, MS, MCHES¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0020.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Sedani AE, Rifelj KK, Bevel MS, McCall C, Rogalla M, Laliberte L, et al. Effect of an Inflatable Colon on Colorectal Cancer Knowledge and Screening Intent Among Male Attendees at State Fairs in Two Midwestern States, 2023. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240020. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.240020.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Knowledge and beliefs are factors that enable health behaviors such as participation in early-detection screening. Community education and outreach events are common approaches to fostering health-related knowledge and awareness.

What is added by this report?

Self-guided tours of an interactive, inflatable colon can be an effective and low-resource intervention to increase colorectal cancer knowledge and screening intent among men at state fairs.

What are the implications for public health practice?

State fairs and similar large recreational gatherings can reach populations who may not typically have easy access to or knowledge about cancer prevention and control services.

Abstract

Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most-diagnosed cancer among men and women in the US. This study aimed to evaluate the influence of an interactive inflatable colon exhibit on CRC knowledge and screening intent among men attending state fairs in 2 midwestern states.

Methods

At the 2023 state fairs in 2 midwestern states, eligible participants (men aged 18–75 y who could speak and read English and resided in 1 of the 2 states) completed a presurvey, an unguided tour of the inflatable Super Colon, and a postsurvey. Primary outcomes were changes in knowledge (actual and perceived) and CRC screening intent from presurvey to postsurvey. We used χ^2 tests to examine differences in survey results between the 2 sites and the association between demographic characteristics and behaviors (knowledge and intentions) before entering the Super Colon exhibit. We used the McNemar test to examine differences in presurvey to postsurvey to postsurvey to postsurvey to postsurvey.

Results

The study sample (N = 940) comprised 572 men at site A (60.8%) and 368 men at site B (39.2%). Except for 1 question, baseline CRC knowledge was relatively high. Greater perceived knowledge was inversely associated with greater actual knowledge. After touring the Super Colon, participants improved their actual knowledge of CRC prevention and self-perceived CRC knowledge. Most participants (95.4%) agreed that the Super Colon was effective for teaching people about CRC.

Conclusion

These findings emphasize the role of community-based educational initiatives in encouraging CRC screening uptake and increasing research participation among men and affirm that the inflatable colon is as an effective educational tool for increasing CRC knowledge and encouraging early-detection screening behavior among men.

Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most-diagnosed cancer among men and women in the US and the second most common



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0020.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

cause of cancer-related death in men and women combined (1), with both incidence and death rates higher among men (2). CRC rates among people younger than 50 years (ie, early-onset CRC) have increased by approximately 50% since the mid-1990s; thus, the US Preventive Services Task Force now recommends that average-risk adults start CRC screening at age 45 years (3,4). Moreover, the rate of early-onset CRC is 16% to 30% higher among men than women (5). Given the high incidence of and deaths from CRC among men, prioritizing CRC prevention efforts is a public health imperative.

The association of CRC knowledge and awareness with CRC screening uptake is well established (6–10). Community education and outreach events are common approaches to fostering health-related knowledge and awareness. Despite some data suggesting that special events — especially those that provide onsite screening services — may lead to increases in cancer screening, evidence to date is insufficient to demonstrate that such events are effective at boosting cancer screening (11).

An innovative resource, the inflatable colon - a super-sized model of the human colon through which visitors can walk- is a tool for teaching about the digestive system and for engaging and educating people about CRC and other colon diseases. Multiple studies have demonstrated that the use of the inflatable colon can improve CRC-related knowledge among young adults, Hispanic people, African American men, and others (12-18). A giant inflatable colon was shown to offer (14) a promising community-level intervention focused on enhancing CRC screening and prevention through a novel population-based strategy; while not independently sufficient, the colon exhibit could complement other evidence-based approaches to CRC prevention and education. To date, however, most participants in inflatable-colon studies have been female (12-15). Additional research is needed to better understand the usefulness of this resource for CRC prevention and control among men. The objective of our study was to evaluate the influence of an inflatable colon as an educational tool to increase CRC knowledge and screening intent among men aged 18 to 75 years attending state fairs in 2 midwestern states.

Methods

Study participants

This observational study, which followed the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) reporting guidelines for cohort studies (www.strobestatement.org), was conducted in summer 2023, during the final weekends of state fairs in 2 midwestern states. The Medical College of Wisconsin's institutional review board approved all study procedures, marketing materials, and survey instruments before data collection (approval no. PRO47143). To encourage study participation, advertisements were posted at public community locations, on social media, via email, and on the study website, leading up to the events. To assist with recruitment and study implementation, research staff were recruited from community settings, including local universities, Craigslist, gastroenterology centers, the American Cancer Society, and social media platforms.

Individuals were eligible to participate if they self-identified as male, were aged 18 to 75 years, resided in state A (for site A) or state B (for site B), attended the state fair in their state of residence, and could read and speak English. Before participation, informed consent was obtained from all participants via an Apple iPad or cellphone by using the internet-based IRB-compliant PsychData survey system (Divergent Web Solutions, LLC). Participants could request access to preliminary study results and provide recommendations for future research and advocacy efforts via a community dialogue session held at a later time.

Intervention

The Super Colon, an inflatable educational exhibit through which participants can walk, allows participants to closely observe models of normal and inflamed colon tissue, benign and malignant polyps, and invasive and metastatic CRC. Participants at each study site completed a presurvey, an unguided tour, and a postsurvey. After completing the postsurvey, participants were given a drawstring bag (with study logo on it and an ACS colorectal cancer brochure inside it) and an opportunity to enter a drawing for additional incentives such as gift cards, an iPad, or a television.

Data collection

Data were collected through PsychData surveys completed on iPads or cellphones. We adapted our questions based on previously used survey items (14,17,19,20). The forced-choice surveys had 64 items (56 on the presurvey, 8 on the postsurvey). On average, study completion (presurvey, tour, and postsurvey) took 10 to 15 minutes. The surveys were administered in English. Staff were available to help read questionnaires to participants who needed assistance.

Measures

The primary outcomes of interest were changes in CRC knowledge (actual and perceived) and behavioral intent to obtain CRC screening from baseline (presurvey) to intervention completion (postsurvey). Actual knowledge was defined as the comprehensive understanding and awareness of factual information, whereas self-perceived knowledge related to a participant's own assessment of their understanding or familiarity with CRC. Actual knowledge was assessed by correct responses to 3 true-or-false

statements in both surveys. The presurvey (but not the postsurvey) had this statement: "Men at average risk should have their first screening for colorectal cancer at age 35." The correct answer is "false." (The inflatable colon did not have information on age at first screening, and we observed that participants were wondering if they had missed the information and needed to walk through the inflatable colon again. Because of the confusion created by the item, we did not assess it at postsurvey.) The first statement assessed at both time points was, "If I have a family member with colorectal cancer, I am at a higher risk of having it too." The correct answer is "true." The second statement was, "Removing a polyp from my colon can prevent colorectal cancer." The correct answer is "true." The third question was, "Colorectal cancer always has symptoms that you can feel." The correct answer is "false."

Perceived knowledge was assessed with 3 items. One was the following true-or-false statement: "I know what a colon polyp is." The second and third items were questions: 1) "How much do you feel you know about colorectal cancer now?" and 2) "How much do you feel you know about how colorectal cancer progresses now?" Response options were "a lot," "some things," and "nothing."

Lastly, we assessed CRC screening intent with the question, "Do you plan to obtain colorectal cancer screening in the future?" Response options were 1) yes, in the next 6 months, 2) yes, in the next 7 months to 1 year, 3) yes, in 13 months to 2 years, 4) yes, sometime but not within 2 years, 5) no, but have considered getting screened, or 6) no, will not get screened. Participants were categorized as having screening intent if they chose options 1, 2, 3, or 4.

We collected data on the following demographic characteristics in the presurvey: age, self-identified race and ethnicity, sexual orientation, relationship status, educational attainment, type of health insurance coverage, having a regular health care provider, personal and family history of CRC, and history of participation in CRC screening. The race and ethnicity variable was used to reflect membership in a societally imposed marginalized racial and ethnic group and as a proxy for systematic and structural racism. We combined responses for the 2 concepts of race and ethnicity, as recommended due to high nonresponse rates among Hispanic and Latino individuals when separate questions are used (21,22). Categories were combined for cell sizes of 10 or fewer participants.

Statistical analysis

We used SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc) to manage data and conduct our analysis in October 2023. We checked data through exploratory analysis statistics, including inspection for missing values and data-entry errors. Because less than 5% of participants were lost to follow-up (ie, did not complete the postsurvey), we excluded from analysis any participant with missing data for the outcomes of interest (ie, we used complete case analyses).

We generated descriptive statistics to examine the distribution of characteristics in the full study sample. We used US Census 2022 data (23) to compare the demographic characteristics of our study participants with the demographic characteristics of the population of men aged 18 to 75 years residing in the 2 states in which the state fairs were held (the population of interest). We used χ^2 tests to examine differences in characteristics by study site and the association between selected demographics and behaviors (ie, knowledge and intentions) before entry into the Super Colon exhibit. We calculated the percentage of participants who responded correctly to the actual knowledge questions, the percentage of participants who indicated they knew what a colon polyp is, the percentage of participants who responded "a lot" or "some things" to the 2 items on perceived knowledge, and the percentage of participants who indicated they intended to be screened for CRC within the next 2 years in the presurvey and postsurvey and by study site. We used the McNemar test to examine differences in distributions from presurvey to postsurvey; a 2-sided P value <.05 was considered significant.

Results

A total of 953 eligible participants completed the presurvey. The final sample comprised 940 men who finished both the presurvey and postsurvey (572 [60.8%] at site A; 368 [39.2%] at site B) (Figure). The largest proportion of participants self-reported their race and ethnicity as non-Hispanic White, sexual orientation as heterosexual, and relationship status as either married (site A) or never married (site B) (Table 1). Many participants had completed at least some college, had private health insurance, and reported having a health care provider whom they saw regularly. Slightly more than half of the participants reported having completed a stool-based test or an examination-based test. Most men aged 45 or older had been previously screened for CRC with either a stool-based test or an examination-based test. Approximately 1 in 8 participants had walked through an inflatable colon previously.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure. Flowchart showing how men aged 18 to 75 years were selected to participate in a study of colorectal screening knowledge and intent at state fairs in 2 midwestern states, 2023.

A comparison of demographic characteristics at the 2 study sites showed significant differences by age group, race and ethnicity, relationship status, educational attainment, type of health insurance coverage, having a regular health care provider, and completion of a stool-based test (Table 1). Compared with participants at site A, participants at site B were less likely to be non-Hispanic White (75.4% vs 66.6%), married (52.8% vs 45.4%), to have completed college (bachelor's degree, 40.1% vs 26.3%; master's degree, 27.5% vs 17.2%), to have private health insurance (79.0% vs 72.0%), and not to have a regular health care provider (33.6% vs 26.1%). Participants at site B were more likely than participants at site A to report ever completing a stool-based test (35.9% vs 21.5%).

In a comparison of the demographic characteristics of our study sample with 2022 US Census data for men aged 18 to 75 years residing in the 2 midwestern states, we found that at both study sites, participants aged 60 to 75 years (site A: 17.8% vs 24.5%; site B: 10.6% vs 25.7%) and participants with high school or less were less frequent in our study samples than in the US Census populations (site A: 11.2% vs 31.3%; site B: 24.2% vs 38.8%). Similarly, participants aged 18 to 30 years (site A: 33.6% vs 24.0%; site B: 32.6% vs 24.0%), participants who never married (site A: 43.4% vs 34.7%; site B: 48.1% vs 35.4%), and participants with a bachelor's degree or more (site A: 67.6% vs 34.8%; site B: 43.5% vs 28.4%) were more frequent in our study samples than in the US Census populations (Table 2). In addition, at study site B, participants who self-identified as non-Hispanic Black (12.0% vs 5.4%) or Hispanic/Latino (12.0% vs 6.8%) and participants who had no health insurance (12.2% vs 7.6%) were more frequent in our study sample than in the US Census populations.

Knowledge and intentions

Before entering the Super Colon, approximately one-third of participants correctly answered the question about when men at average risk should initiate CRC screening (Table 3). However, most (90.1%) knew that a family history of CRC increases their own CRC risk. Participants of screening age (ie, aged 45–75 y), compared with participants aged 45 years or younger, had significantly greater actual CRC knowledge but less self-perceived knowledge and were more likely to intend to be screened within 2 years.

We observed significant differences in responses to the knowledge and intent items by educational attainment on the presurvey. Participants with some college or less, compared with participants with a bachelor's degree or more, had greater self-perceived knowledge of CRC on the presurvey (for 2 of the 3 items) but were less likely to answer the knowledge items correctly. Participants with a regular health care provider were more likely than participants without one to know the recommended age to start CRC screening, that removing polyps can prevent CRC, to have lower self-perceived CRC knowledge (for 2 of the 3 items), and to intend to be screened within the next 2 years. Participants who had never completed a blood-based test or an examination-based test were more likely than those who had completed one to have greater self-perceived knowledge (for 2 of the 3 items).

We found significant improvements at both sites from presurvey to postsurvey in knowing that removing a polyp can prevent CRC; in self-perceived knowledge about what a colon polyp is, what CRC is, and how CRC progresses; and in intention to be screened within next 2 years (Table 4). At Site B, from presurvey to postsurvey, participants significantly decreased in knowledge that CRC does not always have symptoms that can be felt (from 84.8% to 79.9%). In the postsurvey, 94.5% of participants agreed that an inflatable colon is an effective tool for teaching people about CRC.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this study is the first to evaluate the effectiveness of an inflatable colon as an educational tool to increase CRC knowledge and screening intent among men in a state fair setting. In our sample of 940 men aged 18 to 75 years, touring the inflatable colon led to significant improvements in knowledge and screening intent. Apart from the question on when men should have their first CRC screening, our study sample at baseline demonstrated relatively high actual CRC knowledge. Compared with a similar study conducted in Alaska and Canada that used similar knowledge questions, our study demonstrated less knowledge among participants about the appropriate age to start CRC screening (35.6% vs 65.0%) and that CRC does not always have

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

symptoms that can be felt (88.0% vs 92.0%) (14). Conversely, participants in our study demonstrated more knowledge about family CRC risk (90.1% vs 88.0%), with no meaningful difference in understanding the role of polyp removal in preventing CRC (81.8% vs 81.0%) (14).

Among participants with educational attainment of some college or less, 90.9% felt they knew "some things" or "a lot" about how CRC progresses, compared with 87.5% of those with higher educational attainment. However, participants with some college or less had a lower prevalence of correct answers on actual knowledge statements compared with those with higher educational attainment. We observed similar patterns among other subgroups (ie, an inverse relationship between perceived knowledge and actual knowledge) including among participants of screeningeligible age, CRC screening-participation history, and marital status. Subgroups with higher CRC knowledge also had a higher prevalence of screening intent, supporting previous findings that associated higher education levels with higher CRC screening participation (24-26). Participants aged 45 years or younger and racial and ethnic minority men had less knowledge and screening intent than their older and non-Hispanic White counterparts. Given the prominent health disparities affecting racial and ethnic minority populations and the projected increase in CRC-related deaths among adults aged less than 50 years by 2030, heightened research efforts and national funding directed to improving CRC knowledge and screening intent in both the under-45 and racial and ethnic minority populations are imperative (11).

Knowledge and beliefs are important factors that enable health behaviors such as participation in early detection screening. In line with other literature (12–15,17,18,27,28), we observed significant improvements in participants' actual and self-perceived knowledge about colon polyps and screening intent after they completed the inflatable-colon tour. Our findings support the effectiveness of community education and outreach events in promoting CRC knowledge and awareness. Specifically, our study highlights the value of self-guided tours of an inflatable colon as a lowresource–intensive intervention at such events.

Large recreational gatherings such as state fairs can attract populations that might not otherwise have ready access to or familiarity with cancer prevention and control services (11). These events may also reach groups that differ according to demographic characteristics (eg, education). These differences may be related to the higher rate of screening participation in our sample compared with that observed elsewhere (29–32). Men aged 60 to 75 years and men with a high school education or less were less frequently represented at the 2 study sites than they were in our population of interest. In contrast, men aged 18 to 30 years, never-married men, and men with higher educational attainment were more frequently represented in our study samples than in the population of interest. Specifically, at site B, participants who self-identified as non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic/Latino and participants who were uninsured were more frequently represented in our study sample than in the population of interest. Because the current body of evidence is inconclusive about whether special events effectively enhance CRC screening rates among men, future research is warranted.

Limitations

Although this study contributes to the literature on the effectiveness of using an inflatable colon to improve CRC knowledge, the use of a descriptive epidemiologic approach has limitations related to measurement accuracy, potential selection bias, and the lack of a control group (33,34). Our use of self-reported data may have increased susceptibility to misclassification (ie, information bias). Although we believe our use of self-reported data did not significantly affect the collection of demographic data, because the use of self-reported race and ethnicity is currently considered the gold standard and less likely to result in misclassification (35), social desirability bias may have influenced our outcomes of interest (knowledge and intent). To address this concern, we incorporated proactive measures into the study design, including collecting no personal identifying information and having at least 1 research staff member nearby while participants completed the presurveys and postsurveys. Although the reliability and validity for actual knowledge scales and CRC screening intent scales have been reported elsewhere (16,36), further assessment of the psychometric properties of our questions that assessed perceived CRC knowledge postintervention is necessary (17). Of note, social desirability bias would likely have affected responses to both surveys, ensuring consistency in our conclusions. However, the alignment of our findings with existing literature reinforces our confidence in them.

Self-selection can bias descriptive studies when study participation is associated with the outcome. Using convenience samples, especially when participation involves opting in, often leads to study samples that differ from the population of interest in terms of sociodemographic factors and health behaviors. While our study sample differed slightly from the population of interest, it may have been more inclined to make behavioral changes; for example, more willing to participate in CRC screening because of high educational attainment. Additionally, our approach of mandating responses to all questions, while eliminating the problem of missing data, may have had the unintended consequence of causing individuals to exit the survey when they were unable to skip questions they preferred not to answer (ie, none of their data were saved).

Strengths

Despite these limitations, our study demonstrates several strengths. Descriptive studies that precisely estimate a parameter of interest and are easily interpretable to clinicians and policy-makers contribute substantially to the advancement of public health. Our study adds to the literature on inflatable colons as a CRC education tool (14,15). Whereas previous studies relied on data from 1 geographical region, ours used data from participants with diverse sociodemographic backgrounds in 2 midwestern states. Our study's inability to determine whether reported CRC screening intent translated into screening completion presents an avenue for exploration in future research. Community engagement, partnerships, and relationship building were additional anecdotal study benefits.

Conclusions

Our research highlights the importance of community-based educational programs in promoting CRC screening and increasing men's participation in research. It confirms that the inflatable colon serves as an effective educational tool for raising CRC knowledge and encouraging men to undergo early-detection screening. These findings can inform the development of future health promotion initiatives tailored to men and contribute to our understanding of the effect of community education and outreach events focusing on men.

Acknowledgments

The authors extend gratitude to the participants who made the study possible and to Eleanor Mayfield, ELS, for editorial support. We thank Dr Darrell M. Gray II for his valuable assistance in survey development support. The fruitful execution of this study would not have been possible without assistance from DAPD, D-Brand Designs, MNGI Digestive Health, the International Leadership Institute, and investigation team volunteer staff.

This research was supported in part by the Medical College of Wisconsin; the V Foundation for Cancer Research; the Colorectal Cancer Equity Foundation; the University of Minnesota Masonic Cancer Center; and the National Cancer Institute, an entity of the National Institutes of Health (award number K01CA234319). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health, the Medical College of Wisconsin, the V Foundation for Cancer Research, the Colorectal Cancer Equity Foundation, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the University of Minnesota. The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, or publication of this article. Dr Rogers offers scientific input to research studies through an investigator service agreement with Exact Sciences; this scientific input is not related to our study. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in the research described in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Ami E. Sedani, PhD, MPH, Institute for Health & Equity, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, 8701 W Watertown Plank Rd, Milwaukee, WI 53226 (aesedani@ gmail.com).

Author Affiliations: ¹Institute for Health & Equity, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee. ²Department of Medicine, Medical College of Georgia, Augusta. ³Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee. ⁴MNGI Digestive Health, Minneapolis, Minnesota. ⁵Masonic Cancer Center, Minneapolis, Minnesota. ⁶Department of Family Medicine and Community Health, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Wagle NS, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2023. CA Cancer J Clin. 2023;73(1):17–48. doi:10.3322/caac. 21763
- 2. US Cancer Statistics Working Group. US Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and US Cancer Statistics. 2022. Accessed October 17, 2023. https:// www.cdc.gov/cancer/dataviz
- 3. Davidson KW, Barry MJ, Mangione CM, Cabana M, Caughey AB, Davis EM, et al; US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for colorectal cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. *JAMA*. 2021;325(19): 1965–1977. doi:10.1001/jama.2021.6238
- 4. Thompson CA, Begi T, Parada H Jr. Alarming recent rises in early-onset colorectal cancer. *Cancer*. 2022;28(2):230–233.
- 5. Petrick JL, Barber LE, Warren Andersen S, Florio AA, Palmer JR, Rosenberg L. Racial disparities and sex differences in early-and late-onset colorectal cancer incidence, 2001–2018. *Front Oncol.* 2021;11:734998. doi:10.3389/fonc.2021.734998
- Harewood GC, Wiersema MJ, Melton LJ III. A prospective, controlled assessment of factors influencing acceptance of screening colonoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2002;97(12): 3186–3194. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.07129.x

- 7. Rogers CR, Goodson P, Foster MJ. Factors associated with colorectal cancer screening among younger African American men: a systematic review. *J Health Dispar Res Pract.* 2015; 8(3):133–156.
- 8. Wools A, Dapper EA, de Leeuw JRJ. Colorectal cancer screening participation: a systematic review. *Eur J Public Health.* 2016;26(1):158–168. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckv148
- 9. Lam H, Quinn M, Cipriano-Steffens T, Jayaprakash M, Koebnick E, Randal F, et al. Identifying actionable strategies: using Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR)-informed interviews to evaluate the implementation of a multilevel intervention to improve colorectal cancer screening. *Implement Sci Commun.* 2021;2(1):57. doi:10. 1186/s43058-021-00150-9
- Lau J, Lim T-Z, Jianlin Wong G, Tan K-K. The health belief model and colorectal cancer screening in the general population: a systematic review. *Prev Med Rep.* 2020;20: 101223. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101223
- Escoffery C, Rodgers KC, Kegler MC, Haardörfer R, Howard DH, Liang S, et al. A systematic review of special events to promote breast, cervical and colorectal cancer screening in the United States. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):274. doi:10. 1186/1471-2458-14-274
- 12. Briant KJ, Wang L, Holte S, Ramos A, Marchello N, Thompson B. Understanding the impact of colorectal cancer education: a randomized trial of health fairs. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):1196. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2499-2
- 13. Briant KJ, Espinoza N, Galvan A, Carosso E, Marchello N, Linde S, et al. An innovative strategy to reach the underserved for colorectal cancer screening. *J Cancer Educ.* 2015;30(2): 237–243. doi:10.1007/s13187-014-0702-2
- 14. Redwood D, Provost E, Asay E, Ferguson J, Muller J. Giant inflatable colon and community knowledge, intention, and social support for colorectal cancer screening. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10:E40. doi:10.5888/pcd10.120192
- 15. Sanchez JI, Palacios R, Cole A, O'Connell MA. Evaluation of the walk-through inflatable colon as a colorectal cancer education tool: results from a pre and post research design. BMC Cancer. 2014;14(1):626. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-626
- 16. Rogers CR, Goodson P, Dietz LR, Okuyemi KS. Predictors of intention to obtain colorectal cancer screening among African American men in a state fair setting. Am J Men Health. 2018; 12(4):851–862. doi:10.1177/1557988316647942
- 17. Miguel CA, Paskett ED, Fisher JL, Fickle DK, Washington CM, Degraffinreid C, et al. Scripted tours through a giant inflatable colon: an innovative and effective educational tool in urban communities. *Prev Med Rep.* 2020;20:101248. doi:10. 1016/j.pmedr.2020.101248

- Baassiri A, El-Harakeh M, Itani A, Nassar FJ, Safi R, Dassouki Z, et al. Giant inflatable colon model enhances Lebanese community knowledge and intention for colorectal cancer screening. *JCO Glob Oncol.* 2020;6(6):167–173. doi:10.1200/ JGO.19.00274
- 19. Brooks E, Islam JY, Perdue DG, Petersen E, Camacho-Rivera M, Kennedy C, et al. The Black Panther, masculinity barriers to medical care, and colorectal cancer screening intention among unscreened American Indian/Alaska Native, Black, and White men. *Front Public Health*. 2022;10:814596. doi:10. 3389/fpubh.2022.814596
- 20. Sanderson PR, Weinstein N, Teufel-Shone N, Martínez ME. Assessing colorectal cancer screening knowledge at tribal fairs. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2011;8(1):A16.
- 21. Ríos M, Romero F, Ramírez R. Race Reporting Among Hispanics: 2010. Working Paper No. 102, Population Division, US Census Bureau. March 2014. Accessed November 9, 2023. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/workingpapers/2014/demo/shedding-light-on-race-reporting-amonghispanics/POP-twps0102.pdf
- 22. Mathews K, Phelan J, Jones NA, Konya S, Marks R, Pratt BM, et al. 2015 National Content Test: Race and Ethnicity Analysis Report. US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Census Bureau. February 28, 2017. Accessed November 9, 2023. https://www2.census.gov/ programs-surveys/decennial/2020/program-management/finalanalysis-reports/2015nct-race-ethnicity-analysis.pdf
- 23. US Census Bureau. ACS 1-year estimates public use microdata sample, 2022. Accessed October 17, 2023. https://data.census. gov/mdat/#
- 24. Beydoun HA, Beydoun MA. Predictors of colorectal cancer screening behaviors among average-risk older adults in the United States. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2008;19(4):339–359. doi:10.1007/s10552-007-9100-y
- 25. Gimeno García AZ. Factors influencing colorectal cancer screening participation. *Gastroenterol Res Pract.* 2012;2012: 483417. doi:10.1155/2012/483417
- 26. Power E, Miles A, von Wagner C, Robb K, Wardle J. Uptake of colorectal cancer screening: system, provider and individual factors and strategies to improve participation. *Future Oncol.* 2009;5(9):1371–1388. doi:10.2217/fon.09.134
- 27. Baassiri A, El-Harakeh M, Itani A, Nassar FJ, Safi R, Dassouki Z, et al. Giant inflatable colon model enhances Lebanese community knowledge and intention for colorectal cancer screening. JCO Glob Oncol. 2020;6(6):167–173. doi:10.1200/JGO.19.00274
- Molina Y, Briant KJ, Sanchez JI, O'Connell MA, Thompson B. Knowledge and social engagement change in intention to be screened for colorectal cancer. *Ethn Health.* 2018;23(5): 461–479. doi:10.1080/13557858.2017.1280135

- 29. Siegel RL, Wagle NS, Cercek A, Smith RA, Jemal A. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2023. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2023; 73(3):233–254. doi:10.3322/caac.21772
- Joseph DA, King JB, Dowling NF, Thomas CC, Richardson LC. Vital signs: colorectal cancer screening test use — United States, 2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69(10): 253–259. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6910a1
- 31. May FP, Yang L, Corona E, Glenn BA, Bastani R. Disparities in colorectal cancer screening in the United States before and after implementation of the Affordable Care Act. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2020;18(8):1796–1804.e2. doi:10.1016/ j.cgh.2019.09.008
- 32. Fisher DA, Princic N, Miller-Wilson L-A, Wilson K, Fendrick AM, Limburg P. Utilization of a colorectal cancer screening test among individuals with average risk. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2021;4(9):e2122269. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021. 22269
- 33. Fox MP, Murray EJ, Lesko CR, Sealy-Jefferson S. On the need to revitalize descriptive epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol. 2022; 191(7):1174–1179. doi:10.1093/aje/kwac056
- 34. Lesko CR, Fox MP, Edwards JK. A framework for descriptive epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol. 2022;191(12):2063–2070. doi:10.1093/aje/kwac115
- 35. Hahn RA, Stroup DF. Race and ethnicity in public health surveillance: criteria for the scientific use of social categories. *Public Health Rep.* 1994;109(1):7–15.
- 36. Rogers CR, Brooks E, Petersen E, Campanelli P, Figueroa R, Kennedy C, et al. Psychometric properties and analysis of the Masculinity Barriers to Medical Care scale among Black, Indigenous, and White men. Am J Men Health. 2021;15(5): 15579883211049033. doi:10.1177/15579883211049033

Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of Study Sample, Men Aged 18-75 Years at 2 State Fairs in Midwestern States A and B (N = 940), by Site, 2023^a

Characteristics	Total	Study site A	Study site B	P value ^b	
No. (%)	940 (100.0)	572 (60.8)	368 (39.2)	-	
Demographic characteristics					
Age, mean (SD), y	40.9 (15.1)	41.5 (15.6)	39.9 (14.4)	.10	
Age group, y					
18-30	312 (33.2)	192 (33.6)	120 (32.6)		
31-45	269 (28.6)	149 (26.0)	120 (32.6)	000	
46-59	218 (23.2)	129 (22.6)	89 (24.2)	.009	
60-75	141 (15.0)	102 (17.8)	39 (10.6)		
Self-identified race and ethnicity					
Hispanic or Latino	72 (7.7)	28 (4.9)	44 (12.0)		
Non-Hispanic Asian	50 (5.2)	39 (6.8)	11 (3.0)		
Non-Hispanic Black	81 (8.6)	37 (6.5)	44 (12.0)	<.001	
Non-Hispanic White	676 (71.9)	431 (75.4)	245 (66.6)	<.001	
Non-Hispanic multiracial	25 (2.6)	14 (2.4)	11 (3.0)	-	
Non-Hispanic Other ^c	36 (3.8)	23 (4.0)	13 (3.5)		
Sexual orientation					
Straight or heterosexual	853 (90.7)	513 (89.7)	340 (92.4)	16	
Nonheterosexual	87 (9.3)	59 (10.3)	28 (7.6)	.10	
Relationship status					
Married	469 (49.9)	302 (52.8)	167 (45.4)		
Divorced, widowed, or separated	46 (4.9)	22 (3.8)	24 (6.5)	.03	
Never married	425 (45.2)	248 (43.4)	177 (48.1)		
Educational attainment					
High school or less	153 (16.3)	64 (11.2)	89 (24.2)		
Some college	244 (26.2)	122 (21.4)	122 (33.8)	- 001	
Bachelor's degree	324 (34.8)	229 (40.1)	95 (26.3)	<.001	
Master's degree or more	219 (23.5)	157 (27.5)	62 (17.2)		
Health insurance coverage					
Private	717 (76.3)	452 (79.0)	265 (72.0)		
Public (Medicare, Medicaid, Tricare)	141 (15.0)	83 (14.5)	58 (15.8)	.01	
Uninsured	82 (8.7)	37 (6.5)	45 (12.2)		
Has a regular health care provider					
Yes	652 (69.4)	380 (66.4)	272 (73.9)	02	
No	288 (30.6)	192 (33.6)	96 (26.1)	.02	

Abbreviation: CRC, colorectal cancer.

^a All values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated. Data were collected at baseline (before entry into the Super Colon exhibit) only.

^b Determined by χ^2 test; *P* < .05 considered significant.

^c Includes Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, American Indian or Alaska Native, and "Other race."

(continued on next page)

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0020.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 9

(continued)

Table 1. Characteristics of Study Sample, Men Aged 18-75 Years at 2 State Fairs in Midwestern States A and B (N = 940), by Site, 2023^a

Characteristics	Total	Study site A	Study site B	<i>P</i> value ^b				
Personal and family history of cancer								
Family history of cancer								
Yes	424 (45.1)	273 (47.7)	151 (41.0)					
No	423 (45.0)	247 (43.2)	176 (47.8)	.12				
Not sure	93 (9.9)	52 (9.1)	41 (11.1)					
Family history of colorectal cancer								
Yes	128 (13.6)	86 (15.0)	42 (11.4)					
No	691 (73.5)	421 (73.6)	270 (73.4)	.09				
Not sure	121 (12.9)	65 (11.4)	56 (15.2)					
Diagnosed colorectal cancer								
Yes	13 (1.4)	7 (1.2)	6 (1.6)	60				
No	927 (98.6)	565 (98.8)	362 (98.4)	.60				
History of participation in CRC screening								
Completed stool-based test								
Yes	255 (27.1)	123 (21.5)	132 (35.9)	< 001				
No	685 (72.9)	449 (78.5)	236 (64.1)	<.001				
Completed examination-based test								
Yes	394 (41.9)	249 (43.5)	145 (39.4)	21				
No	546 (58.1)	323 (56.5)	223 (60.6)	.21				
Completed stool-based test or examination-based test among those aged 45-75 years								
Either test	333 (86.7)	215 (88.8)	118 (83.1)	11				
Neither test	51 (13.3)	27 (11.2)	24 (16.9)	11				
Have you walked through an inflatable-colon exhibit before today?								
Yes	120 (12.8)	70 (12.2)	50 (13.6)	55				
No	820 (87.2)	502 (87.8)	318 (86.4)	.55				

Abbreviation: CRC, colorectal cancer.

^a All values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated. Data were collected at baseline (before entry into the Super Colon exhibit) only.

 $^{\text{b}}$ Determined by χ^2 test; P < .05 considered significant.

^c Includes Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, American Indian or Alaska Native, and "Other race."

Table 2. Demographic Characteristics of Study Sample, Men Aged 18–75 Years at 2 State Fairs in Midwestern States A and B (N = 940), by Site, Compared With Population of Interest, 2023

	Site A		Site B					
Characteristic	Study sample	State A ^a	Study sample	State B ^a				
Total	572	2,063,254	368	2,155,860				
Age group, y								
18-30	192 (33.6)	495,687 (24.0)	120 (32.6)	516,560 (24.0)				
31-45	149 (26.0)	590,521 (28.6)	120 (32.6)	565,491 (26.2)				
46-59	129 (22.6)	472,077 (22.9)	89 (24.2)	519,778 (24.1)				
60-75	102 (17.8)	504,969 (24.5)	39 (10.6)	554,031 (25.7)				
Self-identified race and ethnicity								
Hispanic/Latino/Spanish ^b	28 (4.9)	111,640 (5.4)	44 (12.0)	145,567 (6.8)				
Non-Hispanic Black	37 (6.5)	136,322 (6.6)	44 (12.0)	115,712 (5.4)				
Non-Hispanic White	431 (75.4)	1,610,606 (78.1)	245 (66.6)	1,745,683 (81.0)				
Non-Hispanic Other	76 (13.3)	204,686 (9.9)	35 (9.5)	148,898 (6.9)				
Relationship status								
Married	302 (52.8)	1,115,152 (54.0)	167 (45.4)	1,121,536 (52.0)				
Divorced, widowed or separated	22 (3.8)	232,210 (11.2)	24 (6.5)	270,048 (12.5)				
Never married	248 (43.4)	715,892 (34.7)	177 (48.1)	764,276 (35.4)				
Educational attainment								
High school or less	64 (11.2)	646,286 (31.3)	89 (24.2)	837,625 (38.8)				
Some college	122 (21.4)	664,737 (32.2)	122 (33.8)	681,997 (31.6)				
Bachelor's degree	229 (40.1)	490,685 (23.8)	95 (26.3)	415,900 (19.3)				
Master's degree or more	157 (27.5)	227,583 (11.0)	62 (17.2)	196,973 (9.1)				
Health insurance coverage								
Insured	535 (93.5)	1,928,916 (93.5)	323 (87.8)	1,991,826 (92.4)				
Uninsured	37 (6.5)	134,338 (6.5)	45 (12.2)	164,034 (7.6)				

^a Data source: US Census Bureau (23). All values are number (percentage) unless otherwise indicated. Data for study participants were collected at baseline (before entry into the Super Colon exhibit) only.

^b US Census Bureau data included the term "Spanish."

Table 3. Actual Knowledge and Self-Perceived Knowledge About CRC and Screening Intention for CRC Before Viewing an Inflatable Colon, Men Aged 18–75 Years at 2 State Fairs in the Midwest (N = 940), 2023^a

	Actual knowledge (answered correctly)			Self-perceived				
Characteristic	Item 1 (age at first screen) ⁶	Item 2 (family risk) ^c	ltem 3 (polyp removal) ^d	ltem 4 (feeling symptoms) ^e	ltem 1 (know wþat a polyp is) ¹	Item 2 (know about CRC) ^g	ltem 3 (know about CRC progression) ^h	Intend to be screened
No. (%) of participants	335 (35.6)	847 (90.1)	769 (81.8)	827 (88.0)	705 (75.0)	707 (75.2)	609 (64.8)	740 (78.7)
Age group, y								
≤45	160 (27.5)	527 (90.7)	452 (77.8)	495 (85.2)	376 (64.7)	519 (89.3)	535 (92.1)	409 (70.4)
>45	175 (48.8)	320 (89.1)	317 (88.3)	332 (92.5)	329 (91.6)	284 (79.1)	301 (83.8)	331 (92.2)
<i>P</i> value ^j	<.001	.44	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
Educational attainment								
Some college or less	105 (26.4)	342 (86.2)	302 (76.1)	335 (84.4)	263 (66.2)	354 (89.2)	361 (90.9)	292 (73.6)
Bachelor's degree or more	230 (42.4)	505 (93.0)	467 (86.0)	492 (90.6)	442 (81.4)	449 (82.7)	475 (87.5)	448 (82.5)
<i>P</i> value ^j	<.001	<.001	<.001	.004	<.001	.005	.10	<.001
Has a regular health care provider								
Yes	247 (37.9)	583 (89.4)	547 (83.9)	582 (89.3)	511 (78.4)	534 (81.9)	561 (86.0)	534 (81.9)
No	88 (30.6)	264 (91.7)	222 (77.1)	245 (85.1)	194 (67.4)	269 (93.4)	275 (95.5)	206 (71.5)
<i>P</i> value ^j	.03	.29	.01	.07	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
Self-identified race and ethnicity								
Non-Hispanic White	268 (39.6)	622 (92.0)	572 (84.6)	621 (91.9)	534 (79.0)	582 (86.1)	607 (89.8)	556 (82.2)
All other races	67 (25.4)	225 (85.2)	197 (74.6)	206 (78.0)	171 (64.8)	221 (83.7)	229 (86.7)	184 (69.7)
<i>P</i> value ^j	<.001	.002	<.001	<.001	<.001	.35	.18	<.001
Study site								
A	235 (41.1)	526 (92.0)	472 (82.5)	515 (90.0)	437 (76.4)	484 (84.6)	510 (89.2)	469 (82.0)
В	100 (27.2)	321 (87.2)	297 (80.7)	312 (84.8)	268 (72.8)	319 (86.7)	326 (88.6)	271 (73.6)
<i>P</i> value ^j	<.001	.02	.48	.02	.22	.38	.78	.002
Ever completed a stool-based test or an examination-based test or both								
Yes	189 (36.9)	454 (88. 7)	440 (85.9)	445 (86.9)	441 (86.1)	416 (81.2)	436 (85.2)	435 (85.0)
No	146 (34.1)	393 (91.8)	329 (76.9)	382 (89.2)	264 (61.7)	387 (90.4)	400 (93.5)	305 (71.3)
P value ^j	.37	.11	<.001	.27	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001

Abbreviation: CRC, colorectal cancer.

^a All values are number (percentage) of participants who answered correctly to items on actual knowledge or who answered as indicated to items on self-perceived knowledge or intent to be screened.

^b The true-false item was "Men at average risk should have their first screening for CRC at age 35?" The correct answer is "false."

^c The true-false item was "If I have a family member with CRC, I am at a higher risk of having it too." The correct answer is "true."

^d The true-false item was "Removing a polyp from my colon can prevent CRC." The correct answer is "true."

^e The true-false item was "CRC always has symptoms that you can feel." The correct answer is "false."

^f Response of "true" to the true-false item, "I know what a colon polyp is."

^g Response of "a lot" or "some things" to question, "How much do you feel you know about CRC now?" Response options were "a lot," "some things," or "nothing." ^h Response of "a lot" or "some things" to question, "How much do you feel you know about how CRC progresses now?" Response options were "a lot," "some things," or "nothing."

ⁱ Response of yes, regardless of time, to question, "Do you plan to obtain colorectal cancer screening in the future?". Response options were yes, in the next 1) 6 months, 2) 7 months to 1 year, 3) 13 months to 2 years, 4) sometime but not within 2 years; or no, 5) but have considered getting screened, or 6) will not get screened.

 j Determined by χ^{2} test.

(continued on next page)
(continued)

Table 3. Actual Knowledge and Self-Perceived Knowledge About CRC and Screening Intention for CRC Before Viewing an Inflatable Colon, Men Aged 18–75 Years at 2 State Fairs in the Midwest (N = 940), 2023^a

Actual knowledge (answered correctly				rectly) Self		Self-perceived knowledge		
Characteristic	ltem 1 (age at first screen) ^b	ltem 2 (family risk) ^c	ltem 3 (polyp removal) ^d	ltem 4 (feeling symptoms) ^e	ltem 1 (know what a polyp is)	Item 2 (know about CRC) ^g	ltem 3 (know about CRC progression) ^h	Intend to be screened
Relationship status								
Married	196 (41.8)	430 (91.7)	409 (87.2)	432 (92.1)	396 (84.4)	387 (82.5)	402 (85.7)	400 (85.3)
Not married	139 (29.5)	417 (88.5)	360 (76.4)	395 (83.9)	309 (65.6)	416 (88.3)	434 (92.1)	340 (72.2)
P value ^j	<.001	.11	<.001	<.001	<.001	.01	.002	<.001

Abbreviation: CRC, colorectal cancer.

^a All values are number (percentage) of participants who answered correctly to items on actual knowledge or who answered as indicated to items on self-perceived knowledge or intent to be screened.

^b The true-false item was "Men at average risk should have their first screening for CRC at age 35?" The correct answer is "false."

^c The true-false item was "If I have a family member with CRC, I am at a higher risk of having it too." The correct answer is "true."

^d The true-false item was "Removing a polyp from my colon can prevent CRC." The correct answer is "true."

^e The true-false item was "CRC always has symptoms that you can feel." The correct answer is "false."

^f Response of "true" to the true-false item, "I know what a colon polyp is."

^g Response of "a lot" or "some things" to question, "How much do you feel you know about CRC now?" Response options were "a lot," "some things," or "nothing." ^h Response of "a lot" or "some things" to question, "How much do you feel you know about how CRC progresses now?" Response options were "a lot," "some things," or "nothing."

ⁱ Response of yes, regardless of time, to question, "Do you plan to obtain colorectal cancer screening in the future?". Response options were yes, in the next 1) 6 months, 2) 7 months to 1 year, 3) 13 months to 2 years, 4) sometime but not within 2 years; or no, 5) but have considered getting screened, or 6) will not get screened.

^j Determined by χ^2 test.

Table 4. Actual Knowledge and Self-Perceived Knowledge About CRC and Screening Intention for CRC Screening Before and After Viewing an Inflatable Colon, Men Aged 18–75 Years at 2 State Fairs in Midwestern States A and B (N = 940), 2023^a

	Total sample			Site A			Site B		
Item	Pre	Post	P value ^b	Pre	Post	P value ^b	Pre	Post	P value ^b
Actual knowledge									
Item 1 (age at first screening) ^d	35.6	_c	_	41.0	_c	-	27.2	_c	_
Item 2 (family risk) ^e	90.1	89.9	.85	92.0	90.6	.28	87.2	88.9	.43
Item 3 (polyp removal) ^f	81.8	91.3	<.001	82.5	92.7	<.001	80.7	89.1	<.001
Item 4 (feeling symptoms) ^g	88.0	85.6	.05	90.0	89.3	.62	84.8	79.9	.02
Self-perceived knowled	ge			•					
Answered "true" to "I know what a colon polyp is."	75.0	96.2	<.001	76.4	96.0	<.001	72.8	96.5	<.001
"How much do you feel	you know about	CRC now?" ^h		•					
A lot	14.6	33.6	<.001	15.4	33.2	<.001	13.3	34.2	<.001
Some things	60.6	62.8		60.0	64.2		61.7	60.6	
"How much do you feel	you know about	how CRC progr	esses now?" ^h						
A lot	11.1	36.7	<.001	10.8	37.2	<.001	11.4	35.9	<.001
Some things	53.7	60.2		53.7	60.0		53.8	60.6	
Intend to be screened, %	78.7	86.1	<.001	82.0	87.4	<.001	73.6	84.0	<.001

Abbreviation: --, does not apply; CRC, colorectal cancer.

^a All values are number (percentage) of participants who answered correctly to items on actual knowledge or who answered as indicated to items on self-perceived knowledge or intent to be screened.

^b Determined by McNemar test.

^c Not assessed at postsurvey because the inflatable colon did not have information on age at first screening, and we observed that participants were wondering if they had missed the information and needed to walk through the inflatable colon again.

^d The true-false item was "Men at average risk should have their first screening for CRC at age 35?" The correct answer is "false." The item was not included on the postsurvey.

^e The true-false item was "If I have a family member with CRC, I am at a higher risk of having it too." The correct answer is "true."

^f The true-false item was "Removing a polyp from my colon can prevent CRC." The correct answer is "true."

^g The true-false item was "CRC always has symptoms that you can feel." The correct answer is "false."

^h Response options were "a lot," "some things," or "nothing."

¹ Percentage of participants who answered yes, regardless of time, to question, "Do you plan to obtain colorectal cancer screening in the future?" Response options were yes, in the next 1) 6 months, 2) 7 months to 1 year, 3) 13 months to 2 years, 4) sometime but not within 2 years; or no, 5) but have considered getting screened, or 6) will not get screened.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E05

JANUARY 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

The Effect of Disability and Social Determinants of Health on Breast and Cervical Cancer Screenings During the COVID-19 Pandemic

LaShae D. Rolle, MPH¹; Maurice J. Chery, MD¹; Michaela Larson, MPH¹; Melissa Lopez-Pentecost, PhD²; Carmen J. Calfa, MD²; Matthew P. Schlumbrecht, MD^{2,3}; Tracy E. Crane, PhD^{1,2}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/23_0234.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Rolle LD, Chery MJ, Larson M, Lopez-Pentecost M, Calfa CJ, Schlumbrecht MP, et al. The Effect of Disability and Social Determinants of Health on Breast and Cervical Cancer Screenings During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:230234. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.230234.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Prior research investigated the effect of disability status and social determinants of health on cancer screenings. Few studies have considered the implications of these factors on breast and cervical cancer screening during health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

What is added by this report?

We compared cancer screening rates among women before (2018) and amid (2020) the COVID-19 pandemic. Women with disabilities and lower income, and women lacking health insurance coverage had reduced odds of being up to date on mammograms and Pap tests, before as well as amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

What are the implications for public health practice?

The findings highlight the critical need for health policies and interventions tailored for people who have disabilities and are socially marginalized, especially during times of health crises, when disparities, including disparities in access to essential preventive screenings, are exacerbated.

Abstract

Introduction

The objective of this study was to examine the effect of disability status and social determinants of health (SDOH) on adherence to breast and cervical cancer screening recommendations during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

We conducted a secondary analysis of the 2018 and 2020 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data sets. We defined adherence to screenings according to the US Preventive Services Task Force guidelines for breast and cervical cancer screening. The analysis included respondents assigned female at birth, aged 50 to 74 years (breast cancer screening) or aged 21 to 65 years (cervical cancer screening). We performed logistic regression to evaluate breast and cervical cancer screening adherence, by disability status and SDOH (health insurance coverage, marital status, and urban residency), independently and simultaneously.

Results

Our analysis included 27,526 BRFSS respondents in 2018 and 2020. In 2018, women with disabilities had lower adjusted odds than women without disabilities of being up to date with mammograms (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = 0.76, 95% CI, 0.63–0.93) and Pap (Papanicolaou) tests (AOR = 0.73; 95% CI, 0.59–0.89). In 2020, among women with disabilities, the adjusted odds of mammogram and Pap test adherence decreased (AOR = 0.69; 95% CI, 0.54–0.89; AOR = 0.59; 95% CI, 0.47–0.75, respectively). In 2018, the adjusted odds of mammogram adherence among rural residents with and without disabilities were 0.83 (95% CI, 0.70–0.98), which decreased to 0.76 (95% CI, 0.62–0.93) in 2020.

Conclusion

The findings of this study highlight the effect of disability status and SDOH on breast and cervical cancer screening rates during the COVID-19 pandemic. Public health strategies that acknowledge and address these disparities are crucial in preparing for future public health crises.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/23 0234.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Introduction

Breast cancer is the most prevalent type of cancer among women in the US; an estimated 287,850 cases and 43,250 deaths attributed to breast cancer occur annually (1). Additionally, nearly 13,000 new cases of cervical cancer and 4,000 cervical cancer deaths occur annually (2). Adherence to cervical cancer screening recommendations can substantially mitigate the incidence and death associated with the disease. Similarly, biennial breast cancer screenings can decrease breast cancer mortality by up to 40% (3-5). However, disparities in breast and cervical cancer screening rates and access to health care services persist according to race, ethnicity, and social determinant of health (SDOH), and these disparities were exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic (6-9). In 2020, the pandemic led to a reduction or halt in breast and cervical cancer screening services in many parts of the US (7,8,10), and the precise implications arising from these reductions in cancer screening as a result of this global event are inconclusive.

Approximately 61 million adults in the US live with a disability (11). A disability is a condition that impairs normal body function or cognition, restricts activity, and limits participation in societal roles (11). The nature and effect of disabilities, which can be congenital, developmental, injury-related, or associated with other health conditions, are diverse and can affect areas such as vision, movement, thinking, communication, and social relationships (11). Cancer screening uptake among people with disabilities is lower than among people without disabilities (12). Disability status and SDOH can substantially affect breast and cervical cancer screening rates. People with disabilities, particularly those with low socioeconomic status, have lower rates of breast and cervical cancer screening (13). Addressing disparities in cancer screening uptake among people with disabilities and varying socioeconomic circumstances calls for a multilevel, comprehensive approach that goes beyond individual interventions to address the broader SDOH. Interventions, such as tailored education programs, can enhance awareness and understanding of the importance of regular screenings (14). The objective of this study was to fill gaps in knowledge by investigating disparities in adherence to breast and cervical cancer screening among women with disabilities; exploring the effect of SDOH, including health insurance coverage, income, marital status, employment, education, and urban residency, during the COVID-19 pandemic; and assessing the degree of need for tailored interventions to improve access and use of screening services and address health equity.

Methods

We conducted a secondary analysis of data from the 2018 and 2020 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS). BRFSS is an annual, nationwide cross-sectional survey that collects data on risk behaviors, chronic health conditions, and use of preventive services by US residents. In 2018, BRFSS had an overall landline response rate of 53.3% and a cell phone response rate of 43.4% (15), resulting in 437,436 records collected for 2018. In 2020, BRFSS had an overall response rate of 47.9% (16), collecting 401,958 records for the year. The inclusion criteria for our study were based on US Preventive Services Task Force (USP-STF) recommendations for breast cancer screening updated in 2016 (17) and recommendations for cervical cancer screening updated in 2018 (18). For breast cancer screening, our analysis included respondents aged 50 to 74 years assigned female at birth (hereinafter, women); we considered respondents who received a mammogram in the previous 2 years to be up to date with screening. For cervical cancer screening, our analysis included respondents aged 21 to 65 years assigned female at birth (hereinafter, women); we considered respondents who received a Papanicolaou (Pap) test in the previous 3 years to be up to date with screening. We used the weighted calculated variables procedures outlined by BRFSS and applied weight, cluster, and strata variables to obtain population-based estimates and odds ratios (ORs) representative of the general population of US women (19).

Dependent variables

The BRFSS-calculated variables MAM5023 (women aged 50–74 years who had a mammogram in the previous 2 years) and _ RFPAP35 (women aged 21–65 years who had a Pap test in the previous 3 years) were the main dependent variables.

Independent variables

Per the guidelines from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's "A Data Users' Guide to the Disability Questions," we combined the variables deaf; blind; difficulty concentrating, remembering, or making decisions; difficulty walking or climbing stairs; difficulty dressing or bathing; and difficulty doing errands alone due to a physical, mental, or emotional condition to create the binary (yes/no) variable disability (20). We included race and ethnicity to investigate the intersection of race and ethnicity and screening in the sample. We included the variables health insurance coverage, annual household income, marital status, employment, educational attainment, and urban or rural residence in the multivariate regression models. These variables represent key SDOH, in alignment with the Healthy People 2030 SDOH domains: economic stability (income), education access and quality

(educational attainment), health care access and quality (health insurance coverage), neighborhood and built environment (urban or rural residence), and social and community context (marital status).

Statistical analyses

We first conducted descriptive analyses to characterize the sample of women, categorizing them as either up to date or not on mammograms and Pap tests, by disability status and SDOH. We generated bivariate and multivariable logistic regression models to examine the association between disability status and SDOH (independently and simultaneously) and the odds of being up to date on mammograms and Pap tests. We evaluated SDOH through measures of health insurance coverage, annual household income, marital status, employment, educational attainment, and urban or rural residence. We assessed the odds of women with disabilities being up to date on mammograms and Pap tests, taking into account the influence of SDOH by using a domain statement. All tests were 2-sided, with an α of < .05. We used SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc) for all statistical analyses.

Results

Of the 27,526 respondents in both years, a substantial majority were current with mammograms and Pap tests in both 2018 and 2020. In 2018, 78.4% (n = 13,138) were up to date on mammograms, and 78.4% (n = 13,067) were up to date on Pap tests. In 2020, 77.8% (n = 8,388) were up to date on mammograms and 77.4% (n = 8,235) on Pap tests. In 2018, 24.6% (4,099 of 16,669) of respondents reported having a disability; in 2020, 22.6% (n = 2,456 of 10,857) of respondents reported having a disability. Among women with disabilities, 72.1% (n = 2,991) were up to date on mammograms in 2018, and 69.6% (n = 1,744) were up to date in 2020. Pap test uptake among women with disabilities was 69.4% (n = 2,915) in 2018 and 66.1% (n = 1,639) in 2020 (Table 1).

In 2018 and 2020, more than 95% of women with health insurance coverage were current with both mammograms and Pap tests. In contrast, among women without health insurance coverage, 3.9% (2018) and 3.4% (2020) were up to date on mammograms and 4.3% (2018) and 4.1% (2020) were up to date on Pap tests. In 2018, by annual household income, women with incomes of \$75,000 or more had the highest rates of being up to date on both mammograms (47.7%) and Pap tests (48.0%). Similarly, in 2020, this income bracket had the highest rates (48.6% for mammograms and 49.3% for Pap tests). Married women had consistently higher rates of being up to date on both tests in both years (2018: 69.6% for mammograms, 70.0% for Pap tests; 2020: 70.0% for mammograms, 70.2% for Pap tests). College graduates had the highest rates of being up to date on both mammograms (2018: 35.6%, 2020: 37.6%) and Pap tests (2018: 36.6%, 2020: 38.3%). Additionally, urban residents had higher rates than their rural counterparts in both years for mammograms (2018: 82.8%, 2020: 83.3%) and Pap tests (2018: 83.5%, 2020: 83.3%).

Adjusted model: independent comparison of mammogram and Pap test screening rates based on SDOH and disability status before (2018) vs during COVID-19 (2020)

In 2018, women with disabilities had lower odds than women without disabilities of being up to date on mammograms (AOR = 0.76; 95% CI, 0.63–0.93) and Pap tests (AOR = 0.73; 95% CI, 0.59-0.89). In 2020, these odds decreased to 0.69 (95% CI, 0.54-0.89) for mammograms and 0.59 (95% CI, 0.47-0.75) for Pap tests (Figure 1 and Figure 2). Women without health insurance coverage in 2018 had odds of 0.27 (95% CI, 0.20-0.37) for mammograms and 0.37 (95% CI, 0.27-0.52) for Pap tests, compared with women with health insurance coverage. In 2020, these odds changed to 0.26 (95% CI, 0.18-0.35) for mammogram and 0.42 (95% CI, 0.30–0.58) for Pap tests. In 2018, women with an annual household income of less than \$25,000, compared with women with an annual household income of \$75,000 or more, had an adjusted odds of 0.54 (95% CI, 0.40-0.73) for mammograms and 0.59 (95% CI, 0.43–0.82) for Pap tests. In 2020, these odds were 0.59 (95% CI, 0.43-0.82) for mammograms and 0.50 (95% CI, 0.36–0.69) for Pap tests. In 2018, married women, compared with women who were not married, had an adjusted odds of 1.12 (95% CI, 0.93–1.36) for mammograms and 1.21 (95% CI, 0.99–1.49) for Pap tests. In 2020, these odds changed to 1.25 (95% CI, 1.01-1.56) for mammograms and 1.18 (95% CI, 0.96-1.45) for Pap tests. Among rural residents, compared with urban residents, the adjusted odds in 2018 were 0.83 (95% CI, 0.70-0.98) for mammograms and 0.76 (95% CI, 0.62-0.93) for Pap tests. In 2020, these odds were 0.76 (95% CI, 0.62-0.93) for mammograms and 0.78 (95% CI, 0.64-0.95) for Pap tests. In 2018, women with some high school education, compared with women who were college graduates, had an adjusted odds of 1.47 (95% CI, 1.00-2.17) for mammograms and 1.61 (95% CI, 1.03-2.53) for Pap tests. These odds changed in 2020 to 1.61 (95% CI, 1.03-2.53) for mammograms and 1.11 (95% CI, 0.68-1.82) for Pap tests. Additionally, in 2018, unemployed women had significantly lower odds than employed women (AOR = 0.78; 95% CI, 0.65–0.95) of being up to date on Pap tests; in 2020, the AOR for Pap tests became nonsignificant (AOR = 1.08; 95% CI, 0.87-1.34).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

A 2018



B 2020

Variable		AOR (95% CI)
Disability: yes vs no		0.69 (0.54-0.89)
Insurance coverage: no vs yes	•	0.26 (0.18-0.35)
Income: <\$25,000 vs ≥\$75,000	+	0.59 (0.43-0.82)
Income: \$25,000 to \$49,999 vs ≥\$75,000		0.86 (0.64-1.16)
Income: \$50,000 to \$74,999 vs ≥\$75,000		0.76 (0.56-1.01)
Marital status: married vs not married		1.25 (1.01-1.56)
Employment: unemployed vs employed	+	1.02 (0.83-1.26)
Education: graduated from high school vs college gradua	te -	0.82 (0.65-1.04)
Education: some college vs college graduate	+	1.04 (0.82-1.33)
Education: some high school vs college graduate		1.61 (1.03-2.53)
Rural residence: yes vs no	+	0.76 (0.62-0.93)
	0.5 1 1.5 2	
	Lower Odds Higher Odds	-20

Figure 1. Adjusted odds of being up to date on mammogram screening in A) 2018 and B) 2020 by social determinants of health among all women eligible for screening, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018 and 2020.

A 2018

Variable		AOR (95% CI)
Disability: yes vs no		0.73 (0.59-0.89)
Insurance coverage: no vs yes	•	0.37 (0.27-0.52)
Income: <\$25,000 vs ≥\$75,000		0.66 (0.47-0.93)
Income: \$25,000 to \$49,999 vs ≥\$75,000	-	0.67 (0.50-0.90)
Income: \$50,000 to \$74,999 vs ≥\$75,000		0.91 (0.69-1.19)
Marital status: married vs not married		1.21 (0.99-1.49)
Employment: unemployed vs employed	-	0.78 (0.65-0.95)
Education: graduated from high school vs college graduate	+	0.66 (0.52-0.84)
Education: some college vs college graduate	+	0.80 (0.66-0.98)
Education: some high school vs college graduate		0.86 (0.59-1.27)
Rural residence: yes vs no	+	0.68 (0.57-0.83)
	0.5 1 1.5 2	-

Lower Odds Higher Odds

B 2020

Variable		AOR (95% CI)
Disability: yes vs no	+ ;	0.59 (0.47-0.75)
Insurance coverage: no vs yes	+	0.42 (0.30-0.58)
Income: <\$25,000 vs ≥\$75,000	-	0.50 (0.36-0.69)
Income: \$25,000 to \$49,999 vs ≥\$75,000		0.76 (0.59-0.99)
Income: \$50,000 to \$74,999 vs ≥\$75,000		0.73 (0.56-0.96)
Marital status: married vs not married	÷	1.18 (0.96-1.45)
Employment: unemployed vs employed		1.08 (0.87-1.34)
Education: graduated from high school vs college graduat	e	0.81 (0.65-1.00)
Education: some college vs college graduate	+	0.95 (0.77-1.18)
Education: some high school vs college graduate		1.11 (0.68-1.82)
Rural residence: yes vs no	+	0.78 (0.64-0.95)
	05 1 15 2	
	Lower Odds Higher Odd	⇒ ds

Figure 2. Adjusted odds of being up to date on Pap test screening in A) 2018 and B) 2020 by social determinants of health among all women eligible for screening, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018 and 2020.

Adjusted model: analysis of SDOH and race and ethnicity among women with disabilities

In 2018, among women with disabilities, the likelihood of being up to date with mammograms was higher among Hispanic (AOR = 2.42; 95% CI, 1.37–4.26) and non-Hispanic Black women (AOR = 2.20; 95% CI, 1.27–3.83) than non-Hispanic White women (Table 2). Income disparities were evident: women with an annual household income of \$25,000 to \$49,999 had lower odds than women with an annual household income of \$75,000 or more of being up to date with mammograms (AOR = 0.47; 95% CI, 0.29-0.74). Compared with non-Hispanic White women with disabilities, Hispanic (AOR = 2.08; 95% CI, 1.16–3.74) and non-Hispanic Black (AOR = 2.04; 95% CI, 1.08–3.87) women with disabilities were more likely to have Pap tests. Women with an annual household income of less than \$25,000 had lower odds than women with an annual household income of \$75,000 or more of

being up to date with Pap tests (AOR = 0.54; 95% CI, 0.31-0.93). In 2020, non-Hispanic Black women had higher odds for mammograms (AOR = 2.70; 95% CI, 1.40-5.21) and Pap tests (AOR = 2.15; 95% CI, 1.19-3.87) than they did in 2018.

Discussion

Building on existing evidence of how disability status and SDOH influence preventive screening behaviors, our study offers a novel perspective by examining these factors during the COVID-19 pandemic. By analyzing SDOH and disability separately, we aimed to shed light on the unique influence of each on access to preventive care and health outcomes. The pandemic likely heightened or introduced new barriers to use of health care services. Our adjusted models underscored the intricate relationships and complexities of disability status and SDOH in influencing preventive screening behaviors for breast and cervical cancer during the pandemic.

In 2018, SDOH shaped the screening behaviors of women with disabilities. Those earning below \$50,000 had lower odds, compared with those earning \$75,000 or more, of receiving a Pap test or mammogram, and married women had higher odds than unmarried women of receiving a mammogram. Regardless of the screening type, health insurance access was critical, and its absence hampered rates of receipt.

During the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, we found shifts in screening dynamics among racial and ethnic minority groups. Racial differences in rates of receipt for mammograms were more pronounced in 2020 than in 2018: the odds of being up to date with screening among non-Hispanic Black women, compared with non-Hispanic White women, were higher in 2020 than in 2018. Although screening rates might be increasing among racial and ethnic minority groups, addressing the broader disparities in breast and cervical cancer outcomes requires a comprehensive approach that encompasses early detection, equitable access to high-quality care, culturally sensitive health care delivery, and ongoing support throughout the cancer care journey. Meanwhile, disparities in being up to date with screening persisted from 2018 to 2020, but with attenuated intensity. The central role of health insurance coverage also persisted, with lack of insurance consistently associated with reduced odds of screening uptake.

We found that mammogram and Pap test screening rates among women with disabilities declined by 2.5 percentage points (from 72.1% to 69.6% for mammograms) and 3.3 percentage points (from 69.4% to 66.1% for Pap tests), respectively, from 2018 to 2020, indicating an exacerbation of disparities based on disability during COVID-19. The finding that women with disabilities had lower odds than the general population of being up to date on breast and cervical cancer screenings before and during the pandemic corroborates previous findings that highlighted challenges in accessing health care services among people with disabilities (13). Similar patterns of health care underutilization have been reported among people with disabilities across a range of preventive services and medical examinations (21,22). This underutilization may be attributed to various factors, such as physical accessibility, communication barriers, and lack of health care provider expertise in managing patients with disabilities; these factors warrant further research (23). Research on disability and health behaviors underscores the effect of these factors on the engagement of people with disabilities in preventive behaviors (24,25). During the COVID-19 pandemic, these factors were most likely intensified.

Interventions need to be tailored to the unique needs and challenges of people with disabilities, encompassing strategies such as individualized communication, physical adjustments, and specialized health care provider training (23). The design of interventions aimed at promoting mammograms and Pap tests among this group must prioritize the accessibility and adaptability of health care facilities and services, especially during a public health crisis.

We examined the relationship between economic factors and mammograms and Pap tests. Women with higher income and health insurance coverage had higher odds of being up to date with screening. Our findings resonate with recent studies indicating financial constraints and lack of health insurance as barriers to mammogram screening (26). Expanding access to affordable health insurance and reducing out-of-pocket costs for preventive services should be prioritized.

Studies by Wong et al and Friedman demonstrated that people with disabilities were more financially affected by the pandemic than their counterparts without disabilities. These financial challenges, including job loss and reductions in income, amplified the existing barriers to preventive health care services. More than half of people with disabilities surveyed reported difficulties in paying for usual household expenses during the pandemic (27). Many people relied on credit cards, loans, or borrowing from friends and family to meet their needs (27). Increased financial hardship among people with disabilities, particularly women, could extend to preventive health services such as mammograms and Pap tests (27,28). Women with disabilities, low income, or lost income may forgo these services, potentially leading to late-stage diagnosis and poorer health outcomes. Our findings, in alignment with previous literature, emphasize the necessity to address the economic barriers influencing health-seeking behaviors and the need for inclusive health care strategies during public health emergencies.

Our research provides a nuanced understanding of how marital status and educational attainment influenced screenings during the pandemic. The observed association between marital status and

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

adherence to mammograms and Pap tests highlights the crucial role of SDOH in health behaviors. Although we did not find a significant association between educational attainment and odds of being up to date on mammograms or Pap tests in our adjusted model, higher educational attainment has been shown to positively affect health-seeking behaviors in other studies (29). The discrepancy between our findings and previous findings may suggest that the influence of education may interact with other factors in complex ways, requiring further research. Nevertheless, considering the broader evidence linking educational attainment to health-seeking behaviors, public health initiatives should focus on strategies that can appeal to people with lower education levels or people who lack social support. These interventions could be implemented through community-based interventions or partnerships with educational institutions.

Our research uniquely evaluated health care accessibility and use in the context of rural and urban disparities. We found a significant association between urban residency and adherence to mammogram and Pap test screening: the odds of being up to date with mammograms and Pap tests were lower among rural residents than urban residents. Differences in health care access between urban and rural areas may contribute to disparities in adherence to mammograms and Pap test screening (30). Innovative solutions, such as mobile mammography units and telemedicine consultations, can improve access to screening services in rural and underserved areas (31). Novel approaches, such as mail-in self-sampling for cervical cancer screening, can help address accessibility and acceptability issues in this population (32). An evaluation of health care accessibility and use among disabled people during the COVID-19 pandemic is of paramount importance.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First is the cross-sectional design of the data set. Although our approach allowed us to generate a snapshot of data at 2 points in time, it inherently precluded the ability to infer causality. Second, our reliance on the BRFSS data set, which uses self-reported data, might have introduced recall bias, response bias, or social desirability bias. Although the BRFSS data set is a robust and widely used resource in public health research, the potential discrepancies in self-reported data versus actual behaviors or status cannot be ignored. Third, we did not test whether changes in being up to date on screening from 2018 to 2020 were significant. Future studies using a longitudinal design and validated self-reported data with objective measures may provide more precise findings and elucidate the causal relationships between disability status, SDOH, and cancer screenings during health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Conclusion

Our study reaffirms the significance of SDOH in mammogram and Pap test screening behaviors. The effect of disability status, income, health insurance coverage, marital status, educational attainment, and urban or rural residence on screening adherence for breast and cervical cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic has magnified pre-existing health care challenges and disparities. Considering the unique circumstances brought about by the pandemic, it is crucial to design interventions that address the barriers imposed by sociodemographic factors. By enhancing accessibility, affordability, and awareness of screenings, especially among populations who lack access to health care, we could mitigate the detrimental effects of a health care crisis like the pandemic on breast and cervical cancer screening rates. A tailored approach could contribute to reducing disparities and improving breast cancer outcomes.

Acknowledgments

We express our gratitude to Crane Research Lab for their continued support and mentorship throughout this project. The authors received no external financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: LaShae D. Rolle, MPH, University of Miami, 1120 NW 14th St, Miami, FL 33136 (ldr84@miami.edu).

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Public Health Sciences, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, Florida. ²Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, Florida. ³Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences, Miller School of Medicine, Miami, Florida.

References

- 1. Giaquinto AN, Sung H, Miller KD, Kramer JL, Newman LA, Minihan A, et al. Breast cancer statistics, 2022. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2022;72(6):524–541. doi:10.3322/caac.21754
- 2. National Cancer Institute. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Cancer stat facts: cervical cancer. Accessed July 1, 2023. http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/ cervix.html#incidence-mortality.

- 3. National Cancer Institute. Why are many women overdue for cervical cancer screening? February 22, 2022. Accessed July 1, 2023. https://www.cancer.gov/news-events/cancer-currentsblog/2022/overdue-cervical-cancer-screening-increasing
- 4. Ahn S, Wooster M, Valente C, Moshier E, Meng R, Pisapati K, et al. Impact of screening mammography on treatment in women diagnosed with breast cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2018; 25(10):2979–2986. doi:10.1245/s10434-018-6646-8
- 5. Seely JM, Alhassan T. Screening for breast cancer in 2018what should we be doing today? *Curr Oncol.* 2018; 25(11)(suppl 1):S115–S124. doi:10.3747/co.25.3770
- 6. Monsivais P, Amiri S, Robison J, Pflugeisen C, Kordas G, Amram O. Racial and socioeconomic inequities in breast cancer screening before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: analysis of two cohorts of women 50 years +. *Breast Cancer*. 2022;29(4):740–746. doi:10.1007/s12282-022-01352-2
- 7. Richman I, Tessier-Sherman B, Galusha D, Oladele CR, Wang K. Breast cancer screening during the COVID-19 pandemic: moving from disparities to health equity. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2023;115(2):139–145. doi:10.1093/jnci/djac172
- 8. Tsapatsaris A, Babagbemi K, Reichman MB. Barriers to breast cancer screening are worsened amidst COVID-19 pandemic: a review. *Clin Imaging*. 2022;82:224–227. doi:10.1016/j. clinimag.2021.11.025
- 9. Amram O, Robison J, Amiri S, Pflugeisen B, Roll J, Monsivais P. Socioeconomic and racial inequities in breast cancer screening during the COVID-19 pandemic in Washington State. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(5):e2110946. doi:10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2021.10946
- Barsouk A, Saginala K, Aluru JS, Rawla P, Barsouk A. US cancer screening recommendations: developments and the impact of COVID-19. *Med Sci (Basel)*. 2022;10(1):16. doi:10. 3390/medsci10010016
- 11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Disability and health promotion. Disability and health overview. 2020. Accessed June 15, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/ disabilityandhealth/disability.html
- 12. Chevarley FM, Thierry JM, Gill CJ, Ryerson AB, Nosek MA. Health, preventive health care, and health care access among women with disabilities in the 1994-1995 National Health Interview Survey, Supplement on Disability. *Womens Health Issues.* 2006;16(6):297–312. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2006.10.002
- Iezzoni LI, Kurtz SG, Rao SR. Trends in mammography over time for women with and without chronic disability. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2015;24(7):593–601. doi:10.1089/jwh.2014. 5181
- 14. Mead JP, Fisher Z, Tree JJ, Wong PTP, Kemp AH. Protectors of wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic: key roles for gratitude and tragic optimism in a UK-based cohort. Front Psychol. 2021;12:647951. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.647951

- 15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018 BRFSS survey data and documentation. October 27, 2022. Accessed June 1, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/annual_ 2018.html
- 16. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020 BRFSS survey data and documentation. October 27, 2022. Accessed June 1, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/annual_ 2020.html
- Siu AL; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for breast cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2016;164(4): 279–296. doi:10.7326/M15-2886
- 18. Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, Davidson KW, et al; US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for cervical cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2018;320(7): 674–686. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.10897
- 19. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Complex Sampling Weights and Preparing 2020 BRFSS Module Data for Analysis. July 2021. Accessed June 1, 2023. https://www. cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/2020/pdf/Complex-Smple-Weights-Prep-Module-Data-Analysis-2020-508.pdf
- 20. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. A Data Users' Guide to the Disability Questions Included in the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. Published July 18, 2018. Accessed June 1, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/data_ documentation/pdf/BRFSS_Data_Users_Guide_on_Disability_ Questions_2018-508.pdf
- 21. Verlenden JV, Zablotsky B, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Peacock G. Healthcare access and utilization for young adults with disability: U.S., 2014–2018. J Adolesc Health. 2022;70(2): 241–248. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.08.023
- 22. Sarkodie AO. Enhancing the capability of persons with disability to utilize healthcare. *Int J Soc Econ.* 2023;50(6): 787–799. doi:10.1108/IJSE-02-2022-0084
- 23. Lewis P, Gaffney RJ, Wilson NJ. A narrative review of acute care nurses' experiences nursing patients with intellectual disability: underprepared, communication barriers and ambiguity about the role of caregivers. *J Clin Nurs.* 2017; 26(11-12):1473–1484. doi:10.1111/jocn.13512
- 24. Lumsdaine G, Lord R. (Re) creating a healthy self in and through disability sport: autoethnographic chaos and quest stories from a sportswoman with cerebral palsy. *Disabil Soc.* 2023;38(7):1231–1250. doi:10.1080/09687599.2021.1983415
- 25. Rimmer JH, Rubin SS, Braddock D. Barriers to exercise in African American women with physical disabilities. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2000;81(2):182–188. doi:10.1016/S0003-9993(00)90138-2

- 26. Sweeney K, Showalter DA. Implementing lay navigation to increase breast cancer screening in an underserved population after COVID-19. *J Oncol Navig Surviv.* 2023;14(1).
- 27. Wong J, Ezeife N, Kudla A, Crown D, Trierweiler R, Capraro P, et al. Employment consequences of COVID-19 for people with disabilities and employers. *J Occup Rehabil.* 2022;32(3): 464–472. doi:10.1007/s10926-021-10012-9
- Friedman C. Financial hardship experienced by people with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Disabil Health J.* 2022;15(4):101359. doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2022.101359
- Hossain F, Danos D, Prakash O, Gilliland A, Ferguson TF, Simonsen N, et al. Neighborhood social determinants of triple negative breast cancer. *Front Public Health*. 2019;7:18. doi:10. 3389/fpubh.2019.00018
- 30. Douthit N, Kiv S, Dwolatzky T, Biswas S. Exposing some important barriers to health care access in the rural USA. *Public Health.* 2015;129(6):611–620. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2015. 04.001
- 31. Cancino RS, Su Z, Mesa R, Tomlinson GE, Wang J. The impact of COVID-19 on cancer screening: challenges and opportunities. *JMIR Cancer*. 2020;6(2):e21697. doi:10.2196/ 21697
- 32. Arbyn M, Smith SB, Temin S, Sultana F, Castle P; Collaboration on Self-Sampling and HPV Testing. Detecting cervical precancer and reaching underscreened women by using HPV testing on self samples: updated meta-analyses. BMJ. 2018;363:k4823. doi:10.1136/bmj.k4823

Tables

Table 1. Sample Characteristics by Mammogram and Pap Test Uptake in 2018 (n = 16,669) and 2020 (n = 10,857), BRFSS

	Up to date on mammogram, no. (% ^a)				Up to date on Pap test, no. (% ⁸)			
	2018		2020		2018		2020	
Variable	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Overall	13,138 (78.4)	3,531 (21.6)	8,388 (77.8)	2,469 (22.2)	13,067 (78.4)	3,602 (21.6)	8,235 (77.4)	2,622 (22.6)
Disability						·		
Yes	2,991 (72.1)	1,108 (27.9)	1,744 (69.6)	712 (30.4)	2,915 (69.4)	1,184 (30.6)	1,639 (66.1)	817 (33.9)
No	10,147 (80.7)	2,423 (19.3)	6,644 (80.4)	1,757 (19.6)	10,152 (81.5)	2,418 (18.5)	6,596 (81.0)	1,805 (19.0)
Health insurance coverage								
Yes	12,715 (96.1)	3,101 (85.6)	8,131 (96.6)	2,150 (85.9)	12,595 (95.7)	3,221 (87.1)	7,939 (95.9)	2,342 (88.3)
No	423 (3.9)	430 (14.4)	257 (3.4)	319 (14.1)	472 (4.3)	381 (12.9)	296 (4.1)	280 (11.7)
Annual household income, \$								
<25000	2,271 (17.9)	1,008 (29.1)	1,316 (15.8)	656 (28.6)	2,224 (17.2)	1,055 (31.4)	1,254 (15.1)	718 (30.6)
25,000-49,999	2,575 (16.9)	891 (24.3)	1,656 (19.7)	604 (20.8)	2,537 (17.1)	929 (23.5)	1,595 (19.5)	665 (21.5)
50,000-74,999	2,422 (17.5)	576 (15.3)	1,489 (15.9)	433 (16.4)	2,400 (17.6)	598 (14.8)	1,468 (16.0)	454 (15.9)
>75,000	5,870 (47.7)	1,056 (31.3)	3,927 (48.6)	776 (34.2)	5,906 (48.0)	1,020 (30.2)	3,918 (49.3)	785 (32.0)
Marital status								
Married	8,185 (69.6)	1,888 (60.9)	5,396 (70.0)	1,381 (60.5)	8,213 (70.0)	1,860 (59.8)	5,373 (70.2)	1,404 (59.8)
Not married	4,953 (30.4)	1,643 (39.1)	2,992 (30.0)	1,088 (39.5)	4,854 (30.0)	1,742 (40.2)	2,862 (29.8)	1,218 (40.2)
Employment								
Employed	8,002 (58.6)	1,997 (54.3)	5,051 (57.5)	1,352 (51.2)	8,099 (60.5)	1,900 (47.4)	5,022 (57.8)	1,381 (50.2)
Unemployed	5,136 (41.4)	1,534 (45.7)	3,337 (42.5)	1,117 (48.8)	4,968 (39.5)	1,702 (52.6)	3,213 (42.2)	1,241 (49.8)
Education								
Some high school	403 (6.4)	163 (7.0)	209 (7.0)	91 (6.4)	375 (5.8)	191 (9.0)	196 (6.5)	104 (8.3)
Graduated from high school	2,900 (26.3)	964 (32.0)	1,763 (23.9)	706 (32.8)	2,852 (25.3)	1,012 (35.2)	1,708 (24.0)	761 (32.2)
Some college	3,493 (31.7)	1,052 (34.3)	2,296 (31.4)	693 (30.6)	3,478 (32.2)	1,067 (32.3)	2,219 (31.2)	770 (31.5)
College graduate	6,342 (35.6)	1,352 (26.7)	4,120 (37.6)	979 (30.2)	6,362 (36.6)	1,332 (23.4)	4,112 (38.3)	987 (28.0)
Rural residence								
No	8,718 (82.8)	2,150 (77.5)	5,523 (83.3)	1,438 (76.1)	8,735 (83.5)	2,133 (74.8)	5,406 (83.3)	1,555 (76.3)
Yes	4,420 (17.2)	1,381 (22.5)	2,865 (16.7)	1,031 (23.9)	4,332 (16.5)	1,469 (25.2)	2,829 (16.7)	1,067 (23.7)

Abbreviations: BRFSS, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; Pap, Papanicolaou.

^a Percentages were calculated as column percentages, except for the category for disability, which were calculated as row percentages. All percentages were weighted by using the BRFSS dataset methodology, accounting for the complex survey design of BRFSS, which includes stratification (_ststr), clustering (_psu), and weight (_llcpwt) variables.

Table 2. Adjusted Odds^a of Being Up to Date on Mammogram and Pap Test by SDOH and Race and Ethnicity Among Women With Disabilities, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2018 and 2020

	Mammogram, AOR (95% CI)	l.	Pap test, AOR (95% CI)		
Variable	2018	2020	2018	2020	
Race and ethnicity					
Hispanic	2.42 (1.37-4.26)	1.43 (0.51-4.01)	2.08 (1.16-3.74)	2.25 (0.74-6.83)	
Non-Hispanic Black	2.20 (1.27-3.83)	2.70 (1.40-5.21)	2.04 (1.08-3.87)	2.15 (1.19-3.87)	
Non-Hispanic White	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Health insurance coverage					
No	0.24 (0.15-0.37)	0.27 (0.14-0.52)	0.34 (0.21-0.55)	0.49 (0.26-0.94)	
Yes	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Annual household income, \$					
<25,000	0.64 (0.38-1.05)	0.67 (0.36-1.24)	0.54 (0.31-0.93)	0.63 (0.34-1.17)	
25,000-49,999	0.47 (0.29-0.74)	0.93 (0.49-1.77)	0.53 (0.33-0.83)	0.83 (0.46-1.52)	
50,000-74,999	0.88 (0.50-1.54)	1.23 (0.62-2.40)	0.74 (0.41-1.35)	0.90 (0.43-1.88)	
>75,000	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Marital status					
Married	1.39 (1.01-1.91)	1.48 (0.96-2.29)	1.32 (0.91-1.92)	1.30 (0.86-1.98)	
Not married	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Employment					
Unemployed	1.04 (0.74-1.45)	1.33 (0.90-1.98)	0.82 (0.59-1.14)	1.14 (0.78-1.68)	
Employed	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Educational attainment					
Graduated from high school	0.83 (0.59-1.17)	0.78 (0.45-1.36)	0.74 (0.50-1.09)	0.75 (0.44-1.26)	
Some college	0.85 (0.61-1.20)	1.26 (0.75-2.10)	0.86 (0.61-1.20)	0.88 (0.53-1.45)	
Some high school	0.93 (0.56-1.55)	2.09 (0.99-4.42)	0.72 (0.45-1.16)	1.10 (0.54-2.24)	
College graduate	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Residence					
Rural	0.86 (0.64-1.14)	1.10 (0.72-1.68)	0.82 (0.62-1.10)	0.89 (0.60-1.31)	
Urban	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	

Abbreviation: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; Pap, Papanicolaou; SDOH, social determinants of health.

^a Adjusted for race, annual household income, marital status, employment status, health insurance coverage, education level, and rural/urban residence, taking into account the complex survey design factors such as weighting, stratification, and clustering.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E98

DECEMBER 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Trends in Gestational Weight Gain and Prepregnancy Obesity in South Carolina, 2015–2021

Sarah E. Simpson, MPH¹; Angela M. Malek, PhD¹; Chun-Che Wen, PhD¹;
Brian Neelon, PhD^{1,2}; Dulaney A. Wilson, PhD¹; Julio Mateus, MD, PhD³;
John Pearce, PhD¹; Kalyan J. Chundru, MSCR¹; Jeffrey E. Korte, PhD¹;
Hermes Florez, MD, PhD^{1,2}; Mallory Alkis, MD⁴; Matt Finneran, MD⁴; Kelly J. Hunt, PhD^{1,2}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0137.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Simpson SE, Malek AM, Wen C, Neelon B, Wilson DA, Mateus J, et al. Trends in Gestational Weight Gain and Prepregnancy Obesity in South Carolina, 2015–2021. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240137. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.240137.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

The prevalence of prepregnancy obesity, inadequate weight gain, and excessive weight gain is high among pregnant women and varies by race and ethnicity. However, whether the COVID-19 pandemic (eg, food shortages, isolation due to lockdown measures) had a significant long-term effect on weight gain in this population is unclear.

What is added by this report?

The COVID-19 pandemic did not alter trends of gestational weight gain. It did, however, have a small effect on trends in prepregnancy obesity, with differential effects across racial and ethnic groups.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Prepregnancy obesity and gestational weight gain are public health issues that can lead to the development of adverse maternal and infant pregnancy outcomes, warranting effective public health interventions.

Abstract

Introduction

We examined trends in prepregnancy obesity and gestational weight gain, with a focus on racial and ethnic differences, before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in South Carolina.

Methods

Hospital and emergency department discharge codes were linked to birth certificates. Prepregnancy obesity was defined as a body mass index (kg/m^2) of 30 or higher. Gestational weight gain was defined as inadequate, adequate, or excessive based on the 2009 Institute of Medicine guidelines. A generalized linear model with a multinomial distribution and glogit link estimated the risk of inadequate weight gain and excessive weight gain with adequate weight gain as the reference group. The generalized linear model with a modified Poisson distribution and log link estimated prepregnancy obesity risk with nonobese as the reference group.

Results

Our study included 306,344 full-term, singleton live births among 239,597 mothers from 2015 through 2021. The prevalence of inadequate weight gain increased across all racial and ethnic groups prepandemic (relative risk [RR] = 1.02; 95% CI, 1.01–1.02) and attenuated during the pandemic (RR = 0.99; 95% CI, 0.96–1.01). The prevalence of excessive weight gain was high and remained stable across all races and ethnicities before and during the pandemic. The prevalence of prepregnancy obesity increased across all racial and ethnic groups prepandemic; the prevalence after the start of the pandemic increased only among women of "other" races and ethnicities (RR = 1.12; 95% CI, 1.05–1.19) while attenuating among Hispanic, non-Hispanic Black, and non-Hispanic White women.

Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic did not alter trends of gestational weight gain; however, it did have a small effect on trends in prepregnancy obesity, with differential effects across racial and ethnic groups. The prevalence of prepregnancy obesity, inadequate weight gain, and excessive weight gain remains high among pregnant women in South Carolina. Obesity and weight gain are risk factors for many adverse maternal and infant preg-



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24 0137.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

nancy outcomes. Their high prevalence indicates the importance of developing effective weight management programs for women of childbearing age and pregnant women.

Introduction

Over the past 40 years, obesity and weight gain have increased rapidly in the US, particularly among children, adolescents, and young adults. However, the literature is lacking assessment of how obesity and weight gain have changed over time among women of childbearing age. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC's) Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System and the National Vital Statistics System reported the prevalence of adequate weight gain during pregnancy as 32.1% during 2012 and 2013 (1). During the same period, the prevalence of inadequate weight gain during pregnancy was 20.4%, and the prevalence of excessive weight gain was 47.5%. Stratified by prepregnancy body mass index (BMI) (kg/m²) category, underweight women (32.2%) were more likely to gain inadequate weight during pregnancy, whereas 61.6% of overweight and 55.8% of obese women were more likely to gain excessive weight than women of normal weight (1).

CDC's National Vital Statistics System reported that 27.2% of women were overweight before pregnancy and 30% had obesity in 2020. Among women who had obesity, 16.1% were classified as class I obese (BMI 30.0 to 34.9), 8.1% as class II obese (BMI 35.0 to 39.9), and 5.9% as class III obese (BMI \geq 40.0) (2). Additionally, the prevalence of obesity was significantly higher among non-Hispanic Black women (40.3%) compared with non-Hispanic White (27.4%) and Hispanic women (33.6%) (2).

Prepregnancy obesity and gestational weight gain are associated with many adverse infant outcomes (low birthweight, preterm birth, large size for gestational age, admission to neonatal intensive care unit, macrosomia, childhood obesity, infant mortality) and poor maternal outcomes (cesarean delivery, gestational hypertension, preeclampsia) (3–7).

Although the association between prepregnancy obesity, gestational weight gain, and adverse maternal and infant outcomes has been established, few studies have focused on how the prevalence of these conditions has changed over time, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic has affected not only the health care system and subsequent health outcomes but also people's physical activity and eating behaviors because of social distancing measures (both self-imposed and mandated) and disruptions in the US food supply chain. Initial studies on the pandemic's effect on obesity and weight gain differ by whether the increase was significant (8–15). Our objective was to examine trends in prepregnancy obesity and gestational weight gain with a focus on racial and ethnic differences and associated sociodemographic and clinical factors before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in South Carolina, from January 2015 through December 2021.

Methods

Study design and population

Our sample population was South Carolina resident mothers who delivered live singleton births from January 2015 through December 2021. Because gestational weight gain is affected by preterm birth, we limited the population to full-term (37 weeks) deliveries. The South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control provided information from birth certificates. Data from birth certificates were linked to maternal inpatient hospital discharge records and emergency department (ED) visit records by the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs office. Beginning in 2012, that office also provided data at least 3 years before each delivery on maternal inpatient discharges and ED visits to identify pre-existing health conditions. Database linkages were based on an algorithm created by the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs office that used personal identifying information. The institutional review board of the Medical University of South Carolina approved our study as exempt research.

Variable definition

Maternal race and ethnicity were categorized as Hispanic, non-Hispanic Black, non-Hispanic White, or "other" race or ethnicity based on what was commonly reported on birth certificate and inpatient and ED visit records. However, a mother was classified as Hispanic if she identified as Hispanic 3 or more times in the dataset. The "other" race or ethnicity group included women who selfidentified as Asian, American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander or for whom race/ethnicity was missing. Birth certificates reported education (categorized as less than high school graduate, high school diploma or General Educational Development [GED], some college, or undergraduate or associate degree or more); residence (rural vs urban); receipt of Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) benefits during pregnancy; smoking during pregnancy or prepregnancy (smoker vs nonsmoker); and maternal prepregnancy weight and height. Women were classified as underweight (BMI 14.0-18.4), normal (BMI 18.5-24.9), overweight (BMI 25.0–29.9), or obese (BMI \geq 30.0). For our analysis, the outcome of prepregnancy obesity was defined as obese versus nonobese. Firstborn was defined as the first live or stillborn birth from 2015 through 2021 of a mother without a history of a previous live birth or stillbirth on the birth certificate. Medicaid status was defined as being Medicaid eligible within 2 months of giving

birth based on the statewide Medicaid eligibility file. Gestational weight gain was categorized as adequate, inadequate, or excessive based on the mother's prepregnancy BMI, according to the 2009 Institute of Medicine guidelines (16). These guidelines state how much weight women with singleton pregnancies should gain during pregnancy based on the mother's prepregnancy weight status: underweight, 28 to 40 lb; normal weight, 25 to 35 lb; overweight, 15 to 25 lb; and obese, 11 to 20 lb.

Statistical analysis

We used the χ^2 test in preliminary statistical analyses to examine bivariate associations between sociodemographic, lifestyle, and clinical factors and outcomes of interest by maternal racial and ethnic group. A generalized linear model with a modified Poisson distribution and log link was used to estimate the risk of prepregnancy obesity, with nonobese as the reference group. A second generalized linear model with a multinomial distribution and glogit link was used to estimate the risk of inadequate or excessive weight gain with adequate weight gain as the reference group. Modified Poisson models were used to express estimates as risk ratios (RRs) because log-binomial models can have convergence issues as the model's complexity increases (17,18). Additionally, the point estimates of the modified Poisson model are proven to be unbiased when the link function is misspecified or the response rate is low (18). Generalized estimating equations with an exchangeable working correlation were used to account for mothers who had multiple pregnancies. To assess trends over time, a predetermined change point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020), defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, was included in the models. No sensitivity analyses were conducted to assess robustness of results. Interaction terms were included to assess the association between racial and ethnic groups and trends over time. Covariates included in the models were identified a priori. For prepregnancy obesity, we ran an unadjusted model with the main effects of time before the change point, time after the change point, and race and ethnicity as well as interaction terms between time (before and after the change point) and race and ethnicity. For gestational weight gain, we ran an unadjusted model with the main effects of time before the change point, time after the change point and race and ethnicity. For both outcomes, models were adjusted for sociodemographic factors (age, education, rural residence, Medicaid, WIC receipt during pregnancy) and lifestyle and clinical factors (smoking during or prepregnancy, firstborn, prepregnancy BMI).

We then plotted the prevalence of each outcome from 2015 to 2021 by using the unadjusted models of each outcome for the specified period with 95% CIs. *P* values of 0.05, and corresponding

95% CIs were used to determine significance. Analyses were conducted in SAS (SAS Institute), and figures were created in R (R Foundation) software.

Results

Study population

Of 266,146 South Carolina mothers with at least 1 pregnancy from 2015 through 2021 (331,979 births), 671 (0.25%) were excluded because information on maternal age was inconsistent across multiple sources (defined as varying by more than ± 2 years). We excluded 159 mothers (0.06%) who did not have a live birth during the study time frame, 881 (0.33%) who resided outside South Carolina, 64 (0.02%) who had a live birth of triplets or quadruplets during the study period, 6,417 (2.4%) who had a twin birth, and lastly, 18,357 (7.1%) who did not have a full-term (\geq 37 weeks) singleton birth. The final dataset consisted of 239,597 mothers with 1 or more live, full-term, singleton births (306,344 pregnancies) (Figure 1). Some sociodemographic, lifestyle, and clinical information was available for all mothers from linked inpatient hospital and ED visit data procedure and diagnostic code files.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure 1. Flowchart of exclusion criteria for study sample, study of trends in gestational weight gain and prepregnancy obesity in South Carolina, 2015 through 2021.

Characteristics of the 306,344 pregnancies resulting in a live singleton birth varied by race and ethnicity (Table 1). From 2015 through 2021, 57.4% of pregnancies were among non-Hispanic White women, 30.2% were among non-Hispanic Black women, 7.6% were among Hispanic women, and 4.8% were among women of other racial or ethnic groups. Average (SD) age at delivery

ranged from 29.1 (5.9) years among women of other races or ethnicities to 26.7 (5.7) years among non-Hispanic Black women. Among Hispanic women, approximately 42.9% had less than a high school education, compared with only 9.4% of non-Hispanic White women. Medicaid eligibility at delivery was 72.2% among non-Hispanic Black women, 70.4% among Hispanic women, 49.4% among women of other racial or ethnic groups, and 39.1% among non-Hispanic White women. WIC receipt during pregnancy was 61.8% among non-Hispanic Black women, 43.9% among Hispanic women, 31.5% among women of other racial or ethnic groups, and 27.5% among non-Hispanic White women. Maternal prepregnancy obesity ranged from 44.8% of pregnancies among non-Hispanic Black women to 22.2% of pregnancies among women of other racial or ethnic groups. Excessive weight gain during pregnancy ranged from 51.8% of pregnancies among non-Hispanic White women to 39.2% of pregnancies among Hispanic women.

Gestational weight gain by race and ethnicity

In the assessment of unadjusted trends in gestational weight gain before and after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, the interactions between time and race and ethnicity were not significant (P = .30 and .47, respectively), indicating that trends over time were similar across all racial and ethnic groups.

Inadequate weight gain. For non-Hispanic White women, the prevalence of inadequate weight gain in 2015, quarter 1 was 18.0%; in 2020, quarter 1, 19.1%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 19.1% (Figure 2, Panel A). Among non-Hispanic Black women, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 27.3%; in 2020, quarter 1, 29.0%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 29.0%. Among Hispanic women, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 27.5%; in 2020, quarter 1, 29.3%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 29.2%. The prevalence among women of other races or ethnicities in 2015, quarter 1 was 27.4%; in 2020, quarter 1, 29.1%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 29.1%.



Figure 2. Prevalence of 3 categories of gestational weight gain among women with 1 or more full-term (\geq 37 weeks) singleton births in South Carolina, by race or ethnicity, from 2015 through 2021: inadequate weight gain (Panel A), excessive weight gain (Panel B), and adequate weight gain (Panel C). Thick

black vertical line indicates the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Dotted lines indicate 95% Cls. Other race or ethnicity includes women who self-identified as Asian, American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander or those whose race/ethnicity was missing. Abbreviation: Q, quarter of year.

In the unadjusted model assessing the main effect for race and ethnicity (Table 2, Model 1), the RR for inadequate weight gain relative to adequate weight gain for a 1-year increase in calendar time was 1.02 (95% CI, 1.01–1.02) before the pandemic (ie, change point) and 0.99 (95% CI, 0.96–1.01) after the pandemic (ie, after the change point). Across all racial and ethnic groups, non-Hispanic Black (RR = 1.71, 95% CI, 1.67–1.75), Hispanic (RR = 1.41; 95% CI, 1.36–1.46), and women of other racial and ethnic groups (RR = 1.44; 95% CI, 1.37–1.51) were more likely to gain inadequate relative to adequate weight during each pregnancy compared with non-Hispanic White women.

In the fully adjusted model (Table 2, Model 2), the RR of inadequate weight gain relative to adequate weight gain for a 1-year increase in calendar time before the pandemic (ie, change point) was 1.02 (95% CI, 1.01–1.03) and 0.99 (95% CI, 0.97–1.02) after the start of the pandemic (ie, after the change point). Age, higher maternal education, Medicaid eligibility, rural residence, smoking during or prepregnancy, having a firstborn, and having obesity or being overweight prepregnancy were associated with inadequate weight gain during pregnancy.

Excessive weight gain. Among non-Hispanic White women, the prevalence of excessive weight gain for pregnancies in 2015, quarter 1, was 52.3%; in 2020, quarter 1, 51.6%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 50.9% (Figure 2, Panel B). Among non-Hispanic Black women, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 45.8%; in 2020, quarter 1, 45.2%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 44.6%. Among Hispanic women, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 39.7%; in 2020, quarter 1, 39.1%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 38.6%. Among women of other races or ethnicities, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 40.6%; in 2020, quarter 1, 40.0%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 39.5%.

In the unadjusted model assessing the main effect of race and ethnicity (Table 2, Model 1), the RR for excessive weight gain relative to adequate weight gain for a 1-year increase in calendar time was 1.00 (95% CI, 1.00–1.01) before the pandemic (ie, before the change point) and 0.98 (95% CI, 0.96–1.00) after the start of pandemic (ie, after the change point). Across racial and ethnic groups, non-Hispanic Black women (RR = 0.99, 95% CI, 0.97–1.01) had similar risk during each pregnancy of excessive weight gain, whereas Hispanic women (RR = 0.70; 95% CI, 0.67–0.72) and women of other racial and ethnic groups (RR = 0.73; 95% CI, 0.70–0.76) were less likely to gain excessive weight compared with non-Hispanic White women.

In the fully adjusted model (Table 2, Model 2), the risk of excessive weight gain relative to adequate weight gain for a 1-year increase in calendar time before the pandemic (ie, before the change point) was 1.00 (95% CI, 0.99–1.00) and 0.98 (95% CI, 0.96–1.00) after the start of the pandemic (ie, after the change point). Age, higher maternal education, WIC receipt during pregnancy, smoking during or prepregnancy, having a firstborn, and having obesity or being overweight before pregnancy were associated with increased likelihood of excessive weight gain during pregnancy.

Adequate weight gain. Across all groups, the prevalence of adequate weight gain decreased before the pandemic and rose after the pandemic (Figure 2, Panel C). The prevalence of adequate weight gain among non-Hispanic White women in 2015, quarter 1, was 30.0%; in 2020, quarter 1, 29.2%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 29.8%. Among non-Hispanic Black women, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 26.6%; in 2020, quarter 1, 26.0%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 26.5%. Among Hispanic women, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 32.5%; in 2020, quarter 1, 31.8%; and 2021, quarter 4, 32.4%. Among women of other races or ethnicities, the prevalence in 2015, quarter 1 was 31.8%; in 2020, quarter 1, 31.0%; and in 2021, quarter 4, 31.7%.

Obesity

The prevalence of prepregnancy obesity was 23.7% in 2015 quarter 1, 29.2% in 2020 quarter 1, and 29.4% in 2021 quarter 4 for non-Hispanic White women (Figure 3). For non-Hispanic Black women, the prevalence of prepregnancy obesity was 41.2% in 2015, quarter 1 and increased to 47.0% in 2020, quarter 1, then further increased to 48.0% in 2021, quarter 4. For Hispanic women, prepregnancy obesity increased from 25.2% to 31.4% between 2015, quarter 1 and 2020, quarter 1, and then decreased slightly to 31.0% in 2021, quarter 1. Among women of other racial and ethnic groups, the prevalence of prepregnancy obesity in 2015, quarter 1 was 18.7% then increased to 23% in 2020, quarter 1 and further increased to 28.1% in 2021, quarter 4.



Figure 3. Prevalence of prepregnancy obesity among women with 1 or more full term (\geq 37 weeks) singleton births in South Carolina, by race and ethnicity, from 2015 through 2021. The change point was the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, quarter (Q) 1, the first quarter of 2020. Dotted lines indicate 95% CIs.

RRs of prepregnancy obesity, unadjusted and adjusted for sociodemographic and lifestyle and clinical factors, varied by racial and ethnic groups before and after the change point (start of the pandemic, 2020, quarter 1) (Table 3). Temporal trends differed by racial or ethnic group before (P=.002) and after (P=.03) the pandemic. In the model assessing the main effect of race and ethnicity (Table 3, Model 1), the RR of prepregnancy obesity among non-Hispanic White women for a 1-year increase in calendar time before the pandemic was 1.04 (95% CI, 1.04-1.05); among non-Hispanic Black women, 1.03 (95% CI, 1.02-1.03); among Hispanic women, 1.04 (95% CI, 1.03-1.06); and among women of other races or ethnicities, 1.04 (95% CI, 1.02-1.07). After the pandemic, the risk of prepregnancy obesity for a 1-year increase in calendar time attenuated among non-Hispanic White (RR = 1.01, 95% CI, 0.99–1.02), non-Hispanic Black (RR = 1.01, 95% CI: 1.00–1.03) and Hispanic women (RR = 0.99, 95% CI, 0.95-1.04). However, among women of other racial and ethnic groups, the risk of prepregnancy obesity for a 1-year increase in calendar time increased significantly after the pandemic (RR = 1.12, 95% CI, 1.05-1.19).

In the fully adjusted model (Table 3, Model 2), RRs of prepregnancy obesity for a 1-year increase in calendar time before and after the pandemic for racial and ethnic groups were similar to their unadjusted values after adjusting for sociodemographic, lifestyle and clinical factors. Age, higher maternal education, rural

residence, Medicaid eligibility at delivery, and WIC eligibility during pregnancy were significantly associated with an elevated risk of prepregnancy obesity.

Discussion

The objective of our study was to assess trends in gestational weight gain and prepregnancy obesity before and after March 2020 in South Carolina because we believed trends would be significantly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic in its early stage. Our principal findings showed the relative prevalence of prepregnancy obesity increased 3% to 4% per year across all racial and ethnic groups before the pandemic; however, the level stabilized after the pandemic for non-Hispanic White and Hispanic women, while increasing rapidly among non-Hispanic Black women and women of other racial and ethnic groups. The prevalence of inadequate weight gain increased 1% to 2% across all racial and ethnic groups before the pandemic and then stabilized afterwards. The prevalence of inadequate weight gain was significantly higher among non-Hispanic Black women, Hispanic women, and women of other racial and ethnic groups across the whole study period compared with non-Hispanic White women. In contrast, the prevalence of excessive weight gain was high across all racial and ethnic groups and remained stable before the pandemic, while decreasing slightly after the pandemic.

Literature on the COVID-19 pandemic's effect on body weight, prepregnancy BMI, and gestational weight gain among women of reproductive age (both teens and adults) remains sparse, although preliminary studies have begun to emerge. Two US studies reported a significant increase (0.06 kg and 0.46 kg) in gestational weight gain during the COVID-19 pandemic (19,20). Additionally, among women who were obese before pregnancy, gestational weight gain increased 0.17 kg during the pandemic (19). However, a Washington State study found a nonsignificant decrease in gestational weight gain (11.2 ±4.3 kg vs 10.6 ±5.4 kg) between women who delivered before and during the pandemic (21).

Though studies assessing the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on prepregnancy weight and gestational weight gain among pregnant women are limited, several studies have been published on the effect of the pandemic on body weight, weight gain, and dietary and lifestyle behaviors among the overall adult population in the US and worldwide. In general, the pandemic appears to have had mixed effects on eating and lifestyle behaviors, because the prevalence of weight gain and mean increase in body weight and BMI varied between studies, with some people gaining weight and others losing weight. Most studies found that weight gain was due to physical inactivity, sedentary behaviors (eg, increased screen time), unhealthy eating habits (eg, increased consumption of highly processed food, increased number of meals, snacking, alcohol consumption), reduced sleep, emotional eating, stress, depression, and anxiety (8–15). People who were overweight and obese before the pandemic were more likely to gain weight during the pandemic (12–14).

Although the aforementioned studies showed that the pandemic affected body weight, weight gain, and eating and lifestyle behaviors, whether the effect is clinically significant and long-term remains in question. Furthermore, because most of these studies were cross-sectional (eg, self-reported online survey), they cannot be used to infer causality and they are vulnerable to bias, which can affect reliability and generalizability of their findings. Such bias includes selection bias (eg, some studies had mostly female or male participants), recall bias (eg, self-reported body weight, BMI, height), and reporting bias (eg, participants may not answer truthfully to questions asked on social and lifestyle behaviors).

Strengths and limitations

The main strengths of our study were that first, we were able to follow women over time by linked vital statistics and inpatient hospital discharge and ED visit encounter data. Second, though administrative data and birth certificates may have some reliability and validity issues, they provide information on all births at the population level and provide important population-based estimates.

Our study had limitations, including the use and reliability of administrative data and miscoding of BMI classification, gestational weight gain, and race and ethnicity. BMI was based on selfreported prepregnancy weight and height taken from medical records, which can lead to misclassification. Similarly, with gestational weight gain, misclassification could result from BMI misclassification and incorrect report of weight before pregnancy. Self-reported weight tends to be underestimated and individuals who are overweight or obese tend to be more likely to underestimate their weight (22). Pregnant women tend to underreport prepregnancy and delivery weight and overreport gestational weight gain; however, misclassification has been found not to bias the association between BMI, pregnancy weight, and pregnancy outcomes (23). Misclassification of race and ethnicity could have occurred because it was based on information found in administrative data and might not reflect self-reported race and ethnicity. Information was lacking on such factors as diet, physical activity, stress, and neighborhood characteristics, which may be related to obesity and gestational weight gain. Lastly, we excluded pregnant women who had preterm birth from the analysis because early delivery reduces overall gestational weight gain.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Conclusion

In South Carolina, the COVID-19 pandemic did not alter trends of gestational weight gain. The pandemic did, however, have a small effect on trends in prepregnancy obesity, with differential effects across racial and ethnic groups. Prepregnancy obesity and gestational weight gain are important public health issues that affect maternal and infant pregnancy outcomes and therefore warrant effective public health interventions. More studies are needed to fully understand the pandemic's effect on BMI, prepregnancy obesity, and gestational weight gain among women of childbearing age and pregnant women, with an emphasis on racial and ethnic differences. A better understanding of patterns and determinants of pregnancy outcomes after the pandemic can inform effective public health strategies in this population.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute grant R01HL163963 (multiple principal investigators, A.M.M. and K.J.H.). The funding agency did not participate in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; or preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript. The article represents the views of the authors and not those of the Veterans Health Administration or the Health Services Research and Development Service. S.E.S. was responsible for analyzing the data, interpreting the data and preparing/revising the manuscript. A.M.M. and K.J.H. conceived/designed the study, conducted/supervised the research, helped with analysis/interpretation of the data and reviewed/edited the manuscript. C-C.W., B.N., D.A.W., J.E.K., K.C., M.A., and M.F. assisted with analysis/interpretation of the data and reviewed/edited the manuscript. J.M., J.P. and H.F. interpreted the data and reviewed/edited the manuscript. All authors were involved in writing the manuscript and gave final approval of the submitted version. The data used for this study cannot be shared due to policies of the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office, Health and Demographics Section and the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control. The policies of these data sources also require that small numbers of less than 5 be reported as <5. The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, or publication of this article. The authors received no other external financial support for the research, authorship, or publication of this article. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Sarah E. Simpson, MPH, Department of Public Health Sciences, Medical University of South Carolina, 135 Cannon St, Ste 302, Charleston, SC 29425 (simpsose@ musc.edu).

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Public Health Sciences, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston. ²Health Equity and Rural Outreach Innovation Center, Ralph H. Johnson Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Charleston. ³Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Maternal–Fetal Medicine Division, Atrium Health, Charlotte, North Carolina. ⁴Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston.

References

- Deputy NP, Sharma AJ, Kim SY. Gestational weight gain United States, 2012 and 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(43):1215–1220. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6443a3
- 2. Driscoll AK, Gregory ECW. Prepregnancy body mass index and infant outcomes by race and Hispanic origin: United States, 2020. *Natl Vital Stat Rep.* 2021;70(16):1–8. doi:10. 15620/cdc:112077
- Siega-Riz AM, Bodnar LM, Stotland NE, Stang J. The current understanding of gestational weight gain among women with obesity and the need for future research. NAM Perspect. 2020; 2020. doi:10.31478/202001a
- 4. Kominiarek MA, Peaceman AM. Gestational weight gain. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;217(6):642–651. doi:10.1016/j.ajog. 2017.05.040
- 5. Goldstein RF, Abell SK, Ranasinha S, Misso M, Boyle JA, Black MH, et al. Association of gestational weight gain with maternal and infant outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *JAMA*. 2017;317(21):2207–2225. doi:10.1001/jama. 2017.3635
- 6. Santos S, Voerman E, Amiano P, Barros H, Beilin LJ, Bergström A, et al. Impact of maternal body mass index and gestational weight gain on pregnancy complications: an individual participant data meta-analysis of European, North American and Australian cohorts. *BJOG*. 2019;126(8): 984–995. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.15661
- 7. Vats H, Saxena R, Sachdeva MP, Walia GK, Gupta V. Impact of maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index on maternal, fetal and neonatal adverse outcomes in the worldwide populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Res Clin Pract.* 2021;15(6):536–545.a doi:10.1016/j.orcp.2021.10.005

- 8. Chew HSJ, Lopez V. Global impact of COVID-19 on weight and weight-related behaviors in the adult population: a scoping review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(4):1876. doi:10.3390/ijerph18041876
- 9. Bhutani S, vanDellen MR, Cooper JA. Longitudinal weight gain and related risk behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic in adults in the US. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(2):671. doi:10.3390/nu13020671
- 10. Bakaloudi DR, Barazzoni R, Bischoff SC, Breda J, Wickramasinghe K, Chourdakis M. Impact of the first COVID-19 lockdown on body weight: a combined systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Clin Nutr.* 2022;41(12): 3046–3054. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2021.04.015
- Nour TY, Altintaş KH. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on obesity and it is risk factors: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health.* 2023;23(1):1018. doi:10.1186/s12889-023-15833-2
- 12. Khan MA, Menon P, Govender R, Abu Samra AM, Allaham KK, Nauman J, et al. Systematic review of the effects of pandemic confinements on body weight and their determinants. Br J Nutr. 2022;127(2):298–317. doi:10.1017/S0007114521000921
- Bennett G, Young E, Butler I, Coe S. The impact of lockdown during the COVID-19 outbreak on dietary habits in various population groups: a scoping review. *Front Nutr.* 2021;8: 626432. doi:10.3389/fnut.2021.626432
- 14. Zeigler Z. COVID-19 self-quarantine and weight gain risk factors in adults. Curr Obes Rep. 2021;10(3):423–433. doi:10. 1007/s13679-021-00449-7
- 15. Anderson LN, Yoshida-Montezuma Y, Dewart N, Jalil E, Khattar J, De Rubeis V, et al. Obesity and weight change during the COVID-19 pandemic in children and adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2023;24(5): e13550. doi:10.1111/obr.13550
- 16. Moore Simas TA, Waring ME, Sullivan GM, Liao X, Rosal MC, Hardy JR, et al. Institute of Medicine 2009 gestational weight gain guideline knowledge: survey of obstetrics/gynecology and family medicine residents of the United States. *Birth.* 2013;40(4):237–246. doi:10.1111/birt. 12061
- 17. Williamson T, Eliasziw M, Fick GH. Log-binomial models: exploring failed convergence. *Emerg Themes Epidemiol*. 2013;10(1):14. doi:10.1186/1742-7622-10-14
- Chen W, Qian L, Shi J, Franklin M. Comparing performance between log-binomial and robust Poisson regression models for estimating risk ratios under model misspecification. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* 2018;18(1):63. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0519-5

- 19. Cao W, Sun S, Danilack VA. Analysis of gestational weight gain during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. *JAMA Netw Open.* 2022;5(9):e2230954. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2022.30954
- 20. Nethery E, Hutcheon JA, Kotaska A, Law MR, Janssen P. Weight gain in pregnancy and infant birthweight after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic: an interrupted time series analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2023;117(2):364–372. doi:10.1016/j. ajcnut.2022.09.001
- 21. McPhail A, Hare ME, Talcott GW, Little MA, Bursac Z, Krukowski RA. Gestational weight gain during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Matern Child Health J.* 2023;27(9):1454–1459. doi:10.1007/s10995-023-03730-4
- 22. Freigang R, Geier AK, Schmid GL, Frese T, Klement A, Unverzagt S. Misclassification of self-reported body mass index categories. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* 2020;117(15):253–260. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2020.0253
- 23. Headen I, Cohen AK, Mujahid M, Abrams B. The accuracy of self-reported pregnancy-related weight: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2017;18(3):350–369. doi:10.1111/obr.12486

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of 306,344 Pregnancies Resulting in a Live Full-Term (≥37 Weeks) Singleton Birth, South Carolina, 2015–2021^a

	Racial and or ethnic group					
Characteristic	Non-Hispanic White (n = 175,991)	Non-Hispanic Black (n = 92,402)	Hispanic (n = 23,423)	Other (n = 14,708)		
Sociodemographic						
Age at delivery, mean (SD), y	28.4 (5.5)	26.7 (5.7)	28.2 (6.1)	29.1 (5.9)		
Education, % ^b						
Less than high school education	9.4	13.3	42.9	17.0		
High school diploma or GED	20.0	34.4	27.0	20.6		
Some college	23.1	30.4	13.6	17.8		
College or associates degree or more	47.5	22.0	16.5	44.6		
Rural residence, %	29.9	36.0	28.1	23.3		
Medicaid eligibility at delivery, %	39.1	72.2	70.4	49.4		
WIC receipt during pregnancy, % ^a	27.5	61.8	43.9	31.5		
Lifestyle and clinical factors						
Smoking during or prepregnancy, % ^a	14.8	8.5	2.0	4.7		
Firstborn, % ^b	33.1	29.3	25.9	34.2		
Prepregnancy BMI (kg/m ²), % ^b						
Underweight (<18.5)	3.6	2.8	2.0	4.6		
Normal (18.5–24.9)	44.2	27.6	36.5	46.7		
Overweight (25.0-29.9)	25.1	24.8	32.4	26.6		
Obese (≥30.0) ^b	27.1	44.8	29.1	22.2		
Gestational weight gain, % ^{b,c}		•		·		
Adequate	29.6	26.3	32.1	31.4		
Inadequate	18.7	28.4	28.6	28.5		
Excessive	51.8	45.3	39.2	40.2		

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GED, General Educational Development; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children. ^a Stratified by racial and ethnic group.

^b Number of women with missing data values on outcomes and covariates: education, 844; smoking during or prepregnancy, 195; firstborn, 66; prepregnancy BMI, 3,696; WIC, 14; prepregnancy obesity, 3,696; gestational weight gain classification, 3,696.

^c Adequate weight gain during pregnancy for women who were underweight was 50 to 62 lb; normal weight gain, 25 to 35 lb; overweight, 15 to 25 lb; and obese, 11 to 20 lbs. Inadequate weight gain was defined as gaining less than the recommended weight during pregnancy. Excessive weight gain was defined as gaining more than the recommended weight during pregnancy. In our study, 87,350 women gained adequate weight during pregnancy, 68,998 women gained inadequate weight, and 146,300 gained excessive weight.

Table 2. Trends in Inadequate and Excessive Weight Gain Among Live Full Term (≥37 Weeks) Singleton Births, Unadjusted and Adjusted for Sociodemographic and Lifestyle and Clinical Factors, South Carolina, 2015–2021

	Inadequate, relative risk (95% CI) ^a		Excessive, relative risk (95% CI) ^a						
Characteristic	Model 1 ^b	Model 2 ^c	Model 1 ^b	Model 2 ^c					
Time before change point (per year) ^d	1.02 (1.01-1.02) ^e	1.02 (1.01-1.03) ^e	1.00 (1.00-1.01)	1.00 (0.99-1.00)					
Time after change point (per year) ^d	0.99 (0.96-1.01)	0.99 (0.97-1.02)	0.98 (0.96-1.00)	0.98 (0.96-1.00)					
Trend by sociodemographic characteristic									
Race or ethnicity									
Non-Hispanic White	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]					
Non-Hispanic Black	1.71 (1.67-1.75) ^e	1.45 (1.42-1.49) ^e	0.99 (0.97-1.01)	0.85 (0.83-0.87) ^e					
Hispanic	1.41 (1.36-1.46) ^e	1.17 (1.13-1.22) ^e	0.70 (0.67–0.72) ^e	0.67 (0.65-0.69) ^e					
Other ^f	1.44 (1.37-1.51) ^e	1.42 (1.36-1.49) ^e	0.73 (0.70-0.76) ^e	0.76 (0.73–0.79) ^e					
Age at delivery (per year)	_ ^g	1.00 (0.995-0.996) ^e	_ ^g	1.00 (0.994-0.998) ^e					
Education									
Less than high school education	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]					
High school diploma or GED	_ ^g	0.85 (0.82-0.88) ^e	_ ^g	1.08 (1.05-1.12) ^e					
Some college	_ ^g	0.73 (0.70-0.76) ^e	_ ^g	1.13 (1.10-1.17) ^e					
College or associate degree or more	_ ^g	0.62 (0.60-0.64) ^e	_ ^g	1.08 (1.04-1.12) ^e					
Rural residence (vs urban)	_ ^g	1.07 (1.05-1.10) ^e	_ ^g	1.01 (0.99-1.03)					
Medicaid eligibility at delivery (yes vs no)	_ ^g	1.11 (1.08-1.14) ^e	_ ^g	1.01 (0.99-1.03)					
WIC receipt during pregnancy (yes vs no)	_ ^g	1.01 (0.99-1.04)	_ ^g	1.05 (1.02-1.07) ^e					
Trends by lifestyle and clinical factors									
Smoking during or prepregnancy (yes vs no)	_ ^g	1.07 (1.03-1.10) ^e	_ ^g	1.26 (1.22-1.30) ^e					
Firstborn (yes vs no)	_ ^g	0.91 (0.88-0.93) ^e	_ ^g	1.31 (1.28-1.33) ^e					
Prepregnancy BMI (kg/m ²)	·		·	·					
Underweight (<18.5)	^g	1.02 (0.97-1.07)	^g	0.55 (0.52-0.58) ^e					
Normal (18.5-24.9)	_ ^g	1 [Reference]	_ ^g	1 [Reference]					
Overweight (25.0-29.9)	_ ^g	0.79 (0.77-0.81) ^e	_ ^g	2.26 (2.21-2.32) ^e					
Obese (≥30.0)	_ ^g	1.28 (1.25-1.32) ^e	_ ^g	2.11 (2.06-2.15) ^e					

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GED, General Education Development; WIC, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^a Relative risks represent the risk of inadequate and excessive weight gain for a 1-year increase in calendar time.

^b Model 1: relative risks for time before and after change point (first quarter of 2020) for the main effect for race and ethnicity. The change point is a predetermined point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

^c Model 2: relative risks for time before and after change point (first quarter of 2020) adjusted for sociodemographic characteristics and lifestyle and clinical factors. The change point is a predetermined point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

^d Interaction *P* value for time before change point and race or ethnicity was.30. Interaction *P* value for time after change point and race or ethnicity was .47 in Model 1. The change point is a predetermined point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

^e Significant at P <. 05.

^f Includes women who self-identified as Asian, American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander, or those whose race/ethnicity was missing or unknown.

^g Indicates no relative risks were estimated for sociodemographic characteristics and lifestyle and clinical factors.

Table 3. Trends in Prepregnancy Obesity Among Live, Full Term (≥37 Weeks) Singleton Births, Unadjusted and Adjusted for Sociodemographic and Lifestyle and Clinical Factors, South Carolina, 2015–2021

	Prepregnancy obesity, relative	e risk (95% Cl) ^a
Characteristic	Model 1 ^b	Model 2 ^c
Time before change point (per year) ^d	'	
Race or ethnicity		
Non-Hispanic White	1.04 (1.04-1.05) ^e	1.04 (1.04-1.05) ^e
Non-Hispanic Black	1.03 (1.02-1.03) ^e	1.03 (1.02-1.03) ^e
Hispanic	1.04 (1.03-1.06) ^e	1.06 (1.04-1.07) ^e
Other ^f	1.04 (1.02-1.07) ^e	1.05 (1.03-1.07) ^e
Time after change point (per year) ^a		
Race or ethnicity		
Non-Hispanic White	1.01 (0.99-1.02)	1.01 (0.99-1.02)
Non-Hispanic Black	1.01 (1.00-1.03)	1.01 (1.00-1.03)
Hispanic	0.99 (0.95-1.04)	1.00 (0.96-1.04)
Other ^f	1.12 (1.05-1.19) ^e	1.13 (1.06-1.20) ^e
Trend by sociodemographic characteristic		
Age at delivery (per year)	_ ^g	1.02 (1.02-1.03) ^e
Education	· ·	
Less than high school education	g	1 [Reference]
High school diploma or GED	^g	1.05 (1.03-1.07) ^e
Some college	^g	1.09 (1.07-1.11) ^e
College or associates degree or more	^g	0.84 (0.82-0.85) ^e
Rural residence (vs urban)	^g	1.11 (1.10-1.13) ^e
Medicaid eligibility at delivery (yes vs no)	_ ^g	1.11 (1.09-1.12) ^e
WIC receipt during pregnancy (yes vs no)	_ ^g	1.21 (1.19-1.22) ^e
Trends by lifestyle and clinical characteristic		·
Smoking during or prepregnancy (yes vs no)	_ ^g	0.94 (0.92–0.96) ^e
Firstborn (yes vs no)	_ ^g	0.89 (0.88-0.90) ^e

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GED, General Educational Development; WIC, Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children. ^a Relative risks represent the risk of prepregnancy obesity for a 1-year increase in calendar time.

^b Model 1: relative risks for the interaction of time before and after the change point (first quarter of 2020) and the main effect for race and ethnicity. The change point is a predetermined point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

^c Model 2: relative risks for the interaction of time before and after the change point (first quarter of 2020) adjusted for sociodemographic characteristics and lifestyle and clinical factors. The change point is a predetermined point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. ^d Interaction *P* value for time before the change point and race or ethnicity was <.001. Interaction *P* value for time after change point and race and ethnicity was. ² a Model 1. The change point and race is the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

03 in Model 1. The change point is a predetermined point at the first quarter of 2020 (ie, March 2020) defining the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. e°_{s} Significant at P < .05.

^f Includes women who self-identified as Asian, American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander, or those whose race/ethnicity was missing. ^g Indicates no relative risks were estimated for sociodemographic characteristics and lifestyle and clinical factors.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E92

NOVEMBER 2024

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Continuity of Care and Lifestyle Intervention Programs for Spanish-Speaking Immigrants Without Health Insurance at a Free Clinic in Rhode Island

Chilsea Wang, BA¹; Jocelyn Yang, BA¹; Julia Testa, MA²; Muneet Gill, BS¹; Morgan Leonard, MPA²; Anne S. De Groot, MD^{2,3}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0136.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Wang C, Yang J, Testa J, Gill M, Leonard M, De Groot AS. Continuity of Care and Lifestyle Intervention Programs for Spanish-Speaking Immigrants Without Health Insurance at a Free Clinic in Rhode Island. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240136. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd21.240136.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Lifestyle education programs can improve patient health and decrease use of emergency services, leading to savings for patients and health care systems. However, the effects of destabilizing factors (such as the COVID-19 pandemic) on access to care and health education programs have not been widely studied.

What is added by this report?

This report examines the resilience of a chronic disease management program in an uninsured, low-income Hispanic patient population from 2019 through 2022, during the COVID pandemic.

What are the implications for public health practice?

The results of this report support the implementation of lifestyle change programs to improve health outcomes during times of reduced access to care.

Abstract

Introduction

We conducted a retrospective cohort study to evaluate changes in metabolic biomarkers among participants in Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap (BTG), a free program run by Clínica Esperanza/ Hope Clinic (CEHC) for Spanish-speaking immigrants without health insurance in Rhode Island.

Methods

From July 2019 through June 2021, 471 people volunteered to participate in the BTG program. Participants enrolled in lifestyle change classes and visited quarterly with health care providers. We reviewed medical records to collect data on blood glucose, total cholesterol, hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}), and systolic and diastolic blood pressure at baseline and at 6, 12, 18, and 21 months after enrollment. We used paired *t* tests to identify changes in measurements and conducted a regression analysis to analyze trends in longitudinal patient outcomes.

Results

From baseline to 6-month follow-up, we observed significant decreases in all participants' mean HbA_{1c} (-0.71%), systolic (-5 mm Hg), and diastolic blood pressure (-2 mm Hg). At 12 months, significant decreases in mean HbA_{1c} persisted among participants with diabetes and prediabetes (-1.07%). At 12 months, participants with mean systolic blood pressure >120 mm Hg also had significant decreases in mean systolic blood pressure (-9 mm Hg), and patients with diastolic blood pressure >80 mm Hg had significant decreases in mean diastolic blood pressure (-9 mm Hg). Local population-level surges in COVID-19 due to Delta and Omicron variants were associated with increases in HbA_{1c} and blood glucose measurements above trendlines.

Conclusion

The BTG program demonstrated resilience in supporting improvement in the metabolic biomarkers of participants, despite disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the continued engagement of participants in self-care despite limited health care access, and underscores the positive role of free clinics among lowincome, Spanish-speaking immigrants.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0136.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Introduction

Inadequate health insurance coverage is a public health challenge in the US (1). Without the negotiation of health insurance providers, health care visits have substantially higher costs (2) and increased population reliance on preventable emergency care (3). Free clinics provide safety-net health care for populations that lack health insurance, some developing innovative health improvement programs or developing workforces that are linguistically and culturally tailored to their patient population (4). However, research is scant on the assessment of health outcomes during stressful periods, such as pandemics, in the population that uses free clinics.

Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic (CEHC) is a nonprofit free clinic for adults without health insurance in Providence, Rhode Island. More than 80% of CEHC patients speak primarily Spanish, and a large proportion are first-generation immigrants. CEHC patients face challenges as a result of poor health literacy and chronic health problems. The Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap (BTG) program was initiated at CEHC in 2015 with a mission to reduce health inequities among patients with chronic diseases through continuity of care, goal-setting appointments, and healthy lifestyle interventions. Program participants visit quarterly with CEHC health care providers and enroll in a healthy lifestyle intervention program (DPP). An evaluation of the financial and clinical effects of the BTG program before the pandemic is available elsewhere (4).

The objective of this study was to describe changes in 5 metabolic biomarkers among participants of the BTG program from July 2019 through July 2022. In this study, the COVID-19 pandemic enabled a natural stress-test of the resilience of the BTG program and improvements in the metabolic biomarkers of program participants. Our hypothesis was that BTG could support continual improvement in the metabolic biomarkers of program participants, despite disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. We expected to see a significant difference from the alternative (the null hypothesis) that metabolic biomarkers would not improve or change during participants' enrollment in the BTG program.

Methods

This retrospective cohort study was conducted in March 2024. We reviewed the medical records of 471 patients enrolled in BTG during regular clinical operations at CEHC. The evaluation period began on July 1, 2019, and ended on July 1, 2022.

Participants

From October 1, 2019, through October 31, 2021, community health workers, who explained the nature and purpose of the BTG program, recruited participants from the main clinic of CEHC. Outreach efforts, such as those conducted at the Neighborhood Health Station (an outreach clinic opened during COVID-19), helped eligible participants find the main clinic to seek care and participation in BTG. Eligibility for BTG enrollment at CEHC was extended to all residents in Rhode Island who lacked health insurance and were living with diabetes or prediabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, or overweight or obesity. Previous enrollees in the BTG program could also opt in to the new cohort.

Of the 805 participants enrolled in BTG from January 2016 through June 2019, 22 elected to join the new cohort. All participants signed (or signed again, if they were from the previous cohort) a partnership form giving CEHC permission to record individual data in a de-identified spreadsheet, documenting quarterly and yearly chronic disease assessments. Of 516 people recruited, 471 met enrollment criteria in the BTG program and had sufficient follow-up data (1 baseline measurement and at least 1 follow-up measurement) to be included in this evaluation (Figure 1).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure 1. Flow of participants in the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap program, Providence, Rhode Island, 2019–2022.

Timeline

At enrollment in the BTG program (baseline), we measured the following metabolic biomarkers for each participant: blood glucose, HbA1c, total cholesterol, and systolic and diastolic blood pressure. At the conclusion of each visit, participants scheduled a follow-up appointment for 3 months later. We tracked each participant for a maximum of 8 calendar quarters after their enrollment date. Because the CEHC clinic population is transient as a result of fluctuating employment and documentation status, participants did not always schedule or attend a return visit. We called no-show participants once every calendar quarter until they either scheduled a follow-up or were discontinued from the study. If participants did not have a second set of measurements taken within 2 years after their baseline values, we excluded them from the dataset. We included metrics for all continuing participants in the longitudinal analysis until the date of their last follow-up visit. We determined instructional groups for our lifestyle programs based on start date or entry into the BTG program. We calculated the retention rate as a ratio of the number of participants who attended 1 or more follow-up visits to the total number of participants initially enrolled in the program.

Lifestyle program

A locally developed lifestyle program (*Vida Sana*) involves classes taught to participants by using culturally attuned, linguistically appropriate materials, with teaching styles meeting the unique needs of participants' low levels of health literacy (5). The course is taught by CEHC-trained multilingual, multicultural community health workers known as *Navegantes* (6). A pre-pandemic review of the *Vida Sana* program found significant improvements in blood pressure during the program (7,8).

CEHC also provides a formal DPP class to BTG participants with prediabetes. The objective of DPP is to reduce the risk of type 2 diabetes through a review of diet and physical activity (9). Participants receive structured, program-specific education on how to achieve and maintain lifestyle changes for 1 year. At CEHC, the course is taught in Spanish by *Navegantes*, who receive training from the Rhode Island Department of Health (6).

Individualized health coaching sessions in the *Vida Sana* and DPP formats were provided by *Navegantes* for patients whose schedules did not allow them to attend group classes or who needed to schedule a makeup class after missing a session of the group class. These sessions were charted as "One-on-Ones," which were available to patients throughout the analysis period along with recurring cycles of *Vida Sana* and DPP classes (Figure 2). Participants were also invited to participate in repeated program sessions to maintain lifestyle changes and healthy habits.



Figure 2. Timeline for the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap program in Providence, Rhode Island, for the evaluation period, July 1, 2019, to July 1, 2022. Names of programs reflect funding sources. Abbreviations: NVS, *Navegante Vida Sana*; WWVS, Wisewoman *Vida Sana*.

Data collection

This evaluation focused on patients enrolled from July 2019 through July 2021; outcomes were evaluated through July 2022.

Data were collected during normal clinic operations and later accessed for analysis by review of patient medical records. In addition to collecting data on metabolic biomarkers for each participant at baseline and at each subsequent clinic visit, we collected baseline data on participant sex (male or female), age, race and ethnicity, and height and weight. We calculated body mass index (BMI) as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared. We used adult BMI categories as specified by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: underweight (BMI 25.0 to <30.0), and obese (BMI \geq 30.0) (10).

We defined prediabetes as an HbA_{1c} of 5.7-6.4%, diabetes as HbA_{1c} \geq 6.5%, hypertension as systolic blood pressure \geq 130 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure \geq 80 mm Hg, and hyperlipidemia as total cholesterol \geq 240 mg/dL.

We did not routinely collect data on income or educational level as part of this study; however, CEHC is situated in the Olneyville area of Providence and mostly serves patients from this neighborhood. The annual median family income of the Olneyville neighborhood is estimated at \$23,200, based on weighted averages of census tracts and block groups from the 2010 census data and the 2010-2016 American Community Survey (11). In 2024, the federal poverty level for a family of 3 was \$25,820, and for a family of 4 was \$31,200 (12). CEHC has also been an awardee of the federal Community Development Block Grants program every year since 2015, and reports household income of its patients to the program in furtherance of its mission to help low-income people. Additionally, we surmise that the average educational level of most CEHC clinic patients is below high school level, and some are only able to read with difficulty (unpublished observation of A.D.G.).

The COVID-19 pandemic and clinic operations

COVID-19 presented unique challenges to scheduling follow-up visits and providing the intervention. In the beginning of the pandemic (March 2020), all in-person visits were discontinued to reduce the chances of virus transmission at the clinic. After implementation of transmission prevention measures at the clinic, including previsit COVID-19 antigen testing and the installation of air filters in each examination room, we resumed in-person visits. We set up COVID-19 antigen testing and blood pressure tests at the Neighborhood Health Station to facilitate BTG visits; participants could also participate in *Vida Sana* or DPP group classes, or have One-on-One sessions with a *Navegante* at this location. Class participation was flexible during the pandemic. With masking and testing, participants could attend in person. If participants were unable to attend group classes or when in-person classes were suspended during surges in COVID-19 rates, they could meet with *Navegantes* by video chat and in person for One-on-One visits to discuss goal setting, nutrition, and chronic disease management. Almost all lifestyle intervention programs, including *Vida Sana* and One-on-Ones, were conducted online in spring 2020 due to COVID restrictions, with DPP suspended, but by fall 2020, visits were in-person to maintain their effectiveness and attendance. Descriptions of the effect of COVID-19 on the uninsured Spanish-speaking population in Providence and the means by which CEHC provided access to free COVID-19 testing and vaccines for this population are described elsewhere (13,14).

Statistical analysis

We organized participant counts in a symmetrical 4-term elliptical figure (a Venn diagram [15]). The 4 terms were the 4 risk factors: obesity/overweight, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes/ prediabetes.

We used paired t tests to identify significant changes in blood glucose, HbA1c, cholesterol, and systolic and diastolic blood pressure among participants overall. We also compared measurements that were matched by chronic condition: we examined measurements of HbA1c and blood glucose among participants with prediabetes or diabetes, measurements of total cholesterol among participants with hyperlipidemia, and measurements of blood pressure among participants with hypertension. In addition, we compared baseline measurements between participants with at least 1 follow-up visit and participants who had only baseline measurements. We used the Analysis ToolPak feature in Excel version 16.62 (Microsoft Corp) for initial analysis and later verified with R version 4.4.0 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing), with the help of the packages ggplot2 (16) and OI-biostat (Dave Harrington, OI-biostat Labs; https://github.com/dave-harrington/oi_ biostat labs).

We calculated the mean HbA_{1c} and blood glucose levels of all participants in BTG for each calendar quarter from July 2019 through July 2022, for a total of 12 calendar quarters. Using these calculated means, we performed linear regression in R with the opensource ggplot package and subsequently added 95% CIs. We excluded outliers that resulted from surges caused by COVID-19 variants and used baseline and follow-up measurements in our calculation of means.

In a priori power analysis with G*Power version 3.1.9.7 (Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf), the required sample size for significant results from a paired *t* test was 327 given a 2-sided

significance level of .05 and an estimated effect size of 0.2, considered small for behavioral science (17). Two months after recruitment began, a meta-analysis of diabetes self-management education among Latino adults found a pooled effect size of -0.24(± 0.105 at 95% CI) for HbA_{1c} outcomes across 23 studies, validating our conservative estimate of effect size (18). G*Power estimated that the required sample size for an effect size of 0.24 with all other settings unchanged in the paired *t* test was 227. We conducted a sensitivity analysis with imputation based on a lastobservation-carried-forward approach, followed by 2-sample *t* tests, which found no significant difference in participant outcomes at 6 and 12 months.

Results

During the study period, 45 participants transferred to a traditional health insurance plan or were otherwise lost to follow-up.

Of 471 participants, 211 (44.7%) were women and 260 (55.2%) were men. Most participants self-identified as Hispanic or Latino (91%). The mean (IQR) age was 50 (40–59). Moreover, 52.7% of participants lived with hypertension, 51.8% lived with diabetes or prediabetes, 39.2% lived with hyperlipidemia, and 62.5% lived with overweight or obesity; 69.6% of participants lived with 2 or more of these conditions, and 30.4% of participants lived with 3 or more. For example, 29 (6.1%) had hyperlipidemia, diabetes or prediabetes, obesity or overweight, and hypertension (Figure 3). Overall, the program retention rate was 91%.



Figure 3. Venn diagram for the distribution of chronic conditions among participants in the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap program in Providence, Rhode Island, for the evaluation period, July 1, 2019, to July 1, 2022. All values are number of participants.

Evaluation at 6, 12, 18, and 21 months showed that mean blood glucose levels among participants with diabetes or prediabetes declined between -45.8 and -136.0 points, mean HbA_{1c} among participants with diabetes or prediabetes declined between -0.43 and -1.17 points, and the blood pressure of participants with hypertension declined by -2 to -11 mm Hg (systolic) and -1 to -9 mm Hg (diastolic) (Table).

The evaluation of participant outcomes as a function of their time spent in the BTG program demonstrates improvement at the 1year mark, with results diminishing after that point. We found significant improvements in metabolic biomarkers at 6 and 12 months, but none at 18-month follow-up and only one at 21-month follow-up (Table). The average HbA_{1c} declined significantly among all BTG participants from baseline to 6 months (from 7.17% to 6.46%; P = .005) and among BTG participants with diabetes or prediabetes at 6 months (8.18% to 7.01%; P < .001) and 12 months (8.10% to 7.03%; P = .002) (Table). In addition, we found a significant decline in blood glucose among participants with diabetes or prediabetes at 6 months, in systolic blood pressure among all participants and participants with hypertension at 6 and 12 months, in diastolic blood pressure among all participants at 6, 12, and 21 months, and among participants with hypertension at 12 months. We also found a significant decline in blood glucose from baseline among all patients who remained in the program at 21 months (n = 14). We found no other significant changes.

In the comparison of participants with at least 1 follow-up visit and participants who had only baseline measurements, participants lost to follow-up did not have significantly different measurements of blood pressure, HbA_{1c} , or blood glucose levels at baseline, but they did tend to have significantly higher total cholesterol levels (Appendix).

In a comparison of mean blood glucose in each calendar quarter in the overall BTG cohort, the trendline had a significantly negative slope ($R^2 = 0.89$) that was, however, interrupted during periods of high rates of COVID-19 transmission (Figure 4). This finding was corroborated by mean HbA_{1c}, which also had a significantly negative slope but had a worse fit, with an adjusted R^2 of 0.53 and outliers in the same calendar quarters (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Mean blood glucose measurements among participants (N = 471) in the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap Program, Providence, Rhode Island, July 2019–July 2022. All visits (baseline and follow-up) were used in calculation of means. The regression excluded outliers found during the Delta (August 2021) and Omicron (January 2022) waves of COVID-19. Shading indicates 95% Cls.



Figure 5. Mean glycosylated hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}) measurements among participants (N = 471) in the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap Program, Providence, Rhode Island, July 2019–July 2022. All visits (baseline and follow-up) were used in calculation of means. The regression excluded the outlier found during the Omicron (January 2022) wave of COVID-19. Shading indicates 95% Cls.

Discussion

From 2018 through 2022, the percentage of Rhode Island residents without health insurance ranged from 4.8% to 4.9% despite introduction of low-cost health insurance for residents and state expansion of Medicaid (2,19). This statistic obscures racial and ethnic disparities in health insurance coverage. Hispanic residents of Rhode Island are more likely than non-Hispanic residents to

lack health insurance, have no regular primary care physician, and experience financial barriers to seeking care (14). The proportion of non-Hispanic White residents without health insurance decreased from 5.2% in 2018 to 1.5% in 2022, while the proportion of Hispanic residents without health insurance was higher overall and decreased from 24.3% to 21.0% during the same period (19,20).

CEHC was established in 2008 to address the need for primary and preventive health care for people without health insurance, with a focus on culturally competent care for all — and the BTG program aligns with this mission. Most BTG participants in our study cohort self-identified as Hispanic or Latino (91%), similar to the 2016–2017 cohort, in which nearly all identified as non-White Hispanic or Latino (4), and in contrast to the general population of Rhode Island, at 17% Hispanic or Latino (21,22). This difference may be due to the location of CEHC in Olneyville, a neighborhood in which 63.9% of the population is Hispanic (23).

Hispanic people are more likely than non-Hispanic White people in Rhode Island to have diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease. In 2010, the prevalence of diabetes in the state was almost 2 times higher in the Hispanic population (13%) than in the non-Hispanic White population (6.7%) (21). Hypertension, a major contributor to cardiovascular disease, also disproportionately affects Hispanic people compared with non-Hispanic White people (24). Although evidence is conflicting on cardiovascular disease death rates in the Hispanic population relative to the non-Hispanic White population, the rates of nonfatal myocardial infarction and loss of disability-adjusted life years are higher in the Hispanic population than in the non-Hispanic White population in the US (24,25). These trends are not unique to the Hispanic population in the US, with Black, American Indian, Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian, and Pacific Islander populations also facing similar disparities (26). New interventions to prevent complications from poorly managed chronic disease should focus on these groups.

In 2020, rates of primary care and emergency department use decreased across the nation before slowly rising in demand, even above pre-pandemic levels (27,28). Use of the BTG program mirrored this trend, with sharply decreased numbers of office visits in the early pandemic months and subsequent increases. The BTG cohort in this study consisted of 471 patients during the 24month enrollment window from July 2019 to July 2021, a rate of 19.6 patients per month. This rate is similar to previously published BTG enrollment rates at CEHC's main clinic in 2018: 805 patients during 41 months (19.6 patients per month) (4). The overall similarity in enrollment rates, despite an initial dip in participa-

tion for this study, may have resulted from increased community trust in the BTG program when the clinic began establishing other services, such as free COVID-19 testing, vaccination, and Paxlovid distribution. These services may have raised awareness of CEHC programs.

Participation in BTG activities by women was negatively and disproportionately affected by surges in COVID-19. Overall, 44.7% of BTG participants were women and 55.2% were men. This disproportion may have resulted from increased childcare responsibility caused by closures of childcare facilities and restrictions on children visiting CEHC's main clinic during the pandemic. Addressing childcare needs may be critical to improving health care access for parents of young children.

Improving access to care for people without health insurance may decrease associated costs imposed on the health care system (29). The potential benefits of BTG participation to the local health system are notable. Our previous study found that BTG participants had 61% fewer potentially preventable emergency department visits, resulting in an average annual potential savings to the Rhode Island health care system of \$781,122 (4). Better control of chronic diseases through managing blood glucose, normalizing HbA_{1c}, and reducing blood pressure has been estimated at \$1,445 to \$2,073 per patient (30).

A survey of low-income Hispanic adults with diabetes at clinics in the Southwest and Midwest found that during the pandemic, many Hispanic adults were unable to receive medical care for diabetes and had an increased frequency of hyperglycemia (31). Barriers to health care during the pandemic, such as job-related pressures, transportation needs, and childcare considerations, also affected BTG participants. No-show rates were high for postbaseline office visits, especially in months where new strains of COVID-19 were emerging in Rhode Island. However, despite this, retention in the program improved significantly to 91%, compared with the previous iteration, where 26.1% were lost to follow-up or transferred to other providers (4). This unexpected result could be attributed to telehealth, which has been shown to increase appointment attendance by reducing barriers related to cost and time, particularly benefiting patients who live far from medical providers (32-34). It is also possible that the current iteration of the program increased its outreach and fostered more timely reengagement for all CEHC patients as a result of increased funding for vaccinations and COVID-19 testing.

Across metabolic biomarkers, when we compared patient outcomes at different calendar quarters, we found that most significant improvements occurred during the 2019–2020 period (before the COVID-19 pandemic). During the 2020–2021 period (peak COVID-19), biomarkers also improved from baseline, but with a smaller magnitude, reflecting observed decreases in the number of participants and smaller changes in metabolic values, potentially related to disruptions in clinic schedules and patient attitudes toward clinic access. The Delta surge was officially recognized by the state of Rhode Island in August 2021 (35), followed by the Omicron wave, reported by local news organizations in January 2022 (36). These surges coincided with poorer outcomes in blood glucose levels, HbA_{1c} values, and blood pressure control among study participants. Total cholesterol did not change significantly during the evaluation period, possibly because of the known preference of CEHC health care providers to encourage lifestyle changes first, followed by statin medications.

Limitations

Our study has several potential limitations. First, interpretation of the results may be limited because the cohort was not randomized and the BTG program involved voluntary participation (by motivated participants), which precluded an intent-to-treat analysis. Second, we did not collect information about participants' level of education, which may be a confounder of metabolic outcomes. Third, the data can be generalized only to patients who are willing and able to engage with health education such as that provided by the BTG program, reflecting a potential selection bias such that participants included in this evaluation had the means and will to return for at least 1 follow-up visit. However, sensitivity analysis showed that participants who dropped out appeared to have similar baseline characteristics as those who remained in the study, except for total cholesterol levels, and adding those participants back into data based on their last observation carried forward showed no change in significance. In addition, all BTG participants had a metabolic comorbidity, which does not perfectly reflect real-world populations.

Conclusion

Lack of access to health care contributes to underdiagnosis and undertreatment of chronic diseases and poor continuity of care. Hospitalization of patients without health insurance also has negative financial consequences for patients and health care systems. Innovative programs such as BTG and the associated *Vida Sana* program, tailored to the cultural and linguistic preferences of their communities, are needed to improve access to care populations that lack health insurance and have low literacy levels. Our results reject the null hypothesis. Despite the disruptions of the COVID-19 pandemic, BTG supported continual improvement in participants' metabolic biomarkers. Our study illustrates that access to free health care, continuity of care, and lifestyle education programs have positive effects on the health of people who lack

health insurance. With our collective efforts, neighborhood by neighborhood, we may yet bridge the gaping divide of health care disparity.

Acknowledgments

We thank the following people for their contributions: CEHC volunteers Pooja Hindocha, Nita J. Nair, Jennifer L. Pigoga, Katie Barry, and Meghan McCarthy, who initiated the BTG program (with Dr De Groot) in 2015; all pandemic-era CEHC staff members and volunteers from 2020 to today, for their steadfast dedication to community health care work in unprecedented times; and all BTG participants, for their perseverance and commitment to learning about lifestyle interventions and working to improve their individual health, while building a local community of healthminded people.

Funding for the BTG program has been provided by Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Rhode Island, the CharterCare Foundation, the Textron Charitable Trust, the Rhode Island Department of Labor and Training, Integra Healthcare, the Rhode Island Department of Health, the US Department of Housing and Urban Development's Community Development Block Grant program, and the City of Providence. Funding for the DPP at CEHC has been provided by the Rhode Island Department of Health. Funding for the *Vida Sana* program has been provided by the Rhode Island Department of Health, the Well-Integrated Screening and Evaluation for WO-Men Across the Nation (WISEWOMAN) program (funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention), Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Rhode Island, the Textron Charitable Trust, the Charter-Care Foundation, and Integra Healthcare.

The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, or publication of this article. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in the research described in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Chilsea Wang, BA, 2163 Mornington Ln, San Ramon, CA 94582 (chilseajwang@gmail.com).

Author Affiliations: ¹Brown University School of Public Health, Providence, Rhode Island. ²Clinica Esperanza/Hope Clinic, Providence, Rhode Island. ³EpiVax, Inc, Providence, Rhode Island.

References

- 1. Lee EKP, Poon P, Yip BHK, Bo Y, Zhu MT, Yu CP, et al. Global burden, regional differences, trends, and health consequences of medication nonadherence for hypertension during 2010 to 2020: a meta-analysis involving 27 million patients. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2022;11(17):e026582. doi:10. 1161/JAHA.122.026582
- 2. Coughlin TA, Samuel-Jakubos H, Garfield R. Sources of payment for uncompensated care for the uninsured. KFF. April 6, 2021. Accessed March 30, 2024. https://www.kff.org/ uninsured/issue-brief/sources-of-payment-for-uncompensatedcare-for-the-uninsured
- 3. Powers D, Robinson S, Berchick E, Branham JA, Dalzell L, Dennis L, et al. Evaluating the Utility of Emergency Department Encounter Data and Examining Social Determinants of Emergency Department Utilization in Utah. 2021. Census Working Papers. US Census Bureau. June 8, 2021. Accessed March 30, 2024. https://www.census.gov/ content/dam/Census/library/working-papers/2021/demo/sehsdwp2021-07.pdf
- 4. Hindocha P, Nair NJ, Pigoga JL, Barry K, McCarthy M, Almeida-Monroe V, et al. Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap at a free clinic for uninsured residents of Rhode Island. *R I Med J* (2013). 2018;101(9):27–31.
- 5. Buckley J, Yekta S, Joseph V, Johnson H, Oliverio S, De Groot AS. Vida Sana: a lifestyle intervention for uninsured, predominantly Spanish-speaking immigrants improves metabolic syndrome indicators. *J Community Health.* 2015; 40(1):116–123. doi:10.1007/s10900-014-9905-z
- 6. McCarthy M, Barry K, Estrada C, Veliz B, Rosales D, Leonard M, et al. Recruitment, training, and roles of the bilingual, bicultural *Navegantes*: developing a specialized workforce of community health workers to serve a low-income, Spanish-speaking population in Rhode Island. *Front Public Health*. 2021;9:666566. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2021.666566
- Risica PM, McCarthy M, Barry K, Oliverio SP, De Groot AS. Community clinic-based lifestyle change for prevention of metabolic syndrome: rationale, design and methods of the 'Vida Sana/healthy life' program. *Contemp Clin Trials Commun.* 2018;12:123–128. doi:10.1016/j.conctc.2018.10.002
- 8. Risica PM, McCarthy ML, Barry KL, Oliverio SP, Gans KM, De Groot AS. Clinical outcomes of a community clinic-based lifestyle change program for prevention and management of metabolic syndrome: Results of the 'Vida Sana/Healthy Life' program. *PLoS One*. 2021;16(4):e0248473. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0248473

- Ratner RE; Diabetes Prevention Program Research. An update on the Diabetes Prevention Program. *Endocr Pract.* 2006; 12(Suppl 1):20–24. doi:10.4158/EP.12.S1.20
- 10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Adult BMI categories. Updated March 19, 2024. Accessed March 30, 2024. https://www.cdc.gov/bmi/adult-calculator/bmi-categories.html
- 11. Statistical Atlas. Household income in Olneyville, Providence, Rhode Island. No date. Accessed March 30, 2024. https:// statisticalatlas.com/neighborhood/Rhode-Island/Providence/ Olneyville/Household-Income#figure/household-incomepercentiles
- 12. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. Poverty guidelines. 2024. Accessed March 30, 2024. https:// aspe.hhs.gov/topics/poverty-economic-mobility/povertyguidelines
- 13. Barry K, McCarthy M, Melikian G, Almeida-Monroe V, Leonard M, De Groot AS. Responding to COVID-19 in an uninsured Hispanic/Latino community: testing, education and telehealth at a free clinic in Providence. *R I Med J (2013)*. 2020;103(9):41–46.
- 14. Barry K, Suskin JA, Testa J, Leonard M, De Groot AS. Expanding access to COVID-19 testing, vaccination and treatment at a free clinic for uninsured Spanish-speaking adults in Providence, RI. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2022;18(6): 2144604. doi:10.1080/21645515.2022.2144604
- Venn J. On the diagrammatic and mechanical representation of propositions and reasonings. *Lond Edinb Dublin Philos Mag J Sci.* 1880;10(59):1–18. doi:10.1080/14786448008626877
- 16. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York; 2016.
- 17. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Taylor & Francis; 2013.
- 18. Hildebrand JA, Billimek J, Lee JA, Sorkin DH, Olshansky EF, Clancy SL, et al. Effect of diabetes self-management education on glycemic control in Latino adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2020;103(2):266–275. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2019.09.009
- 19. State of Rhode Island Department of Health. Healthcare access. 2022. Accessed October 3, 2023. https://health.ri.gov/data/healthcareaccess/
- 20. Wayback Machine. Healthcare access. Rhode Island numbers 2018 . Accessed February 10, 2024. https://web.archive.org/web/20191210232246/https://health.ri.gov/data/healthcareaccess
- 21. Kawatu JE, Goldman D, Moy M, Gjelsvik A. Rhode Island Diabetes State Plan 2010–2015. Rhode Island Department of Health; July 2010. Accessed March 10, 2024. https://health.ri. gov/publications/stateplans/2010-2015Diabetes.pdf

- 22. US Census Bureau. QuickFacts Rhode Island. July 1, 2023. Accessed March 10, 2024. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/ fact/table/RI/RHI725222
- 23. Rhode Island Department of Health. *Olneyville: Action for a Healthier Community*. 2011. Accessed March 10, 2024. https://health.ri.gov/publications/datareports/2011Olneyville.pdf
- 24. Willey JZ, Rodriguez CJ, Moon YP, Paik MC, Di Tullio MR, Homma S, et al. Coronary death and myocardial infarction among Hispanics in the Northern Manhattan Study: exploring the Hispanic paradox. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2012;22(5):303–309. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2012.02.014
- 25. McGrath RP, Snih SA, Markides KS, Faul JD, Vincent BM, Hall OT, et al. The burden of health conditions across race and ethnicity for aging Americans: disability-adjusted life years. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2019;98(46):e17964. doi:10.1097/MD. 0000000000017964
- 26. Ndugga N, Hill L, Artiga S. Key data on health and health care by race and ethnicity. KFF. May 21, 2024. Accessed March 30, 2024. https://www.kff.org/key-data-on-health-and-health-careby-race-and-ethnicity
- 27. Melnick G, O'Leary JF, Zaniello BA, Abrishamian L. COVID-19 driven decline in emergency visits: has it continued, is it permanent, and what does it mean for emergency physicians? *Am J Emerg Med.* 2022;61:64–67. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2022. 08.031
- 28. Khalil-Khan A, Khan MA. The impact of COVID-19 on primary care: a scoping review. *Cureus*. 2023;15(1):e33241. doi:10.7759/cureus.33241
- 29. Bodenheimer T, Pham HH. Primary care: current problems and proposed solutions. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2010;29(5): 799–805. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0026
- 30. Lafeuille MH, Grittner AM, Gravel J, Bailey RA, Martin S, Garber L, et al. Quality measure attainment in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Manag Care*. 2014;20(1 Suppl): s5–s15.
- 31. Vickery KD, Novotny PJ, Ford BR, Lantz K, Kavistan S, Singh D, et al. Experiences of Hispanic safety net clinic patients with diabetes during the COVID-19 pandemic. Sci Diabetes Self Manag Care. 2022;48(2):87–97. doi:10.1177/ 26350106221076037
- 32. Bynum AB, Irwin CA, Cranford CO, Denny GS. The impact of telemedicine on patients' cost savings: some preliminary findings. *Telemed J E Health*. 2003;9(4):361–367. doi:10. 1089/153056203772744680
- 33. Aras M, Tchang BG, Crawford A, Bledsoe M, Fujioka K, Aronne LJ. Impact of telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic on patient attendance. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2021; 29(7):1093–1094. doi:10.1002/oby.23180

- 34. Drerup B, Espenschied J, Wiedemer J, Hamilton L. Reduced no-show rates and sustained patient satisfaction of telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Telemed J E Health.* 2021; 27(12):1409–1415. doi:10.1089/tmj.2021.0002
- 35. State of Rhode Island Governor Dan McKee. Executive order 21-86: declaration of disaster emergency for new Covid-19 variants. August 19, 2021. Accessed March 30, 2024. https:// governor.ri.gov/executive-orders/executive-order-21-86
- 36. Towne S, Leslie A. RI reports 2,481 new COVID-19 cases, 12 deaths as hospitalizations mount. WPRI. January 18, 2022. Accessed March 30, 2024. https://www.wpri.com/health/ coronavirus/january-18-2022-ri-coronavirus-update

Table

Table. Paired *t* Tests for Differences in Means Among Participants in the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap Program, Providence, Rhode Island, July 2019-July 2021^a

Measurement	Months from baseline	No. of participants	Baseline mean (SD)	Follow-up mean (SD)	Difference in means	<i>P</i> value ^b
HbA _{1c} , %						
All participants	0	386	6.58 (2.19)	-	-	-
	6	96	7.17 (2.71)	6.46 (1.68)	-0.71	.005
	12	56	6.61 (2.42)	6.28 (1.73)	-0.33	.21
	18	23	6.28 (1.86)	6.75 (2.12)	0.47	.27
	21	14	6.29 (1.65)	6.02 (0.72)	-0.27	.38
Participants with diabetes (HbA _{1c}	0	242	7.46 (2.49)	_	-	-
≥6.5%) or prediabetes (HbA _{1c} 5.7%-6.4%)	6	55	8.18 (2.99)	7.01 (1.94)	-1.17	<.001
	12	26	8.10 (2.90)	7.03 (2.23)	-1.07	.002
	18	13	7.24 (2.64)	6.78 (1.80)	-0.46	.21
	21	8	6.79 (1.82)	6.36 (0.79)	-0.43	.44
Blood glucose, mg/dL	·		•			
All participants	0	347	139.5 (82.4)	-	-	-
	6	92	153.3 (102.2)	139.2 (65.6)	-14.05	.27
	12	60	150.8 (93.7)	126.9 (53.2)	-23.93	.09
	18	22	169.9 (114.9)	147.4 (97.7)	-22.5	.49
	21	14	200.4 (143.4)	107.3 (23.6)	-93.07	.03
Participants with diabetes (HbA _{1c}	0	242	141 (84)	-	-	-
≥6.5%) or prediabetes (HbA _{1c} 5.7%-6.4%)	6	31	206 (130)	160 (77.6)	-45.8	.02
	12	12	242 (121)	189 (85.9)	-53.2	.13
	18	5	308 (125)	233 (82.3)	-75.0	.15
	21	3	244 (111)	108 (22.6)	-136.0	.12
Total cholesterol, mg/dL						
Participants with hyperlipidemia (≥240	0	183	237.2 (31.2)	-	-	-
mg/dL)	6	34	204.6 (47.1)	204.6 (47.2)	0	.99
	12	25	224.7 (54.7)	221.6 (72.2)	-3.1	.78
	18	4	204.3 (53.7)	184.5 (42.5)	-19.8	.54
	21	6	221.3 (50.9)	226.3 (29.1)	5.0	.82
Systolic blood pressure, mm Hg						-
All participants	0	469	133.2 (22.0)	_	-	_
	6	118	135 (21.3)	130 (19.9)	-5	.02
	12	86	134 (22.0)	129 (15.6)	-5	.02
				1	1	.1

Abbreviation: —, does not apply; HbA_{1c} , glycosylated hemoglobin A_{1c} .

^a Means in this table were calculated based on months elapsed from baseline, for patients enrolled between 2019 and 2021, within the data evaluation window of 2019 to 2022.

^b Determined by *t* test; P < .05 considered significant.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table. Paired *t* Tests for Differences in Means Among Participants in the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap Program, Providence, Rhode Island, July 2019-July 2021^a

Measurement	Months from baseline	No. of participants	Baseline mean (SD)	Follow-up mean (SD)	Difference in means	<i>P</i> value ^b
	18	28	132 (25.1)	124 (18.2)	-8	.11
	21	17	136 (21.4)	134 (21.6)	-2	.58
Participants with hypertension (systolic	0	246	140 (19.0)	-	-	-
blood pressure >120 mm Hg)	6	56	144 (19.5)	137 (17.2)	-7	.01
	12	45	144 (20.5)	135 (13.6)	-9	.006
	18	15	143 (28.2)	132 (18.6)	-11	.23
	21	13	142 (21.0)	140 (21.3)	-2	.80
Diastolic blood pressure, mm Hg						
All participants	0	469	83 (13.3)	-	-	-
	6	118	82 (13.0)	80 (11.6)	-2	.04
	12	86	83 (12.1)	79 (9.9)	-4	.01
	18	28	82 (13.2)	78 (10.7)	-4	.16
	21	17	85 (11.4)	77 (12.5)	-8	.02
Participants with hypertension	0	223	94 (10.6)	-	-	-
(diastolic blood pressure >80 mm Hg)	6	13	89 (14.7)	88 (10.3)	-1	.90
	12	10	88 (6.33)	79 (7.8)	-9	.01
	18	5	84 (11.2)	76 (3.6)	-8	.28
	21	6	83 (8.0)	81 (17.1)	-2	.85

Abbreviation: –, does not apply; HbA_{1c}, glycosylated hemoglobin $\rm A_{1c}.$

^a Means in this table were calculated based on months elapsed from baseline, for patients enrolled between 2019 and 2021, within the data evaluation window of 2019 to 2022.

^b Determined by *t* test; P < .05 considered significant.
Appendix. Supplemental Table

Comparison of Baseline Measurements Between Participants Lost to Follow-Up and Participants Included in Analysis, by Sex, Year of Data Collection, and Type of Measurement (Baseline or Follow-Up), the Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic Bridging the [Health Equity] Gap Program, Providence, Rhode Island, July 2019-July 2022

Metabolic indicator	Patients lost to follow-up, mean (SD)	Participants with 1 or more follow-up visits, mean (SD)	<i>P</i> value ^a
Systolic blood pressure, mm Hg	137.1 (22.3)	134.5 (22)	.10
Diastolic blood pressure, mm Hg	82.7 (12.9)	83.7 (13.6)	.20
Hemoglobin A _{1c} , %	6.48 (2.1)	6.696 (2.3)	.18
Blood glucose, mg/dL	144.0 (87.9)	136.0 (78.2)	.18
Body mass index, kg/m ²	31.2 (5.3)	31.6 (5.6)	.18
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	213.0 (5.6)	202.0 (43.1)	.01

Abbreviation: HbA_{1c}, glycosylated hemoglobin A_{1c}.

^a Determined by t test; P < .05 considered significant.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 21, E74

SEPTEMBER 2024

SYSTEMATIC REVIEW

Outpatient Follow-Up Visits to Reduce 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions for Heart Failure, COPD, Myocardial Infarction, and Stroke: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Dylan J. Bilicki, BS¹; Mathew J. Reeves, PhD²

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0138.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Bilicki DJ, Reeves MJ. Outpatient Follow-Up Visits to Reduce 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions for Heart Failure, COPD, Myocardial Infarction, and Stroke: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Prev Chronic Dis 2024;21:240138. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/ pcd21.240138.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Outpatient follow-up visits soon after discharge may help prevent hospital readmissions.

What is added by this report?

The pooled adjusted effect of outpatient follow-up visits reduced 30-day all-cause readmissions by 21%, but between-study variability was high ($l^2 = 92.7\%$).

What are the implications for public health practice?

Health care systems should continue to encourage the scheduling of outpatient follow-up visits, but more high-quality research studies are needed.

Abstract

Introduction

Hospital readmissions is an important public health problem that US hospitals are responsible for reducing. One strategy for preventing readmissions is to schedule an outpatient follow-up visit before discharge. The objective of this study was to determine whether outpatient follow-up visits are an effective method to reduce 30-day all-cause readmissions for patients discharged from US hospitals with heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), acute myocardial infarction (AMI), or stroke.

Methods

We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to identify relevant articles published from 2013 through 2023. We searched PubMed, CINAHL, and Cochrane. Eligible studies were those that assessed the effect of postdischarge outpatient follow-up visits on 30-day all-cause readmission. We used random effect metaanalyses to generate pooled adjusted effect estimates and 95% CIs.

Results

We initially identified 2,256 articles. Of these, 32 articles underwent full-text review and 15 met inclusion criteria. Seven studies addressed heart failure, 3 COPD, 2 AMI, and 3 stroke. Ten articles provided sufficient information for meta-analysis. The pooled adjusted effect measure was 0.79 (95% CI, 0.69–0.91), indicating that outpatient follow-up visits were associated with a 21% lower risk of readmission. However, we found a high degree of between-study heterogeneity (Q = 122.78; P < .001; $I^2 =$ 92.7%). Subgroup analyses indicated that study quality, disease condition, and particularly whether a time-dependent analysis method was used, explained much of the heterogeneity.

Conclusion

Outpatient follow-up visits are a potentially effective way to reduce 30-day all-cause readmissions for patients discharged with heart failure or stroke, but evidence of benefit was lacking for COPD and we found no studies for assessing AMI. Our results emphasize the importance of study quality.

Introduction

Hospital readmissions are a serious public health problem and are associated with increased illness, death, and health care costs (1). An estimated 3.8 million readmissions occurred in the US in 2018 with an average cost of \$15,200 per readmission (1,2). Heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), acute



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2024/24_0138.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

myocardial infarction (AMI), and stroke are 4 highly prevalent conditions in the top 20 leading causes of readmissions. In 2018, some 1 million index heart failure admissions resulted in 233,000 readmissions and cost \$3.49 billion (1). Similarly, in that year, COPD, AMI, and stroke accounted for 78,000, 74,300, and 53,000 readmissions, respectively, with readmission rates ranging from 10% to 20% (1,2). Patients who are readmitted also have poorer outcomes, including lower survival rates and poorer quality of life (3–5), when compared with patients discharged with the same disease who are not readmitted.

In 2013, the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program (HRRP) began offering incentives to hospitals with low readmission rates and enforcing penalties on hospitals with high readmission rates (6,7). The HRRP targets heart failure, COPD, and AMI. Stroke was proposed for inclusion, but controversy over the importance of stroke severity led to its exclusion (8). Controversy remains regarding the effectiveness of HRRP in reducing readmissions (9,10).

Studies on transitional care services aimed at reducing readmissions showed promising results (11-13), but uncertainty about their effectiveness remains (14-16), in part due to barriers such as insufficient administrative support, lack of resources, and lack of staff buy-in (17). A previous meta-analysis of randomized trials that focused on reducing heart failure readmissions included various interventions, such as patient education, telephone support, nurse home visits, and outpatient follow-up visits (11). The metaanalysis concluded that nurse home visits and outpatient follow-up visits were effective in reducing readmissions, but because each trial tested at least 2 interventions bundled together, it was difficult to isolate the effect of any single strategy. The objective of this study was to quantify the singular effect of outpatient followup visits on reducing 30-day all-cause readmissions in patients with heart failure, COPD, AMI, or stroke discharged from US acute care hospitals from 2013 through 2023.

Methods

We conducted this systematic review and meta-analysis according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) (18). Briefly, we searched 3 databases (PubMed, CINAHL, and Cochrane) by using a combination of terms that included but was not limited to heart failure, COPD, AMI, stroke, readmission, rehospitalization, outpatient, office, follow-up, post discharge, and visit. The search was completed on June 14, 2023, and included all studies published on or after January 1, 2013 (ie, approximately 10.5 years). Both authors independently screened the titles and abstracts of the initial list of citations, identifying potentially eligible articles for full-text review. We conducted an additional review of the bibliographies of 7 related meta-analyses identified by our search. We resolved disagreements on initial and final study selection by consensus.

Study selection

Eligible studies were those that 1) included patients aged 18 years or older, who were discharged from US hospitals with an index hospitalization for heart failure, COPD, AMI, or stroke, 2) identified the presence or absence of an outpatient follow-up visit within 30 days of discharge as the primary exposure variable, 3) used 30-day all-cause readmission as the primary outcome, and 4) studied either the direct effect of receiving an outpatient follow-up visit within 30 days of discharge or assessed the effect of scheduling an appointment for an outpatient follow-up visit before discharge. We limited outpatient follow-up visits to those occurring in a traditional ambulatory setting with either a primary care or specialist physician, physician's assistant, or nurse practitioner. We included all types of study designs, including retrospective cohorts, case-control studies, clinical trials, and quality improvement projects that used a pre-post comparative design. We did not include studies that assessed outpatient follow-up visits that had to occur at 1 specific outpatient clinic (eg, a clinic at the discharging hospital) or those that examined the effect of outpatient follow-up visits that only involved a pharmacist. However, we included studies that included pharmacists as part of a multidisciplinary team. We also excluded studies with sample sizes less than 100, editorials, and abstracts.

Data extraction

For studies that underwent full-text review and met all eligibility criteria, we extracted data on the following study-level characteristics: study design, condition or diagnosis, geographic location (ie, city, state, region), objective of the study, data source (electronic medical record, administrative data, disease registry), sample size, time frame of case enrollment, discharge destinations (various combinations of home, home health, skilled nursing facility, acute rehabilitation, hospice, other), description of exposure (type of provider, timing postdischarge), outcome (30-day readmission), whether the analysis was conducted at the patient or hospital level, prevalence of outpatient follow-up, crude readmission rate, adjusted effect measure (either an odds ratio [OR] or hazard ratio [HR]), 95% CIs, and *P* values. Data were extracted in duplicate by both authors, and differences were resolved by consensus.

To assess study quality, we modified the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale, which assesses the quality of nonrandomized studies (19). We made 2 modifications: we assessed whether the study adequately controlled for demographic variables (age, race, sex, socioeco-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

nomic status), and we added a new item referred to as "timedependent bias." We added this item to address a common problem associated with readmission studies (20), whereby subjects who have a readmission soon after discharge do not have the opportunity to have an outpatient follow-up visit, so they remain "unexposed." Our modified scale had 8 binary (yes or no) quality criteria and a total score ranging from 0 to 8. We used 3 criteria (representativeness of exposed cohort [whether the study population was broadly representative of the US population in terms of age, sex, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status], selection of nonexposed cohort, and ascertainment of exposure) to assess selection of study participants, 3 criteria (control for demographics, control for severity of disease or readmission risk, and time-dependent bias) to assess comparability of exposure groups, and 2 criteria (assessment of outcome and adequacy of follow-up of cohorts) to assess outcomes. We used scores of less than 6 to define low-quality studies.

We generated descriptive statistics to describe the characteristics of the included studies. For the studies that provided an adjusted effect measure (OR or HR) that quantified the effect of outpatient follow-up visits on 30-day readmission risk at the patient level, we conducted a random-effect (DerSimonian-Laird) meta-analysis using the meta command in Stata version 16 (StataCorp LLC). We categorized these reports as Tier 1 studies. We combined individual adjusted ORs or HRs without further manipulation to create a pooled adjusted effect estimate (labeled OR/HR), and calculated 95% CIs. We used the Cochrane Q statistic to test for betweenstudy heterogeneity and the I^2 statistic to quantify the magnitude of between-study heterogeneity. A Q statistic with an associated Pvalue less than .05 indicates a significant amount of between-study heterogeneity. An I^2 statistic greater than 30% indicates a moderate degree of between-study heterogeneity, and an I^2 statistic greater than 75% indicates a high degree of heterogeneity. Prespecified subgroup analyses included study quality (score of ≥ 6 [high] vs <6 [low]), adequate control of time-dependent bias (controlled or not controlled), and diagnosis (heart failure, COPD, AMI, stroke). We conducted these subgroup analyses to determine whether these study-level characteristics influenced the effect of outpatient follow-up visits in reducing the risk of 30-day all-cause readmission. Quality improvement projects did not provide an adjusted effect measure for outpatient follow-up visits and were, therefore, not included in the meta-analysis. Similarly, comparative studies that presented results aggregated at the hospital level rather than at the patient level were also not included in the meta-analysis. We categorized these 2 types of reports as Tier 2 studies and reviewed them qualitatively.

Results

Our search of the 3 databases yielded 2,830 citations, which after removing 574 duplicates yielded 2,256 unique citations (Figure 1). After applying exclusion criteria, 32 studies underwent full-text review, and 15 articles were included in our final review (Table 1); 10 articles were Tier 1 studies, and 5 articles were Tier 2 studies.



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis) flow diagram of systematic review of US studies of outpatient follow-up visits and reduction of 30-day all-cause readmissions among patients with heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, acute myocardial infarction, or stroke. Abbreviation: CINAHL, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature.

Tier 1 studies

Nine of 10 Tier 1 studies used a retrospective cohort design; one used a case-control design (Table 1). Tier 1 studies had a wide range of sample sizes, from 839 to 78,345 participants. Every Tier 1 study defined the exposure as an outpatient follow-up visit with a primary care physician or a specialist physician (cardiologist, pulmonologist, geriatrician, neurologist), or a nurse practitioner within 30 days of discharge. We found significant differences in geographic location. Three studies used national data (either large claims-based or fee-for-service Medicare data); the remaining 7 studies used electronic medical records from health systems of

various sizes (range, 1 to 26 hospitals). We also found differences in the combination of hospital discharge destinations used to select eligible participants. Every study included home with or without home health as a discharge destination, but varied in whether they included other destinations such as skilled nursing facilities or long-term care hospitals.

Meta analysis

The random effects meta-analysis conducted on the 10 Tier 1 studies (Figure 2) found a significant overall pooled adjusted relative effect (OR/HR = 0.79; 95% CI, 0.69–0.91). However, we found a high degree of between-study heterogeneity (Q = 122.78; P < .001; $I^2 = 92.7\%$).



Figure 2. Random effect meta-analysis showing the pooled summary estimate of all 10 Tier 1 studies. The size of the data markers (squares) corresponds to the weight of the study in the meta-analysis. Abbreviations: HR, hazard ratio; OR, odds ratio.

Quality assessment

Total scores for the 10 Tier 1 studies ranged from 4 to 8, with a median of 6 (Table 2). Three studies (22,23,30) were deemed lowquality (score <6). Studies scored poorly on 2 criteria in particular: representativeness of the exposed cohort and time-dependent bias. Only 2 studies (24,25) scored well in representativeness, and both were conducted in California using Kaiser Permanente health system data. The 3 studies (22,28,29) that used national databases did not have proportions of age, sex, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status close enough to the national averages to warrant a positive score in representativeness.

Only 4 studies scored well on addressing time-dependent bias by using a method to ensure that the exposure (outpatient follow-up visit) occurred before the outcome (readmission). One study (24) did this at the study design phase by individually matching cases and controls on the duration of follow-up time available. The other 3 studies (25,28,29) controlled time-dependent bias at the analysis stage by defining the exposure as a time-dependent variable in a Cox regression model.

Subgroup analyses

The pooled adjusted effect of outpatient follow-up visits was smaller in the 7 high-quality studies (OR/HR = 0.82; 95% CI, 0.71–0.95; P = .008) than in the 3 low-quality studies (OR/HR = 0.65; 95% CI, 0.37–1.15; P = .14), although only the former was significant (Figure 3). Both subgroups showed high levels of between-study heterogeneity (high quality: Q = 91.49, P < .01, $I^2 = 93.44\%$; low quality: Q = 22.82, P < .01, $I^2 = 91.23\%$).

	No. of studies		OR/HR (95% CI)	P value
High quality vs low quality				
High	7		0.82 (0.71-0.95)	.008
Low	3	•	0.65 (0.37-1.15)	.14
Controlled for time-dependent bias				
Not controlled	6		0.69 (0.50-0.95)	.02
Controlled	4	•	0.91 (0.83-0.99)	.02
Grouped by disease				
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	3		0.93 (0.68-1.26)	.63
Heart failure	4		0.73 (0.55-0.95)	.02
Stroke	3	•	0.76 (0.57-1.01)	.06
		r		
		0.25 0.50 0.75 1	1.25	

Figure 3. Random effect meta-analysis showing the pooled effect estimates for 3 subgroups.

The 4 studies that adequately controlled for time-dependent bias demonstrated a smaller pooled effect and narrower 95% CIs (OR/ HR = 0.91; 95% CI, 0.83–0.99; P = .03) than the 6 studies that did not control for this bias (OR/HR = 0.69; 95% CI, 0.50–0.95; P = .02) (Figure). Both subgroups demonstrated high levels of between-study heterogeneity (not controlled for bias: Q = 49.32, P < .01, $f^2 = 89.86\%$; controlled for bias: Q = 14.11, P < .01, $f^2 = 78.74\%$).

When we grouped studies by disease condition, the 4 heart failure studies showed a significant 27% reduction in readmission risk (OR/HR = 0.73; 95% CI, 0.55–0.95; P = .02) (Figure). The pooled adjusted effect among the 3 stroke studies was similar in magnitude but the confidence interval slightly exceeded the null value (OR/HR = 0.76; 95% CI, 0.57–1.01; P = .06). The pooled adjusted effect of the 3 COPD studies was smaller and not significant (OR/HR = 0.93; 95% CI, 0.68–1.26; P = .62). All 3 subgroups still showed high levels of between-study heterogeneity (heart failure: Q = 41.97, P < .01, $I^2 = 92.85\%$; stroke: Q = 22.70, P < .01, $I^2 = 91.19\%$; COPD: Q = 10.26, P = .01, $I^2 = 80.51\%$).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Description of Tier 2 studies

Five Tier 2 studies were not included in the meta-analysis. Two were retrospective cohort designs that included only AMI patients; both presented aggregated hospital-level data stratified by outpatient follow-up rates divided into quartiles. One (31) used Medicare claims data from 288 hospitals from a national registry and found that hospitals in the highest quartile for outpatient follow-up rates had similar readmission risk compared with the bottom quartile (OR = 0.99). The other retrospective cohort study (32) used national Medicare claims data from 1,088 hospitals and found that hospitals in the lowest quartile for outpatient follow-up rates had slightly higher risk of readmission (RR = 1.07) compared with the highest quartile of hospitals.

The 3 remaining studies (33-35) were quality improvement projects that used a pre-post design to measure the effectiveness of enhanced discharge planning strategies on increasing outpatient follow-up visits and decreasing 30-day all-cause readmissions in heart failure patients. All 3 projects were conducted at the regional or state level and had sample sizes ranging from 261 (35) to 56,072 patients (34). Two reports (33,35) were single-center studies, and the third (34) included 20 Michigan hospitals. The quality improvement interventions increased the frequency of outpatient follow-up visits from as low as 3.3% (34) to as high as 27.3% (33). The net impact of these studies on readmission risk showed similarly wide variation; one study (34) found only a modest decline of readmissions (1.7%), although because of the large study size this effect was significant. Dev et al (35) found a 9% decrease in readmissions postintervention, and Ryan et al (33) observed the largest decline in readmission risk (30%).

Discussion

This systematic review included 15 US-based studies published since 2013 that reported on the effect of outpatient follow-up visits on the risk of 30-day all-cause readmission for heart failure, COPD, AMI, and stroke patients. The overall results of the metaanalysis that included 10 of these studies indicated a modest but significant 21% reduction in risk of readmission when heart failure, COPD, and stroke patients had an outpatient follow-up visit shortly after hospital discharge. However, when the effect of outpatient follow-up visits was stratified by disease condition, we observed a significant reduction in readmission only for heart failure and stroke. We found a relative risk reduction of 27% in heart failure patients that was similar in magnitude to another meta-analysis of heart failure patients that found a 20% reduction in readmission risk (RR = 0.80; 95% CI, 0.67-0.97) with the use of multiple interventions that included outpatient follow-up visits (11). We observed a similar risk reduction in stroke patients (24%), but we are

not aware of any other meta-analyses conducted among stroke patients that report on the efficacy of outpatient follow-up visits in reducing readmission risk. Our systematic review did not yield any Tier 1 studies conducted among AMI patients; thus, AMI was not included in the meta-analysis. We hypothesize that the lack of studies examining outpatient follow-up visits among AMI patients may be due to the greater focus on cardiac rehabilitation in this population.

The estimated risk reduction in COPD patients who received an outpatient follow-up visit (7%) was noticeably smaller in magnitude than the estimated risk reduction for heart failure and stroke patients. The effect was also smaller than a previous meta-analysis that reported a 20% reduction in readmission risk for COPD patients exposed to bundled discharge interventions that included outpatient follow-up visits (RR = 0.80; 95% CI, 0.65–0.99) (36). However, we believe that the lack of an effect for COPD patients observed in our meta-analysis is best explained by the poor quality of the 3 COPD studies, none of which controlled for time-dependent bias (21–23).

Time-dependent bias (20,31) (also known as "survival bias" [20] or "immortal-time bias" [37,38]) occurs in studies that assess the effect of an exposure on an outcome when the classification of exposed participants requires that the participant remain event-free until they are exposed (20). Thus, in readmission studies, patients who are readmitted shortly after discharge may not have had an opportunity to complete their scheduled outpatient follow-up visit (and to become "exposed"), and therefore remain "unexposed," resulting in a bias where the readmission rate is inflated in the group that did not have an outpatient follow-up visit. Timedependent bias is common in observational studies (38,39) and is important to control for because the highest readmission rates observed in patients with COPD occurs in the first 72 hours after hospital discharge (40), which is likely to occur before an outpatient follow-up visit can be completed. A study by Zhou (20) and colleagues compared 5 methods of controlling for time-dependent bias and concluded that "exposure time matching" implemented during the design phase or defining the exposure as a "timedependent variable" in the statistical analysis phase were the 2 best ways to control for time-dependent bias (20). These authors also found that ignoring the bias could almost double the effect estimate of the exposure (HR = 0.62 for no control vs HR = 0.80 when either of the above 2 methods were used). In our study, of the 4 Tier 1 articles that controlled for time-dependent bias, one (24) used the exposure-time-matching method during the design phase, and the other 3 (25,28,29) used a time-dependent variable in their statistical model. We observed similar findings to Zhou (20) and colleagues: our subgroup analysis showed that articles that ig-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

nored time-dependent bias estimated a 31% reduction in readmission risk, while the 4 articles that controlled time-dependent bias demonstrated only a 9% reduction in risk and a much narrower 95% CI.

Outpatient follow-up visits represent an important opportunity for hospitals and providers to prevent readmissions and improve patient outcomes (41), especially for heart failure and stroke patients. Scheduling outpatient follow-up visits at the time of discharge is a logical intervention for hospitals to use to reduce the risk of readmission for patients. However, while simple in theory, its implementation is often complicated when navigating the US health care system. Challenges related to lack of insurance, lack of a regular health care provider, costs, health literacy, and travel are just a few of the many barriers to implementing outpatient follow-up visits effectively (16,42). Beyond reducing readmissions, outpatient follow-up visits can present an opportunity for reconciling medications, building self-management skills, and ordering further medical testing (43). While outpatient follow-up visits show promising results, it is unlikely that a single intervention can fix the problems of readmissions on its own. Many studies have included outpatient follow-up visits as a part of a comprehensive set of interventions designed to reduce readmission risk (12-14,44,45), which have also been a focus of some metaanalyses (11).

Strengths and limitations

The main strength of this systematic review is that the source studies used similar designs and had consistent definitions for exposures and outcomes. This allowed us to conduct a meta-analysis on our 10 Tier 1 studies and report an overall pooled adjusted effect measure across 3 prevalent diseases that quantifies the effectiveness of outpatient follow-up visits in reducing readmissions. Our subgroup analyses identified that study quality, disease condition, and time-dependent bias contributed to between-study heterogeneity, which illustrates the clinical complexity of addressing readmissions and highlights that the effectiveness of outpatient followup visits is likely affected by a myriad of patient, clinical, and system-level factors.

Our findings have some limitations. Our analysis was limited to adult patients discharged from a US hospital with heart failure, COPD, AMI, or stroke. We focused on outpatient follow-up visits that occurred in typical ambulatory settings with a physician or nurse practitioner. We excluded outpatient follow-up visits that used a designated outpatient follow-up clinic because these require organizational and financial resources beyond what is typically available to most hospitals. However, we found only 3 studies that used a dedicated outpatient follow-up clinic (46–48), all of which were conducted at a single center and had small sample sizes. Individual studies used either ORs or HRs as effect estimates, but we chose not to convert ORs to relative risks because of the limitations of the proposed methods (49–52). Individual studies varied in their range of discharge destinations, in their geographical locations (within the US), and in demographic characteristics. All these factors likely limit the generalizability of our findings. In light of these limitations, we emphasize the need for more high-quality studies that control for time-dependent bias to further elucidate the individual effect of outpatient follow-up visits on reducing 30-day all-cause readmissions.

Conclusion

Across multiple diseases, preventing readmissions can improve the quality of life of patients and reduce illness, death, and costs (1,3–5). At a system level, reducing readmissions could increase funding to public hospitals that have received a disproportionate level of penalties from HRRP (53,54). We identified the effectiveness of outpatient follow-up visits in reducing 30-day all-cause readmissions for US patients discharged with heart failure and stroke, but found insufficient data on outpatient follow-up visits for AMI patients. Although our findings do not support the use of outpatient follow-up visits among COPD patients, these results may be related to the design and quality of these studies rather than the disease itself.

Acknowledgments

The following materials are available from the corresponding author in a supplement: 1) a full description of search terms used and the results obtained; 2) operational definitions of each study-level variable, 3) a summary of all extracted data, 4) details of the operational definitions of the 8 quality criteria and scoring examples, 5) details on prevalence of outpatient follow-up visits and crude readmission rates, and 6) all meta-analysis results for each subgroup.

The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, or publication of this article. The authors received no external financial support for the research, authorship, or publication of this article. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in the research in this article. We thank Iris Kovar-Gough, MLIS, Michigan State University Libraries, for her contributions to our data search, and Garrett Reichle, MS, University of Michigan Medical School, for his contributions to the development of our abstraction tools and our modified Newcastle-Ottawa Scale.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Dylan J. Bilicki, BS, College of Human Medicine, Michigan State University, 804 Service Rd, Ste A112, East Lansing, MI 48824 (bilickid@msu.edu).

Author Affiliations: ¹College of Human Medicine, Michigan State University, East Lansing. ²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Michigan State University, East Lansing.

References

- 1. Weiss AJ, Jiang HJ. Overview of clinical conditions with frequent and costly hospital readmissions by payer, 2018. Statistical brief #278. Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. July 2021. A ccessed June 1, 2024. https://hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/ statbriefs/sb278-Conditions-Frequent-Readmissions-By-Payer-2018.jsp
- 2. McDermott KW, Roemer M. Most frequent principal diagnoses for inpatient stays in U.S. hospitals, 2018. Statistical brief #277. Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. July 2021. Accessed June 1, 2024. https://hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb277-Top-Reasons-Hospital-Stays-2018.jsp
- 3. Shaw JA, Stiliannoudakis S, Qaiser R, Layman E, Sima A, Ali A. Thirty-day hospital readmissions: a predictor of higher allcause mortality for up to two years. *Cureus*. 2020;12(7):e9308. doi:10.7759/cureus.9308
- 4. Whitaker-Brown CD, Woods SJ, Cornelius JB, Southard E, Gulati SK. Improving quality of life and decreasing readmissions in heart failure patients in a multidisciplinary transition-to-care clinic. *Heart Lung.* 2017;46(2):79–84. doi:10.1016/j.hrtlng.2016.11.003
- 5. Vámosi M, Lauberg A, Borregaard B, Christensen AV, Thrysoee L, Rasmussen TB, et al. Patient-reported outcomes predict high readmission rates among patients with cardiac diagnoses. Findings from the DenHeart study. *Int J Cardiol.* 2020;300:268–275. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.09.046
- 6. Psotka MA, Fonarow GC, Allen LA, Joynt Maddox KE, Fiuzat M, Heidenreich P, et al. The Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program: nationwide perspectives and recommendations: A JACC: heart failure position paper. *JACC Heart Fail*. 2020; 8(1):1–11. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2019.07.012
- 7. Joshi S, Nuckols T, Escarce J, Huckfeldt P, Popescu I, Sood N. Regression to the mean in the Medicare Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2019;179(9): 1167–1173. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.1004

- 8. Fonarow GC, Alberts MJ, Broderick JP, Jauch EC, Kleindorfer DO, Saver JL, et al. Stroke outcomes measures must be appropriately risk adjusted to ensure quality care of patients: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*. 2014;45(5): 1589–1601. doi:10.1161/STR.00000000000014
- 9. Chen M, Grabowski DC. Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program: intended and unintended effects. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2019;76(5):643–660. doi:10.1177/1077558717744611
- Gupta A, Fonarow GC. The Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program — learning from failure of a healthcare policy. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2018;20(8):1169–1174. doi:10.1002/ejhf.1212
- 11. Van Spall HGC, Rahman T, Mytton O, Ramasundarahettige C, Ibrahim Q, Kabali C, et al. Comparative effectiveness of transitional care services in patients discharged from the hospital with heart failure: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2017;19(11):1427–1443. doi:10.1002/ejhf.765
- 12. Krishna P. Assuring a continuum of care for heart failure patients through postacute care collaboration: an integrative review. *Prof Case Manag.* 2022;28(1):3–10.
- Huntington MK, Guzman AI, Roemen A, Fieldsend J, Saloum H. Hospital-to-Home: a hospital readmission reduction program for congestive heart failure. S D Med. 2013;66(9): 370–373.
- 14. Utens CM, Goossens LM, Smeenk FW, Rutten-van Mölken MP, van Vliet M, Braken MW, et al. Early assisted discharge with generic community nursing for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: results of a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open.* 2012;2(5):e001684. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2012-001684
- 15. Henschen BL, Theodorou ME, Chapman M, Barra M, Toms A, Cameron KA, et al. An intensive intervention to reduce readmissions for frequently hospitalized patients: the CHAMP randomized controlled trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2022;37(8): 1877–1884. doi:10.1007/s11606-021-07048-1
- 16. McWilliams A, Roberge J, Anderson WE, Moore CG, Rossman W, Murphy S, et al. Aiming to Improve Readmissions Through InteGrated Hospital Transitions (AIRTIGHT): a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2019;34(1):58–64. doi:10.1007/s11606-018-4617-1
- 17. Williams MV, Li J, Hansen LO, Forth V, Budnitz T, Greenwald JL, et al. Project BOOST implementation: lessons learned. *South Med J*. 2014;107(7):455–465. doi:10.14423/ SMJ.000000000000140
- 18. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. 2021;372(71):n71. doi:10.1136/bmj.n71

- 19. Wells GS, O'Connell B, Peterson D, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of non-randomized studies in meta-analysis. The Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. Accessed July 30, 2024. https://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford. asp
- 20. Zhou Z, Rahme E, Abrahamowicz M, Pilote L. Survival bias associated with time-to-treatment initiation in drug effectiveness evaluation: a comparison of methods. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;162(10):1016–1023. doi:10.1093/aje/kwi307
- 21. Fidahussein SS, Croghan IT, Cha SS, Klocke DL. Posthospital follow-up visits and 30-day readmission rates in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. 2014;7:105–112.
- 22. Sharif R, Parekh TM, Pierson KS, Kuo YF, Sharma G. Predictors of early readmission among patients 40 to 64 years of age hospitalized for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* 2014;11(5):685–694. doi:10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201310-358OC
- 23. Budde J, Agarwal P, Mazumdar M, Braman SS. Follow-up soon after discharge may not reduce COPD readmissions. *Chronic Obstr Pulm Dis (Miami).* 2019;6(2):129–131. doi:10. 15326/jcopdf.6.2.2018.0149
- 24. Lee KK, Yang J, Hernandez AF, Steimle AE, Go AS. Postdischarge follow-up characteristics associated with 30-day readmission after heart failure hospitalization. *Med Care*. 2016; 54(4):365–372. doi:10.1097/MLR.00000000000492
- 25. Baecker A, Meyers M, Koyama S, Taitano M, Watson H, Machado M, et al. Evaluation of a transitional care program after hospitalization for heart failure in an integrated health care system. *JAMA Netw Open.* 2020;3(12):e2027410. doi:10. 1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.27410
- 26. Distelhorst KS, Hansen DM. Neighborhood matters for transitional care and heart failure hospital readmission in older adults. *Geriatr Nurs.* 2022;47:183–190. doi:10.1016/j. gerinurse.2022.07.014
- 27. Xu H, Granger BB, Drake CD, Peterson ED, Dupre ME. Effectiveness of telemedicine visits in reducing 30-day readmissions among patients with heart failure during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2022;11(7):e023935. doi:10.1161/JAHA.121.023935
- Terman SW, Reeves MJ, Skolarus LE, Burke JF. Association between early outpatient visits and readmissions after ischemic stroke. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2018;11(4):e004024. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004024
- 29. Leppert MH, Sillau S, Lindrooth RC, Poisson SN, Campbell JD, Simpson JR. Relationship between early follow-up and readmission within 30 and 90 days after ischemic stroke. *Neurology*. 2020;94(12):e1249–e1258. doi:10.1212/WNL. 000000000009135

- 30. Hussein HM, Chrenka EA, Herrmann AA. Rate and predictors of acute care encounters in the first month after stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2022;31(6):106466. doi:10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2022.106466
- 31. Hess CN, Shah BR, Peng SA, Thomas L, Roe MT, Peterson ED. Association of early physician follow-up and 30-day readmission after non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction among older patients. *Circulation*. 2013;128(11): 1206–1213. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.004569
- 32. Brown JR, Chang CH, Zhou W, MacKenzie TA, Malenka DJ, Goodman DC. Health system characteristics and rates of readmission after acute myocardial infarction in the United States. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2014;3(3):e000714. doi:10.1161/ JAHA.113.000714
- 33. Ryan J, Kang S, Dolacky S, Ingrassia J, Ganeshan R. Change in readmissions and follow-up visits as part of a heart failure readmission quality improvement initiative. *Am J Med.* 2013; 126(11):989–994.e1. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.06.027
- 34. Baker H, Oliver-McNeil S, Deng L, Hummel SL. Regional hospital collaboration and outcomes in Medicare heart failure patients: See You in 7. JACC Heart Fail. 2015;3(10):765–773. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2015.06.007
- 35. Dev S, Fawcett J, Ahmad S, Wu WC, Schwenke D. Implementation of early follow-up care after heart failure hospitalization. *Am J Manag Care*. 2021;27(2):e42-e47. doi:10.37765/ajmc.2021.88588
- 36. Ospina MB, Mrklas K, Deuchar L, Rowe BH, Leigh R, Bhutani M, et al. A systematic review of the effectiveness of discharge care bundles for patients with COPD. *Thorax*. 2017; 72(1):31–39. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208820
- 37. Kiri VA, Pride NB, Soriano JB, Vestbo J. Inhaled corticosteroids in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: results from two observational designs free of immortal time bias. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2005;172(4):460–464. doi:10.1164/rccm.200502-2100C
- 38. Lévesque LE, Hanley JA, Kezouh A, Suissa S. Problem of immortal time bias in cohort studies: example using statins for preventing progression of diabetes. *BMJ*. 2010;340:b5087. doi:10.1136/bmj.b5087
- 39. van Walraven C, Davis D, Forster AJ, Wells GA. Timedependent bias was common in survival analyses published in leading clinical journals. J Clin Epidemiol. 2004;57(7): 672–682. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2003.12.008
- 40. Jacobs DM, Noyes K, Zhao J, Gibson W, Murphy TF, Sethi S, et al. Early hospital readmissions after an acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the Nationwide Readmissions Database. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* 2018;15(7): 837–845. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201712-913OC

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 41. Braet A, Weltens C, Sermeus W. Effectiveness of discharge interventions from hospital to home on hospital readmissions: a systematic review. JBI Database Syst Rev Implement Reports. 2016;14(2):106–173. doi:10.11124/jbisrir-2016-2381
- Coleman EA, Williams MV. Executing high-quality care transitions: a call to do it right. J Hosp Med. 2007;2(5): 287–290. doi:10.1002/jhm.276
- 43. Kilaru AS, Illenberger N, Meisel ZF, Groeneveld PW, Liu M, Mondal A, et al. Incidence of timely outpatient follow-up care after emergency department encounters for acute heart failure. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2022;15(9):e009001. doi:10. 1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.122.009001
- 44. Nguyen JT, Vakil K, Adabag S, Westanmo A, Madlon-Kay R, Ishani A, et al. Hospital readmission rates following AMI: potential interventions to improve efficiency. *South Med J.* 2018;111(2):93–97. doi:10.14423/SMJ.000000000000768
- 45. Kim Y, Thirukumaran C, Temkin-Greener H, Hill E, Holloway R, Li Y. Institutional postacute care use may help reduce readmissions for ischemic stroke patients. *Med Care*. 2021; 59(8):736–742. doi:10.1097/MLR.000000000001568
- 46. Ashraf H, Warren E, Latner JP, Shah KB, Bell J, Lowe S, et al. Effect of medication adherence and early follow-up on unplanned readmission post-myocardial infarction: quality improvement in a safety net hospital. *Crit Pathw Cardiol.* 2021; 20(2):71–74. doi:10.1097/HPC.000000000000231
- 47. Hijjawi SB, Abu Minshar M, Sharma G. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation: a single-center perspective on hospital readmissions. *Postgrad Med.* 2015;127(4):343–348. doi:10.1080/00325481.2015.1015394
- 48. Mitchell E, Reynolds SS, Mower-Wade D, Raser-Schramm J, Granger BB. Implementation of an advanced practice registered nurse-led clinic to improve follow-up care for postischemic stroke patients. J Neurosci Nurs. 2022;54(5): 193–198. doi:10.1097/JNN.00000000000670
- 49. Zhang J, Yu KF. What's the relative risk? A method of correcting the odds ratio in cohort studies of common outcomes. JAMA. 1998;280(19):1690–1691. doi:10.1001/ jama.280.19.1690
- 50. Grant RL. Converting an odds ratio to a range of plausible relative risks for better communication of research findings. *BMJ*. 2014;348(1):f7450. doi:10.1136/bmj.f7450
- 51. Knol MJ, Le Cessie S, Algra A, Vandenbroucke JP, Groenwold RH. Overestimation of risk ratios by odds ratios in trials and cohort studies: alternatives to logistic regression. *CMAJ*. 2012;184(8):895–899. doi:10.1503/cmaj.101715
- 52. McNutt LA, Wu C, Xue X, Hafner JP. Estimating the relative risk in cohort studies and clinical trials of common outcomes. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2003;157(10):940–943. doi:10.1093/aje/ kwg074

- 53. Gilman M, Hockenberry JM, Adams EK, Milstein AS, Wilson IB, Becker ER. The financial effect of value-based purchasing and the hospital readmissions reduction program on safety-net hospitals in 2014: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med. 2015; 163(6):427–436. doi:10.7326/M14-2813
- 54. Bazzoli GJ, Thompson MP, Waters TM. Medicare payment penalties and safety net hospital profitability: minimal impact on these vulnerable hospitals. *Health Serv Res.* 2018;53(5): 3495–3506. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12833

Tables

Table 1. Systematic Review of US Studies of Outpatient Follow-Up Visits and Reduction of 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions Among Patients With Heart Failure, COPD, Acute Myocardial Infarction, or Stroke: January 1, 2013–June 14, 2023

Study, date of publication	Disease	Sample size	Study design	Exposure	Location (study period)	Data source	Discharge destination	
Tier 1 studies ^a								
Fidahussein et al (21), 2014	COPD	839	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP or pulmonologist within 30 days of discharge	Olmsted County, Minnesota (2004–2011)	Mayo Clinic EMR	Home; skilled nursing facility	
Sharif et al (22), 2014	COPD	8,263	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP, pulmonologist, or both within 30 days of discharge	US (2009-2011)	Optum Insight, a national claims database	Anywhere but long-term care health center	
Budde et al (23), 2019	COPD	2,653	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP within 10 days of discharge	New York City (2011-2016)	Mount Sinai Hospital EMR	Anywhere but hospice	
Lee et al (24), 2016	Heart failure	11,985	Case control study	Visit with a PCP or cardiologist within 7 days of discharge	Northern California (2006–2013)	Kaiser Permanente EMR	Home	
Baecker et al (25), 2020	Heart failure	26,128	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP or nurse practitioner within 7 days of discharge	Southern California (2013–2018)	Kaiser Permanente EMR	Home; home health care	
Distelhorst and Hansen (26), 2022	Heart failure	1,280	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP within 14 days of discharge	Ohio (2017-2019)	Cleveland Clinic Health System EMR	Home	
Xu et al (27), 2022	Heart failure	6,918	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP, geriatrician, or cardiologist within 14 days of discharge	Duke University Health System, North Carolina (2020-2021)	Duke University Health System EMR	Home; home health care	
Terman et al (28), 2018	Stroke	78,345	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP or neurologist within 30 days of discharge	US (2012)	Fee-for-service Medicare claims	Home	
Leppert et al (29), 2020	Stroke	14,630	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP or neurologist within 30 days of discharge	US (2009-2015)	PharMetrics, a national claims database	Home	
Hussein et al (30), 2022	Stroke	872	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP within 30 days of discharge prestroke and poststroke	Twin Cities, Minnesota (2015-2018)	University of Minnesota hospital EMR	Home; home health care; skilled nursing facility; long-term care health center	
Tier 2 studies ^b								
Hess et al (31), 2013	Acute myocardial infarction	228 hospitals	Retrospective cohort	Visit with any physician within 7 days of discharge, measured at the hospital level	US (2003-2006)	CRUSADE registry data linked to Medicare fee-for- service claims	Home	
Brown et al (32), 2014	Acute myocardial infarction	1,088 hospitals	Retrospective cohort	Visit with a PCP within 14 days of discharge, measured at the hospital level	US (2008-2009)	MedPAR, a national database	Home; home health care	
L	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	

Abbreviations: COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CRUSADE, Can Rapid Risk Stratification of Unstable Angina Patients Suppress Adverse Outcomes with Early Implementation of the ACC/AHA Guidelines; EMR, electronic medical record; MedPAR, Medicare Provider Analysis and Review; PCP, primary care physician. ^a Studies that provided an adjusted effect measure (odds ratio or hazard ratio) that quantified the effect of outpatient follow-up visits on 30-day readmission risk at the patient level were categorized as Tier 1 studies.

^b Quality improvement projects that did not provide an adjusted effect measure for outpatient follow-up visits and comparative studies and presented results aggregated at the hospital level rather than at the patient level were categorized as Tier 2 studies.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Systematic Review of US Studies of Outpatient Follow-Up Visits and Reduction of 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions Among Patients With Heart Failure, COPD, Acute Myocardial Infarction, or Stroke: January 1, 2013–June 14, 2023

Study, date of publication	Disease	Sample size	Study design	Exposure	Location (study period)	Data source	Discharge destination
Ryan et al (33), 2013	Heart failure	398 patients, 1 hospital	Quality improvement project	Visit with a cardiologist within 7 days of discharge, patients identified as preintervention or postintervention	Connecticut (2008-2011)	Fee-for-service Medicare claims	Not reported
Baker et al (34), 2015	Heart failure	56,072 patients, 20 hospitals	Quality improvement project	Visit with any physician within 7 days of discharge, patients identified as preintervention or postintervention	Southeastern Michigan (2011-2013	Fee-for-service Medicare claims	Home
Dev et al (35), 2021	Heart failure	261 patients, 1 hospital	Quality improvement project	Visit with a cardiologist within 7 to 14 days of discharge, patients identified as preintervention or postintervention	Phoenix, Arizona (2010-2013)	Phoenix Veterans' Administration Medical Center EMR	Home; home health care

Abbreviations: COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CRUSADE, Can Rapid Risk Stratification of Unstable Angina Patients Suppress Adverse Outcomes with Early Implementation of the ACC/AHA Guidelines; EMR, electronic medical record; MedPAR, Medicare Provider Analysis and Review; PCP, primary care physician. ^a Studies that provided an adjusted effect measure (odds ratio or hazard ratio) that quantified the effect of outpatient follow-up visits on 30-day readmission risk at the patient level were categorized as Tier 1 studies. ^b Quality improvement projects that did not provide an adjusted effect measure for outpatient follow-up visits and comparative studies and presented results ag-

^b Quality improvement projects that did not provide an adjusted effect measure for outpatient follow-up visits and comparative studies and presented results aggregated at the hospital level rather than at the patient level were categorized as Tier 2 studies.

Table 2. Results of Application of Modified Newcastle-Ottawa Scale for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomized Studies in a Systematic Review of Published US Studies of Outpatient Follow-Up Visits and Reduction of 30-Day All-Cause Readmissions Among Patients With Heart Failure, COPD, Acute Myocardial Infarction, or Stroke^a: January 1, 2013–June 14, 2023

	Selection of study population			Comparability between exposure groups, control of confounding			Outcome		
Study (date of publication)	Representativeness of exposed cohort	Selection of non- exposed cohort	Ascertainment of exposure	Control for demographic characteristics	Control for severity of disease or readmission risk	Time- dependent bias	Assessment of outcome	Adequacy of follow-up of cohorts	Score ^b
Fidahussein et al (21), 2014		•	•	•	•		•	•	6
Sharif et al (22), 2014		•	•		*		•	•	5
Budde et al (23), 2019		•		•	*			•	4
Lee et al (24), 2016	•	•	•	•	*	•	•	•	8
Baecker et al (25), 2020	•	•	•	•	*	•	•	•	8
Distelhorst and Hansen (26), 2022		•	•	•	•		•	•	6
Xu et al (27), 2022		•	•	•	•		•	•	6
Terman et al (28), 2018		•	•	•	*	•	•	•	7
Leppert et al (29), 2020		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7
Hussein et al (30), 2022		•	•	•			•	•	5

Abbreviation: ♦, study included this element.

^a Only articles included in the meta-analysis (Tier 1 studies) were assessed for quality. Studies that provided an adjusted effect measure (odds ratio or hazard ratio) that quantified the effect of outpatient follow-up visits on 30-day readmission risk at the patient level were categorized as Tier 1 studies.

^b Modified scale had 8 binary quality criteria and a total score ranging from 0 to 8. A score of <6 was considered low quality; a score of ≥6 was considered high quality.

